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REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING

City Hall Council Chambers, 298 West Washington Street
Tuesday, July 06, 2021 at 5:30 PM

AGENDA

CALL TO ORDER

PLEDGES OF ALLEGIANCE
INVOCATION

CITIZENS GENERAL DISCUSSION
REGULAR AGENDA

1. Recognition of Chuck Elliott, VW Stephens, and Vyve Broadband for their Contributions to the Erath
County Vaccination Center

2. Consider the Initiation of the Abandonment of the 700 block of Fifth Avenue

FINANCE COMMITTEE
Justin Haschke, Chair

3. Committee Report - June 15, 2021
4. Consider Approval of the 2019-2020 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION
Steve Killen, Director of Development Services

5. PUBLIC HEARING
Case No.: CP2021-001

Applicant is Requesting a Conditional Use Permit pursuant to the City of Stephenville Code of
Ordinances, Section 154.05.03.C(1) - Conditional Uses, for a Home Occupation as Defined in Section
154.03 - Definitions, for the Property Located at 1422 Prairie Wind, being Parcel No. R31592, Lot 5, Block
4 of the Golf Country Estates Addition of the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas.

6. Consider Approval of aConditional Use Permit pursuant to the City of Stephenville Code of
Ordinances, Section 154.05.03.C(1) - Conditional Uses, for a Home Occupation as Defined in Section
154.03 - Definitions, for the Property Located at 1422 Prairie Wind, being Parcel No. R31592, Lot 5, Block
4 of the Golf Country Estates Addition of the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas
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PUBLIC HEARING
Case No.: RZ2021-008

Applicant is Requesting a Rezone of the Property Located at 1065 W. Frey, being Parcel No. R32261,
Block 5, Lot 2 of the Kight Second Addition of the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas, from Single
Family Residential District (R-1) to Multi-family Residential District (R-3)

8. Consider Approval of an Ordinance Rezoning the Property Located at 1065 W. Frey, being Parcel No.
R32261, Block 5, Lot 2 of the Kight Second Addition of the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas,
from Single Family Residential District (R-1) to Multi-family Residential District (R-3)
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PUBLIC HEARING
Case No.: RZ2021-009

Applicant is Requesting a Rezone of the Property located at 1083 Frey Street, being Parcel No. R32260,
Block 5, Lot 1 of the Kight Second Addition, of the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas, from Single
Family Residential District (R-1) to Multiple Family Residential District (R-3)

10. Consider Approval of an Ordinance Rezoning the Property located at 1083 Frey Street, being Parcel No.
R32260, Block 5, Lot 1 of the Kight Second Addition, of the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas,
from Single Family Residential District (R-1) to Multiple Family Residential District (R-3)

11. PUBLIC HEARING
Case No.: RZ2021-011

Applicant is Requesting a Rezone of the Property Located at 750 Sloan, being Parcel No. R32729, Lot 4,
Block 4 of the Park Place Addition of the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas from (R-3) Multiple
Family Residential District (R-3) to Retail and Commercial Business District (B-2)

12. Consider Approval of an Ordinance Rezoning the Property Located at 750 Sloan, being Parcel No.
R32729, Lot 4, Block 4 of the Park Place Addition of the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas from
Multiple Family Residential District (R-3) to Retail and Commercial Business District (B-2)

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES COMMITTEE
Brandon Huckabee, Chair

13. Committee Report - June 15, 2021
14. Consider Request from Habitat for Humanity for the Waiver of Permit Fees

BRICK STREETS TASK FORCE
Gerald Cook, Chair

15. Brick Street Task Force Report

16. Consider Approval of an Ordinance Related to the Preservation and Renovation of Historic Brick
Streets

17. Consider Approval of Amendments the Engineering Standards Manual

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
Gerald Cook, Chair

18. Committee Report - June 15, 2021
19. Consider Approval of Appointments to Citizen Boards and Commissions

PERSONNEL COMMITTEE
Ricky Thurman, Chair

20. Personnel Committee Report - June 15, 2021

FINANCIAL REPORTS
Monica Harris, Director of Finance

21. Monthly Budget Report for the Period Ending May 31, 2021

STEPHENVILLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY REPORT
Jeff Sandford, Executive Director

CONSENT AGENDA
22. Approval of Minutes - June 1, 2021




23. Approval of an Audit Contract with BrooksWatson & Co., PLLC for FY 2021-2022
COMMENTS BY CITY MANAGER

Council Committee Meetings - July 20 at 5:30 p.m.
Regular City Council Meeting - August 3 at 5:30 p.m.

COMMENTS BY COUNCIL MEMBERS
EXECUTIVE SESSION

In compliance with the provisions of the Texas Open Meetings Law, Subchapter D, Government Code, Vernon's
Texas Codes, Annotated, in accordance with

24. Section 551.072 - Deliberation Regarding Real Property
ACTION TAKEN ON ITEMS DISCUSSED IN EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NECESSARY
ADJOURN

Note: The Stephenville City Council may convene into Executive Session on any matter related to any of the above
agenda items for a purpose, such closed session allowed under Chapter 551, Texas Government Code.

In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons who need accommodation to attend or
participate in this meeting should contact City Hall at 254-918-1287 within 48 hours prior to the meeting to
request such assistance.
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SUBJECT: Initiation of Abandonment of the 700 Block of Fifth Avenue
MEETING: Regular Council Meeting — 06 JUL 2021
DEPARTMENT: Public Works

STAFF CONTACT: Nick Williams

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff respectfully recommends initiating the closing and abandonment of the 700 block of Fifth Avenue between Hyman
Street and Groesbeck Street.

BACKGROUND:
Staff was contacted by an individual interested in purchasing and developing an undeveloped portion of Fifth Avenue.

Chapter 95 of the City of Stephenville Code of Ordinances allows for the abandonment of streets and alleys by petition
or council initiative. The applicable sections of the city code are as follows:

ARTICLE IV. - CLOSING STREETS AND ALLEYS
Sec. 95.50. - Reference to transportation code.

Provisions for the closing of streets and alleys are granted by the V.T.C.A. Transp. Code § 311.07. The procedures
and regulations set out herein are consistent with the requirements of the Code and set out regulations to be followed
in the closing of streets and alleys. (Ord. 2015-11, passed 7-7-2015)

Sec. 95.51. - Public hearing generally.

The City Council, on its own initiative, may call a public hearing to determine whether or not any street or alley
in the city, or any portion thereof, should be closed or abandoned as a public thoroughfare. (Ord. 2015-11, passed 7-7-
2015)

Sec. 95.54. - Recommendation of the planning and zoning commission.

Before City Council may take final action to adopt any ordinance to close a street or alley the Planning and Zoning
Commission shall review the request from the point of view of impact on future traffic circulation in the city and shall
make a recommendation on such matters to the City Council. The Planning and Zoning Commission shall be required to
conduct a public hearing. (Ord. 2015-11, passed 7-7-2015)

DEPARTMENAL COMMENTS:

Public Works Department
A Municipal Utility Easement must be retained by the city for an existing 14-inch diameter concrete water
transmission main as well as a 6-inch sanitary sewer line within and crossing the existing Fifth Avenue right-of-way
Development Services
No objections stated

Police Department
No objections stated

Fire Department
No objections stated




FISCAL IMPACT SUMMARY: ltem 2.
An estimate of value for the undeveloped portion of Fifth Avenue will be developed using Section 95.56 of the adopted
Code of Ordinances (applicable section of code enclosed below) if authorization to abandon is received. An exhibit of the
subject undeveloped portion of Fifth Avenue is attached to this staff report.

ARTICLE IV. - CLOSING STREETS AND ALLEYS
Sec. 95.56. - Appraisal of real property required.

A. Within 90 days after the City Council public hearing and Planning and Zoning Commission
recommendation, but before City Council final action, the petitioner shall provide an appraisal by a
certified appraiser of real property. The cost of the appraisal is to be paid in full by the petitioner. Upon
written application by the petitioner stating the need therefor, this time period may be extended by the
City Administrator. Such extension shall be in writing.

B. Asan alternative to the above, the petitioner may elect, in writing, to utilize the average appraised values
of the land immediately adjacent to the street or alley to be closed as shown on the most recent
approved municipal tax roll. Such average value shall be calculated by city staff.

C. Iftherequested closure is approved by City Council, the actual selling price shall be determined solely by
the City Council, but in no case shall the selling price be less than the appraised value as determined
under this section.

(Ord. 2015-11, passed 7-7-2015)

ALTERNATIVES:

The following alternative is provided for consideration:
1. Decline to authorize for abandonment.

Advantages:
1. Authorization to abandon is believed to lead to development of the adjacent property.

Disadvantages:
1. Although easements will be necessary for existing utilities, there are no disadvantages identified with authorization
to abandon.

ATTACHMENTS:
Exhibit — Undeveloped portion of Fifth Avenue between Hyman Street and Groesbeck Street.

Exhibit — Undeveloped portion of Fifth Avenue between Hyman Street and Groesbeck Street
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REPORT TYPE: Finance Committee Report

MEETING: June 15, 2021
Present: Justin Haschke Chair, Ricky Thurman Pl 5, Brandon Huckabee Pl 8
Absent: Brady Pendleton Pl 4

DEPARTMENT: Finance

STAFF CONTACT: Monica Harris

COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT FOR PERIOD ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2020:

Mike Brooks, CPA, of Brooks Watson & Co. presented the FY 2019-2020 audit to the Finance Committee. The
auditor’s report expressed an unmodified “clean” opinion that the financial statements presented fairly, in all
material respects, the respective financial positions of the City of Stephenville as of September 30, 2020.

The Finance Committee passed the motion to send the report to full Council.

BUDGET DISCUSSION OF REVENUES FOR FY 2021-2022:

Staff presented the first draft of revenues for the fiscal year 2021-2022. Sales tax, property taxes, and other
revenue were discussed. No action was taken.




COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020

City of Stephenville, Texas — 298 W. Washington St. — Stephenville, TX 76401 — (P) 254.918.1220 — www.stephenvilletx
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COMPREHENSIVE
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

of the

City of Stephenville, Texas

For the Year Ended
September 30, 2020

Prepared by:
Finance Department

Monica Harris
Director of Finance
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298 W Washington St, Stephenville, TX 76401 (254) 918-1220 Fax (254) 918 -1207

May 28, 2021
TO: The Honorable Mayor, Members of the City Council, and the Citizens of Stephenville (the “City”)

The Finance Department and City Manager's Office are pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report for the City of Stephenville, Texas for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020.

This report provides the city council, city staff, our citizens, our bondholders and other interested parties with
detailed information concerning the financial condition and activities of the city government. Responsibility for both
the accuracy of the presented data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all
disclosures, rests with the City.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, the enclosed data is accurate in all material respects, and is organized
in a manner designed to fairly present the financial position and results of operations of the City as measured by
the financial activity of its various funds. We also believe that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to
gain the maximum understanding of the City's financial affairs have been included.

Brooks Watson & Company has issued an unmodified (“clean”) opinion on the City’s financial statements for the
year ended September 30, 2020. The independent auditors’ report is located at the front of the financial section
of this report.

Management's discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditors’ report and

provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A complements
this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

CITY PROFILE

Location

The City is a political subdivision and municipal corporation of the State of Texas, duly organized
and existing under the laws of the state and the City’'s home rule charter. The City was
incorporated in 1889 and chartered a home-rule city under Texas law in 1961. The City is located

on the intersection of U.S. Highways 67, 281, and 377. The City occupies approximately 11.79
square miles and serves a population of about 23,120. The City is empowered by state statute to levy a tax
on both real and business personal property located within its boundaries.

The City operates under the council-manager form of government. Policy-making and legislative authority are
vested in a governing council consisting of the mayor and eight (8) council members. The city council is
responsible for, among other things, passing ordinances, adopting the budget, appointing committees, and hiring
the city manager. The city manager is responsible for carrying out the policies and ordinances of the city council,
for overseeing the day-to-day operations of the City, and appointing heads of various departments. The mayor
and city council members each serve two-year terms, limited to two terms, and are elected at large. The basic
financial statements of the City include all governmental activities, organizations and functions for which the City
is financially accountable as defined by the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The City of
Stephenville is financially accountable for a legally separate economic development corporation, which is reported
separately within the City of Stephenville’s financial statements. Additional information on the legally separate
entity can be found in the notes to the financial statements (see note I. B).
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Services Provided

The City provides a full range of services, including public safety (police, fire, emergency medical, and municipal
court), maintenance of streets and infrastructure, sanitation services, maintenance of the treated water distribution
system and both sanitary and storm sewer collection and transmission systems, recreational activities and cultural
events, landfill operations, airport facility maintenance, as well as, general administrative services.

Accounting System and Budgetary Control

The City’s accounting records for general governmental operations are maintained on a modified accrual basis,
with the revenues being recorded when available and measurable, and expenditures being recorded when the
services or goods are received and the liabilities incurred. Accounting records for the City’s utilities are maintained
on the accrual basis.

In developing and maintaining the City’s accounting system, consideration is given to the adequacy of the internal
control structure. Internal accounting controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
regarding: (1) the safeguarding of assets against loss from unauthorized use or disposition; and (2) the reliability
of financial records for preparing financial statements and maintaining accountability of assets. The concept of
reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived;
and (2) the evaluation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. We believe that the City’s internal controls
adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of proper recording of financial transactions.

The annual budget serves as the foundation of the City’s financial planning and control. The city council formally
adopts the budget and legally appropriates available monies for activities of the General Fund, Special Revenue
Funds, Capital Project Funds and Debt Service Fund.

No later than August 16t of each year, the city manager submits to the city council a proposed budget, which
provides a complete plan for the fiscal year commencing October 1. The budget includes proposed expenditures
and means of financing them. The proposed budget is made available for public inspection, and a public hearing
is held to allow for citizen comment. After the public hearing, council may make changes to any item in the budget,
except those fixed by law. No later than September 23, the budget is legally enacted by ordinance, which sets
the limit on expenditures during the fiscal year. Additional expenditures may be authorized in the case of grave
public necessity to meet unusual and unforeseen conditions, which could not have reasonably been foreseen at
the time the budget was adopted.

The level of budgetary control (that is, the level at which expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated
amount) is at the departmental level; however, expenditures are monitored monthly at the department level to
ensure financial accountability by department directors. Management control of budgets is further maintained at
the line item level within the department. The City also maintains an encumbrance accounting system to further
accomplish budgetary control. Appropriations not spent or legally encumbered lapse at year-end. Encumbrances
are generally re-appropriated as a part of the following year’s budget. As demonstrated by the statements and
schedules included in the financial section of this report, the City continues to meet its responsibility for sound
financial management.
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ECONOMIC CONDITION

Local Economy

The City serves as the center of commerce and recreation to over 45,000 Erath County residents and has a
commercial trade area of over 85,000. The City is the county seat and the principal commercial, medical, retail,
educational and industrial center of Erath County. The City currently enjoys a fairly stable and diversified economic
environment, bolstered by the strength of both the Cross Timbers area and the State of Texas. Our economy is
based on agriculture, manufacturing, and Tarleton State University. Agriculture has long been Erath County’s
leading industry with livestock, especially beef, dairy and other livestock production. Erath County accounts for
over 8% of the state’s total milk production. The City is fortunate to have several manufacturing industries in town.
Local manufacturing includes coated abrasives, oilfield related products, cream cheese, fiber gratings and
fasteners, metal processing of electrical products, trailer customization, and forged pipe unions. Tarleton State
University, a member of the Texas A & M System, provides further economic stability as the largest employer.
The Stephenville student body includes representatives from 224 Texas counties, 42 states, and 20 foreign
countries. Tarleton’s Stephenville Campus 2020 fall enrollment was in excess of 9,500 students with total
enrollment across all Tarleton Campuses, including online, exceeding 14,000 students.

Stephenville ranks high in the state for a quality of work environment. As of September 2020, with unemployment
at 7.9% statewide, Stephenville’s unemployment was 5.8%. The city has adequate—yet below-average—wealth
and income. According to the U. S. Census Bureau’s 2019 American Community Survey published in 2020,
Stephenville’s median household income is $47,161 compared to $52,580 for Dallas and $61,874 for Texas. In
addition, according to the survey, the workforce is educated with 32.8% of the population having a bachelor’s
degree or higher, compared to 33.4% for Dallas and 29.9% for Texas.

The stable property values, sales tax receipts and building activity reflect the area’s positive economic climate.
The City continues to have new residential, commercial and educational building construction, adding over ten
million dollars in new taxable value for the 2020 property tax rolls. A multi-family and single family housing project
has begun construction with anticipated completion in late 2021. Several apartment complexes and student
housing projects have been completed, and additional multi-family dwellings are in varying stages from planning
to construction. Tarleton State University continues its growth and is now a NCAA Division 1 school, anticipating
growth in student enroliment unseen previously. The City did not complete the anticipated street preservation
projects for fiscal year 2019-2020 due to the pandemic, but has re-appropriated those funds and an additional
$950,000 more for fiscal year 2020-2021. A major fast food restaurant franchise was completed, and another
major fast food restaurant is currently under construction to open their largest and newest model in the state. A
retail sales complex is in the construction phase with projected retail sales of $40 to $50 million per year;
completion is anticipated in 2022. A long stalled commercial development has submitted plans for a potential
complex of up to five fast casual restaurants. The Stephenville Economic Development Authority (SEDA)
continues to work on several major projects and continues to receive many new economic development inquiries
from companies interested in locating their business in Stephenville.
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Long-Term Financial Planning

The City’s ability to respond to on-going economic challenges will require careful long-range planning. The City
has responded to the economy by fiscal conservatism and implementing operating budget efficiencies that have
resulted in maintaining healthy fund balances in its general fund and water/wastewater funds.

Users of this document are encouraged to read the City’s Fiscal Year 2020-2021 Budget. The document details
the City’s long-term goals and financial policies, describes program accomplishments and initiatives, and outlines
the City’s capital improvement program. Also available for reference is the City of Stephenville’s Comprehensive
Plan, which maps out the City’s future strategies.

In addition, the City has recognized the long-term financial implications of its pension and retiree health benefits.
Regarding pensions, the City’s TMRS net pension asset far exceeds the other post-employment benefits liability
created by the supplemental death benefit offered to retirees. The City does not provide for retiree health care.
The City provides a sustainable benefit to our employees without shifting costs to future taxpayers. In addition,
the City has expanded the deferred compensation plan offered to employees.

Relevant Financial Policies

The City Council has adopted a series of financial standards and policies for operating and debt management.
Management of the City has made every effort to comply with these standards and policies and believe we are
currently in compliance.

The City Council Finance Committee meets on an as-needed basis to discuss financial and budgetary
information, financial policies, fund balance reserve requirements and tax rate setting information. None of the
City’s financial policies had a significant impact on the current period’s financial statements, as the City was able
to maintain reserve levels within the stated policies for the governmental funds. Constant review of revenue and
expenditure trends and reserve levels is maintained with specific responsibility assigned to the Finance Director
and City Manager. The City’s Finance Department publishes a monthly financial report which provides internal
and external users with the general awareness of the City’s financial positions and economic activity.

Maijor Initiatives

The City currently has several projects underway. Several of these projects were delayed by the pandemic. The
Clark Field Municipal Airport is working on a runway extension project. This is a $10 million dollar project with a
90/10 match coming from TXDOT Aviation. The environmental study has been completed; surveys and
appraisals of surrounding properties have been performed, and a significant portion of the land needed has been
purchased. A major sewer project is underway with completion anticipated in thirty-six months. This projectis a
three-phase project to alleviate sanitary sewer overflow issues and expand servicing areas, affecting 80% of the
City. A $2 million dollar storm water drainage project is in progress with Community Development Block Grant
funding through the Texas General Land Office with completion expected in the third quarter of 2021. The City
anticipates reconstructing a major thoroughfare designated as a minor arterial with bond proceeds; estimated
completion is in twenty-four months.
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AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT S

The Certificate of Achievement is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance with the highest
standards for preparation of state and local government financial reports. This award was the 32" consecutive
year that the City of Stephenville has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of
Achievement, a governmental unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently organized comprehensive
annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable
legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current comprehensive annual
financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we are submitting
it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

The preparation of this report on a timely basis could not be accomplished without the efficient and dedicated
services of the entire city staff. We would like to express our appreciation to all staff members who assisted and
contributed to its preparation. We would also like to thank the Mayor and City Council Members for their interest
and support in planning and conducting the financial operations of the City in a responsible and progressive
manner.

Respectfully Submitted,

W e Mol Noeis

Allen L. Barnes Monica D. Harris
City Manager Director of Finance & Administration
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Organizational Chart
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City Council
Mayor Doug Svien
Place 1 Mark McClinton
Place 2 Justin Haschke
Place 3 Nick Robinson
Place 4 Brady Pendleton
Pace 5 Ricky Thurman
Place 6 Alan Nix
Place 7 Gerald Cook
Place 8 Brandon Huckabee

City Administrator

Assistant City Manager
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Director of Utilities

Police Chief

Fire Chief

Director of Development Services
Director of Parks & Leisure Services

City Secretary

Staff

Allen L. Barnes
Jason M. King
Monica D. Harris
Nick Williams
Dan M Harris, Jr.
Jimmy Chew
Steve Killen
Jennifer Basham

Staci L. King
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Stephenville, Texas:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Stephenville, Texas (the “City”) as of and for the year ended
September 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
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28

11



Iltem 4.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the
City, as of September 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows, where
applicable, thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note V.F the City has restated net position of governmental activities, business-type
activities, the general fund, and the storm drainage fund to correct a prior year accounting error. Our
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion, the general fund budgetary comparison information, the schedule of
changes in net pension liabilities and related ratios, the schedule of employer contributions to pension
plan, and schedule of changes in the other postemployment benefits liability and related ratios, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
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Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and
individual nonmajor fund financial statements, budgetary comparison information, and statistical
sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic
financial statements.

This accompanying supplementary information is the responsibility of management and was derived
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
In our opinion, the accompanying supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects,
in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied
in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on it.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 28,
2021 on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide
an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Byt ek Ca

BrooksWatson & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
Houston, Texas

May 28, 2021
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
September 30, 2020

As management of the City of Stephenville, Texas (the “City”), we offer readers of the City’s financial
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2020. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in
conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which can
be found on pages 1-5 of this report.

Financial Highlights

e The assets and deferred outflows of the City exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows (net
position) at September 30, 2020 by $86,901,431.

e The City's total net position increased by $6,238,925. The majority of the City's net position is
invested in capital assets and restricted for specific purposes.

e The City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $24,404,737 at
September 30, 2020, an increase of $14,098,393 from the prior fiscal year; this includes an
increase of $865,652 in the general fund, an increase of $13,110,383 in the capital projects fund,
and an increase of $122,358 in the nonmajor governmental funds.

e At the end of the fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $9,576,401 or
59% of total general fund expenditures.

e The City's outstanding bonds and certificates of obligation payable increased by $10,365,000
from the prior year. The total bonds and certificates of obligation payable at the close of the
fiscal year were $38,575,000.

e The City’s net pension asset totaled $2,464,863 as of year end.

Overview of the Financial Statements

The discussion and analysis provided here are intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic
financial statements. The City’s basic financial statements consist of three components: 1) government-
wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) the notes to financial statements. This
report also includes supplementary information intended to furnish additional detail to support the
basic financial statements themselves.

Government-Wide Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the
City’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities. The difference
between the two is reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve
as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. Other
non-financial factors, such as the City’s property tax base and the condition of the City’s infrastructure,
need to be considered in order to assess the overall health of the City.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the
most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving
rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses
are reported for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected
taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that
are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-
type activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, culture and
recreation, community development, public safety, and public works. The business-type activities of
the City include water and wastewater, stormwater drainage, airport and sanitary landfill operations.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary
government), but also the legally separate Stephenville Economic Development Authority for which the
City is financially accountable. Financial information for this component unit is reported separately
from the financial information presented for the primary government itself.

The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 30-35 of this report.
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local governments, uses
fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of
the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental
activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable
resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such
information may be useful in assessing a government’s near-term financing requirements.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this
comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains seven individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures,
and changes in fund balances for the general fund, which is the only major fund. Data from the other
governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each
of these nonmajor governmental funds is provided in a separate section of the report.

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general, debt service, capital projects and special
revenue funds. A budgetary comparison statement has been provided for each fund to demonstrate
compliance with their respective budget.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 36-39 of this report.

Proprietary Funds

The City maintains one type of proprietary fund. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City uses an
enterprise fund to account for its water and wastewater services, airport, storm water drainage
operations, and sanitary landfill operations. All activities associated with providing such services are
accounted for in these funds, including administration, operation, maintenance, debt service, capital
improvements, production and distribution, billing and collection. The City's intent is that costs of
providing the services to the general public on a continuing basis is financed through user charges in a
manner similar to a private enterprise.

Proprietary financial statements provide the same type of information as the government-wide
financial statements, only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate
information for the water and sewer and the storm water drainage funds since they are considered

major funds of the City.

The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 42-51 of this report.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

Component Units

The City maintains the accounting and financial statements for one component unit. The Stephenville
Economic Development Authority is a discretely presented component unit displayed on the
government-wide financial statements.

Notes to Financial Statements

The notes provide additional information that is necessary to acquire a full understanding of the data
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

The notes to the financial statements can be found on pages 53-91 of this report.

Other Information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents required
supplementary information concerning the City’s progress in funding its obligation to provide pension
benefits to its employees and budgetary comparison for the general fund.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted previously, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the City’s financial
position. For the City of Stephenville, Texas, assets exceed liabilities by $86,901,431 as of September 30,
2020, in the primary government.

The largest portion of the City’s net position, $67,141,545, reflects its investments in capital assets (e.g.,
land, city hall complex, recreation hall, streets, water and wastewater system, airport hanger, sanitary
landfill systems, as well as the public works facilities), less any debt used to acquire those assets that
are still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently,
these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be
provided from other sources, since the assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

Statement of Net Position:

The following table reflects the condensed Statement of Net Position:

2020 2019
Governmental = Business-Type Governmental = Business-Type
Activities Activities Total Activities Activities Total
Current and
other assets $ 26,351,076 % 20,581,406 $ 46,932,482 $ 12,083,836 $ 24,341,593 $ 36,425,429
Capital assets, net 26,654,604 58,599,440 85,254,044 24,650,234 53,644,966 78,295,200
Net pension asset 2,102,774 314,517 2,417,291 - - -
Total Assets 55,108,454 79,495,363 134,603,817 36,734,070 77,986,559 114,720,629
Deferred Outflows 2,644,380 433,381 3,077,761 3,669,186 613,074 4,282,260
Other liabilities 2,711,225 3,221,485 5,932,710 2,489,265 3,191,255 5,680,520
Long-term liabilities 16,750,115 24,272,023 41,022,138 4,978,384 26,028,850 31,007,234
Total Liabilities 19,461,339 27,493,508 46,954,847 7,467,649 29,220,105 36,687,754
Deferred Inflows 3,327,585 497,715 3,825,300 1,430,177 222,452 1,652,629
Net Position:
Net investment
in capital assets 21,847,814 45,293,731 67,141,545 20,416,468 43,079,879 63,496,347
Restricted 1,976,474 1,089,229 3,065,703 2,008,149 1,045,392 3,053,541
Unrestricted 11,139,622 5,554,561 16,694,183 9,080,813 5,031,805 14,112,618

Total Net Position $ 34,963,910 $ 51,937,521 $ 86,901,431 $ 31,505,430 $ 49,157,076  $ 80,662,506

Current assets of governmental activities were $26,351,076 and $12,083,836 as of September 30, 2020
and September 30, 2019, respectively. The increase of $14,267,240 was primarily attributable to unspent
bond proceeds received in the current year. Current assets of business-type activities were $20,581,406
and $24,341,593 as of September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, respectively. The decrease of
$3,760,187 was primarily attributable to capital asset purchases. Business-type activities had an overall
positive change in net position of $2,780,445. Long-term liabilities for governmental activities increased
by $11,771,731 primarily as a result of the issuance of certificates of obligation during the current year.
Overall capital assets increased by $6,958,844 due to ongoing investment in City infrastructure and
other capital assets.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

Statement of Activities:

The following table provides a summary of the City’s changes in net position:

For the Year Ended September 30, 2020 For the Year Ended September 30, 2019
Total Total
Governmental  Business-Type Primary Governmental  Business-Type Primary
Activities Activities Government Activities Activities Government
Revenues
Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 1,446,661 $ 10,015,289 $ 11,461,950 $ 1,887,801 $ 9,385,175 $ 11,272,976
Grants and contributions 2,413,762 287,600 2,701,362 288,435 316,254 604,689
General revenues:
Property tax 6,324,119 - 6,324,119 6,042,944 - 6,042,944
Sales tax 5,940,857 - 5,940,857 5,943,343 - 5,943,343
Franchise and other taxes 1,675,634 - 1,675,634 1,827,729 - 1,827,729
Investment income 115,763 195,341 311,104 264,034 501,577 765,611
Other revenues 1,030,088 287,971 1,318,059 260,645 249,753 510,398
Total Revenues 18,946,884 10,786,201 29,733,085 16,514,931 10,452,759 26,967,690
Expenses
General government 2,512,975 - 2,512,975 2,555,641 - 2,555,641
Culture and recreation 2,254,992 - 2,254,992 2,402,357 - 2,402,357
Community development 493,019 - 493,019 588,612 - 588,612
Public safety 9,637,871 - 9,637,871 8,885,222 - 8,885,222
Streets 1,501,306 - 1,501,306 1,644,724 - 1,644,724
Interest and fiscal charges 530,646 453,686 984,332 124,539 474,669 599,208
Water and wastewater - 4,966,867 4,966,867 - 5,230,103 5,230,103
Airport - 178,661 178,661 - 178,613 178,613
Storm water drainage - 364,971 364,971 - 396,986 396,986
Sanitary landfill - 599,166 599,166 - 579,206 579,206
Total Expenses 16,930,809 6,563,351 23,494,160 16,201,095 6,859,577 23,060,672
Change in Net Position
Before Transfers 2,016,075 4,222,850 6,238,925 313,836 3,593,182 3,907,018
Transfers 1,442,405 (1,442,405) - 400,495 (400,495) -
Total 1,442,405 (1,442,405) - 400,495 (400,495) -
Change in Net Position 3,458,480 2,780,445 6,238,925 714,331 3,192,687 3,907,018
Beginning Net Position 31,505,430 49,157,076 80,662,506 30,791,099 45,964,389 76,755,488

Ending Net Position $ 34,963,910 §$ 51,937,521 $ 86,901,431 $ 31,505,430 % 49,157,076 $ 80,662,506
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

Item 4.

Graphic presentations of selected data from the summary tables are displayed below to assist in the

analysis of the City’s activities.

Governmental Activites Revenues
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For the year ended September 30, 2020, revenues from governmental activities totaled $18,946,884.
Property tax and sales tax are the City’s largest general revenue sources. Overall revenue increased
$2,431,953 or 15% from the prior year. Property tax revenue increased $281,175 or 5% due to an increase
in appraised property values and a growing tax base. Charges for services decreased by $441,140 or
23% primarily to nonrecurring parks and recreation fees and building permit revenue in the prior year.
Grants and contributions increased $2,125,327 primarily as a result of nonrecurring capital grants
received in the current year. Investment income decreased by $148,271 or 56% primarily as a result of
the realization of lower interest rates in the current year. Other revenue increased by $769,443 due to
nonrecurring insurance proceeds received in the current year. All other revenues remained relatively

stable when compared to the previous year.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

This graph shows the governmental function expenses of the City:
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For the year ended September 30, 2020, expenses for governmental activities totaled $16,930,809. This
represents an increase of $729,714 or 5% from the prior year. The City’s largest functional expense is
public safety totaling $9,637,871. Public safety increased $752,649 or 8% when compared to the prior
year primarily due to nonrecurring damage claim expenses resulting from storm damage.
Streets expenses decreased by $143,418 or 9% primarily as a result of a reduction in maintenance,
utilities, equipment, and depreciation expenses. Interest and fiscal charges increased by $406,107
primarily due to nonrecurring bond issuance costs recognized, as the City issued certificates of
obligation in the current year. All other expenses remained relatively stable when compared to the
previous year.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

Business-type activities are shown comparing operating costs to revenues generated by related
services.

Business-Type Activities - Revenues and Expenses
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For the year ended September 30, 2020, charges for services by business-type activities totaled
$10,015,289. This is an increase of $630,114, or 7%, from the previous year. This is primarily a result of
increased water and sewer service rates charged to customers compared to the prior year.

Total expenses decreased $296,226 or 4% to a total of $6,563,351. Water and wastewater department
expenses decreased by $263,236 or 5% primarily due to decreased water distribution expenses, which is
in line with lower water consumption compared to the prior year. In addition, there was a reduction in
water meter maintenance and wastewater collection over the course of the current year. Storm water
drainage expenses decreased by $32,015 or 8%, primarily due to a reduction in maintenance and
professional expenses over the course of the current year.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS

As noted earlier, fund accounting is used to demonstrate and ensure compliance with finance-related
legal requirements.

Governmental Funds - The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information of near-
term inflows, outflows and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing
the City’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful
measure of the City’s net resources available for spending at the end of the year.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

At September 30, 2020, the City’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $24,404,737,
an increase of $14,098,393 in comparison with the prior year. Approximately 39% of this amount,
$9,576,401, constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the government’s
discretion. Nonspendable fund balance totaled $3,962 for inventories and committed fund balance
totaled $14,189,708. The remainder of the fund balance is restricted for particular purposes totaling
$634,666.

As of the end of the year the general fund reflected a total fund balance of $10,115,117. General fund
balance increased by $865,652. This increase is a result of higher than anticipated emergency services
revenue and licenses and permits. Contributions and donations increased by $660,585 when compared
to the prior year. Property tax totaled $6,084,204 and increased $497,417 from the prior year.

As a measure of the general fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare total unassigned fund balance
to total fund expenditures. The unassigned (the amount available for spending) fund balance of the
general fund of $9,576,401 is 59% of total general fund operating expenditures.

Proprietary Funds - The City’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the
government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. Net position in the City’s largest proprietary
fund, the water and wastewater fund, totaled $37,998,262. Unrestricted net position at the close of the
fiscal year amounted to $3,843,813, and overall net position increased $2,266,385 from the previous
year. Total investment in capital assets, net of related debt of was $33,275,585, and capital assets, net of
depreciation totaled $41,317,695.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

Supplemental budget amendments were approved during the fiscal year increasing total budgeted
expenditures by $3,156,018 and increasing total revenues by $2,407,405 resulting in a deficit in a final
budgeted fund balance of $182,482. The primary amendment to expenditures and revenue related to
additional salaries and wages due to the COVID pandemic as well as grants and contributions. Total
budgeted revenues of $18,045,686 were greater than actual revenues of $16,812,391, resulting in a total
negative revenue variance of $1,233,295. Total budgeted expenditures of $18,631,700 were greater than
actual expenditures of $16,339,070, resulting in a total positive expenditure variance of $2,292,630.

CAPITAL ASSETS

As of the end of the year, the City’s governmental activities funds had invested $26,654,604 in a variety
of capital assets and infrastructure. The City’s business-type activities funds had invested $58,599,440
in a variety of capital assets and infrastructure, net of accumulated depreciation. This investment in
capital assets includes land, buildings, vehicles, equipment, improvements, and infrastructure. Major
capital asset events during the current year include the following:
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

e Purchase of land off US Hwy 67 (.98 acres) for $30,831.

e Lightning mixers for wastewater treatment plant for $116,000.

e CDBG water line improvement project improvements totaling $494,145.
e Eastside sewer interceptor project investments totaling $3,191,279.

e Graham Ave. water and sewer line improvements totaling $2,000,000.
e TP2 aerator replacement for $209,652.

e Type IV landfill improvements for $347,505.

e Grosebeck CDBG GLO project improvements totaling $118,100.

e Purchase of Spillman NIBRS software equipment for $135,503.

e Harbin Dr. street widening improvements for $395,944.

e Electrical work for recreation work totaling $129,599.

e Purchased new parks and recreation equipment for $119,026.

e Bosque River Trail Phase Il improvements totaling $1,897,409.

e Public safety renovations for $201,189.

More detailed information about the City’s capital assets is presented in note IV. C to the financial
statements.

LONG-TERM DEBT

The City's outstanding bonds and certificates of obligation (excluding premiums and discounts)
payable increased by $10,365,000 from the prior year. The total bonds and certificates of obligation
payable at the close of the fiscal year were $38,575,000. During the year, the City issued $11,860,000
worth of certificates of obligation. The City made $1,495,000 in principal payments on outstanding
bonds and certificates of obligation. More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is
presented in note IV. D to the financial statements.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES

The local economy has remained stable and is experiencing continued growth as evidenced by sales tax
revenue, property tax valuations, and construction permits issued. Sales tax collections for fiscal year
2019-2020, during the COVID-19 pandemic, were $2,800 less than fiscal year 2018-2019. In addition, the
sales tax collections for fiscal year 2020-2021, thus far, exceed fiscal year 2019-2020 by over 18%.
Taxable assessed property values for 2019 exceeded 2018 by 8.61, and the 2020 taxable assessed values
exceeded 2019 by 5.36%. Furthermore, the City issued 220 building permits in fiscal year 2019-2020
with a value exceeding $21 million during the pandemic. It is anticipated that new assessed taxable
value for 2021 could be as high as $50 million.

The City of Stephenville is committed to maintaining and improving the services provided to its
citizens, budgeting over $1.9 million in street improvements of which $1 million was fiscal year 2019-
2020 unspent funds re-appropriated for projects delayed due to the pandemic. The City also re-
appropriated unspent 2019-2020 funds of over $1.5 million to continue the CDBG storm water drainage
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City of Stephenville, Texas

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
September 30, 2020

project, over $11 million for the Eastside Sewer project, and over $7 million for the Harbin Drive water,
sewer, and street project. The City is mindful of the impact of the budget on the citizens, and continues
to strive for cost savings, efficiencies in operations, charging adequate user fees, and applying for grant
funding. The budget for fiscal year 2020-2021, includes a small deficit of $386,000 requiring reserve
funding, of which about 75% were items unspent in fiscal year 2019-2020 or items previously
committed for reserve funding. In addition, over $1 was budgeted in the general fund for capital
expenditures. The City also increased water, sewer, and storm rates to fund almost $2 million in water
and sewer capital expenditures and $400,000 in capital expenditures in storm water drainage.

CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a
general overview of the City's finances. If you have questions about this report or need any additional
information, contact Monica D. Harris, Director of Finance, 298 West Washington, Stephenville, Texas
76401-4257 or call (254) 918-1211.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (page 1 of 2)
September 30, 2020

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Restricted cash
Receivables, net
Prepaid items
Due from component unit
Inventories
Current Assets

Net pension asset
Capital assets:
Non-depreciable
Net depreciable capital assets
Noncurrent Assets
Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred charge on refunding
Deferred pension outflows
Deferred OPEB outflows
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Primary Government

Iltem 4.

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
$ 23,538,348 % 4,862,501 28,400,849
490,483 - 490,483
103,389 13,919,258 14,022,647
2,208,444 1,400,276 3,608,720
- 160,809 160,809
6,450 - 6,450
3,962 238,562 242,524
26,351,076 20,581,406 46,932,482
2,102,774 314,517 2,417,291
3,349,532 13,164,404 16,513,936
23,305,072 45,435,036 68,740,108
28,757,378 58,913,957 87,671,335
55,108,454 79,495,363 134,603,817
13,981 39,946 53,927
2,564,385 383,561 2,947,946
66,014 9,874 75,888
2,644,380 433,381 3,077,761
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Component Unit

Stephenville
EDA

891,896

110,341

1,002,237

47,572

47,572

1,049,809

58,015
1,493

59,508
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City of Stephenville, Texas
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (page 2 of 2)

Item 4.

September 30, 2020
Primary Government
Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total
Liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities 1,570,585 1,049,199 2,619,784
Customer deposits - 379,083 379,083
Accrued interest payable 79,409 60,436 139,845
Compensated absences due within one year 573,134 58,099 631,233
Long-term debt due within one year 488,097 1,659,608 2,147,705
Unearned revenue - 15,060 15,060
Due to primary government - - -
Current Liabilities 2,711,225 3,221,485 5,932,710
Noncurrent liabilities due in more than one year:
OPEB liability 494,671 73,990 568,661
Compensated absences, noncurrent 63,682 6,456 70,138
Landfill closure costs - 175,467 175,467
Debt due in more than one year 16,191,762 24,016,110 40,207,872
16,750,115 24,272,023 41,022,138
Total Liabilities 19,461,339 27,493,508 46,954,847
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred pension inflows 3,325,351 497,380 3,822,731
Deferred OPEB inflows 2,234 335 2,569
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 3,327,585 497,715 3,825,300
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 21,847,814 45,293,731 67,141,545
Restricted for:
Capital projects - - -
Tourism 377,302 - 377,302
Pensions 1,341,808 200,698 1,542,506
Municipal court 6,023 - 6,023
Public safety 50,415 - 50,415
Debt service 200,926 888,531 1,089,457
Economic development - - -
Unrestricted 11,139,622 5,554,561 16,694,183
Total Net Position $ 34,963,910 $ 51,937,521  $ 86,901,431

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Component Unit

Stephenville
EDA

75,231
51

75,282

75,000
80,000
30,356

795,137

980,493

33
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City of Stephenville, Texas

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Program Revenues

Iltem 4.

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions  Contributions
Primary Government
Governmental Activities
General government 2,512,975 % 3,600 $ 561,706 % -
Culture and recreation 2,254,992 245,570 1,456 1,401,652
Community development 493,019 321,774 - -
Public safety 9,637,871 875,103 372,080 -
Streets 1,501,306 614 - 76,868
Interest and fiscal charges 530,646 - - -
Total Governmental Activities 16,930,809 1,446,661 935,242 1,478,520
Business-Type Activities
Water and Wastewater 5,234,741 8,152,610 - 255,420
Storm Water Drainage 550,783 638,126 - -
Airport 178,661 110,919 - 32,180
Sanitary Landfill 599,166 1,113,634 - -
Total Business-Type Activities 6,563,351 10,015,289 - 287,600
Total Primary Government 23,494,160 $ 11,461,950 $ 935,242 $ 1,766,120
Component Unit
Stephenville Economic
Development Authority 442,152 $ - 8 - 5 -
Total Component Unit 442,152 $ - $ - $ -

See Notes to Financial Statements.

General Revenues:

Taxes

Property tax

Sales tax

Franchise and other taxes

Hotel occupancy taxes

Investment income

Other revenues

Transfers

Total General Revenues and Transfers

Change in Net Position

Beginning Net Position

Ending Net Position
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Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

Component Unit

Iltem 4.

Governmental Business-Type Stephenville
Activities Activities Total EDA

$ (1,947,669) - (1,947,669) % -
(606,314) - (606,314) -
(171,245) - (171,245) -
(8,390,688) - (8,390,688) -
(1,423,824) - (1,423,824) -
(530,646) - (530,646) -
(13,070,386) - (13,070,386) -
- 3,173,289 3,173,289 -
- 87,343 87,343 -
- (35,562) (35,562) -
- 514,468 514,468 -
- 3,739,538 3,739,538 -
(13,070,386) 3,739,538 (9,330,848) -
(442,152)
(442,152)
6,324,119 - 6,324,119 -
5,940,857 - 5,940,857 540,078
1,276,928 - 1,276,928 -
398,706 - 398,706 -
115,763 195,341 311,104 7,379
1,030,088 287,971 1,318,059 -
1,442,405 (1,442,405) - -
16,528,866 (959,093) 15,569,773 547,457
3,458,480 2,780,445 6,238,925 105,305
31,505,430 49,157,076 80,662,506 875,188
$ 34,963,910 51,937,521 86,901,431 % 980,493
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City of Stephenville, Texas

Item 4.

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
September 30, 2020
Nonmajor Total
Capital Governmental = Governmental
General Projects Funds Funds
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,157,723 $ 13,723,465 $ 657,160 $ 23,538,348
Investments 490,483 - - 490,483
Restricted cash 103,389 - - 103,389
Receivables, net 2,113,529 - 94,915 2,208,444
Inventory 3,962 - - 3,962
Due from other funds 15,656 - - 15,656
Due from component unit 6,450 - - 6,450
Total Assets $ 11,891,192 $ 13,723,465 $ 752,075 $ 26,366,732
Liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities $ 1,400,947  $ 68,511 % 101,127  $ 1,570,585
Due to other funds - - 15,656 15,656
Total Liabilities 1,400,947 68,511 116,783 1,586,241
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - Fines and fees 141,069 - - 141,069
Unavailable revenue - EMS 209,252 - - 209,252
Unavailable revenue - property taxes 24,807 - 626 25,433
Total Deferred Inflows of
375,128 - 626 375,754
Fund Balances
Nonspendable:
Inventories 3,962 - - 3,962
Committed for:
Capital projects - 13,654,954 - 13,654,954
Airport improvement 384,754 - - 384,754
Grant match 150,000 - - 150,000
Restricted for:
Tourism - - 377,302 377,302
Municipal court - - 6,023 6,023
Public safety - - 50,415 50,415
Debt service - - 200,926 200,926
Unassigned reported in:
General fund 9,576,401 - - 9,576,401
Total Fund Balances 10,115,117 13,654,954 634,666 24,404,737
Total Liabilities, Deferred
Inflows and Fund Balances $ 11,891,192 $ 13,723,465 $ 752,075  $ 26,366,732

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

Iltem 4.

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
September 30, 2020

Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds

Adjustments for the Statement of Net Position:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial
resources and, therefore, not reported in the governmental funds.
Capital assets - non-depreciable
Capital assets - net depreciable
Net pension asset

The net pension asset is not an available resource and, therefore, is not reported in the funds.

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-period
expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the governmental funds.
Fines and fees receivable
Property tax receivable
EMS receivable

Deferred outflows of resources, represent a consumption of net position that applies

to a future period(s) and is not recognized as an outflow of resources (expenditure) until then.

Deferred charges on refunding
Deferred pension outflows
Deferred OPEB outflows

Deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.
Deferred pension inflows
Deferred OPEB inflows

Some liabilities, including bonds payable and compensated absences, are not reported as
liabilities in the governmental funds.
OPEB liability
Compensated absences
Accrued interest
Bond premium
Bond discount
Non-current liabilities due in one year
Non-current liabilities due in more than one year
Net Position of Governmental Activities

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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24,404,737

3,349,532
23,305,072

2,102,774

141,069
25,433
209,252

13,981
2,564,385
66,014

(3,325,351)
(2,234)

(494,671)
(636,815)
(79,409)
(1,008,650)
1,523
(488,097)
(15,184,635)

34,963,910
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City of Stephenville, Texas

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (Page 1 of 2)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Revenues
Property tax
Sales tax
Franchise and other taxes
Hotel occupancy taxes
License and permits
Charges for services
Emergency services
Fines and forfeitures
Intergovernmental
Contributions and donations
Investment income
Other revenues
Total Revenues
Expenditures
Current:
General government
Culture and recreation
Community development
Public safety
Streets
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest and fiscal charges
Bond issuance costs
Capital outlay:
General government
Culture and recreation
Community development
Public safety
Streets
Total Expenditures

Excess of Revenues Over (Under)
Expenditures

Iltem 4.

Nonmajor Total
Capital Governmental Governmental
General Projects Funds Funds
6,084,204 - % 256,240 % 6,340,444
5,940,857 - - 5,940,857
1,276,928 - - 1,276,928
- - 398,706 398,706
321,774 - - 321,774
246,141 6,597 - 252,738
702,878 - - 702,878
78,498 - 4,069 82,567
175,728 - 3,538 179,266
832,844 - - 832,844
92,939 18,240 4,584 115,763
1,059,600 - 6,800 1,066,400
16,812,391 24,837 673,937 17,511,165
2,120,702 - 289,292 2,409,994
1,939,211 - - 1,939,211
482,507 - - 482,507
8,965,028 - 1,452 8,966,480
773,640 - - 773,640
303,490 - 180,000 483,490
50,466 126,960 80,835 258,261
- 262,595 - 262,595
28,150 - - 28,150
826,344 - - 826,344
73,853 - - 73,853
762,179 - - 762,179
13,500 477,476 - 490,976
16,339,070 867,031 551,579 17,757,680
473,321 (842,194) 122,358 (246,515)
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City of Stephenville, Texas

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (Page 2 of 2)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers in

Transfers (out)

Bond proceeds

Premium on bond issuance

Proceeds from sale of assets
Total Other Financing Sources

Net Change in Fund Balances

Beginning fund balances
Ending Fund Balances

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Iltem 4.

Nonmajor Total
Capital Governmental Governmental
General Projects Funds Funds
1,442,405 1,071,572 - 2,513,977
(1,071,572) - - (1,071,572)
- 11,860,000 - 11,860,000
- 1,021,005 - 1,021,005
21,498 - - 21,498
392,331 13,952,577 - 14,344,908
865,652 13,110,383 122,358 14,098,393
9,249,465 544,571 512,308 10,306,344
10,115,117 13,654,954  § 634,666 $ 24,404,737
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City of Stephenville, Texas

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

Capital outlay

Capital contributions

Depreciation expense

Adjustment for sale of capital assets

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
Pension expense
Compensated absences
Other post employment benefits
Accrued interest
Amortization of deferred charges on refunding
Amortization of bond premium and discounts

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g., bonds, leases, certificates of obligation)
provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the
repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial
resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any
effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of premiums,

discounts, and similar items when they are first issued; whereas,
these amounts are deferred and amortized in the statement of activities.
This amount is the net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term
debt and related items.
Principal payments
Bonds issued
Premiums on bonds issued

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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$

Iltem 4.

14,098,393

2,181,502
1,401,652
(1,520,974)

(57,810)

70,379

(154,033)
(113,975)
(39,349)
(35,208)
(1,119)
26,537

483,490
(11,860,000)
(1,021,005)

$

3,458,480
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City of Stephenville, Texas

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Page 1 of 2)
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
September 30, 2020

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Receivables, net
Prepaid items
Inventories
Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets
Net pension asset
Capital assets:
Non-depreciable
Net depreciable capital assets
Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred charge on refunding
Deferred pension outflows
Deferred OPEB outflows

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Business-Type Activities

Enterprise Funds

Iltem 4.

Water and Storm Water Nonmajor
Wastewater Drainage Airport

$ 3,114,350 706,612 % 171,622
13,736,261 182,997 -
1,297,957 78,921 272
6,972 - 153,837
238,562 - -
18,394,102 968,530 325,731
271,628 - 1,479
9,314,766 403,732 3,405,906
32,002,929 8,023,177 3,637,165
41,589,323 8,426,909 7,044,550
59,983,425 9,395,439 7,370,281
9,915 30,031 -
331,257 - 1,804
8,528 - 46
349,700 30,031 1,850
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Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Nonmajor
Sanitary Landfill Total
$ 869,917 $ 4,862,501
- 13,919,258
23,126 1,400,276
- 160,809
- 238,562
893,043 20,581,406
41,410 314,517
40,000 13,164,404
1,771,765 45,435,036
1,853,175 58,913,957
2,746,218 79,495,363
- 39,946
50,500 383,561
1,300 9,874
51,800 433,381
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City of Stephenville, Texas

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (Page 2 of 2)
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
September 30, 2020

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Customer deposits
Compensated absences due within one year
Current maturities of
long-term liabilities
Unearned revenue
Accrued interest

Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities
OPEB liability - TMRS
Compensated absences, noncurrent
Landfill closure costs
Long-term liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred pension inflows
Deferred OPEB inflows
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for:
Pensions
Debt service
Unrestricted
Total Net Position

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Business-Type Activities

Enterprise Funds

Iltem 4.

Water and Storm Water Nonmajor
Wastewater Drainage Airport

977,912 51,875 2,031
375,283 - -
50,884 - -
1,344,608 315,000 -
- - 15,060
36,695 23,741 -
2,785,382 390,616 17,091
63,900 - 348
5,654 - -
19,050,083 4,966,027 -
21,905,019 5,356,643 17,439
429,555 - 2,339
289 - 2
429,844 - 2,341
33,275,585 3,165,813 7,043,071
173,330 - 944
705,534 182,997 -
3,843,813 720,017 308,336
$ 37,998,262 4,068,827 $ 7,352,351
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Business-Type Activities

Enterprise Funds

Nonmajor
Sanitary Landfill Total
17,381 1,049,199
3,800 379,083
7,215 58,099
- 1,659,608
- 15,060
- 60,436
28,396 3,221,485
9,742 73,990
802 6,456
175,467 175,467
- 24,016,110
214,407 27,493,508
65,486 497,380
44 335
65,530 497,715
1,809,262 45,293,731
26,424 200,698
- 888,531
682,395 5,554,561
$ 2,518,081 51,937,521
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City of Stephenville, Texas
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Business-Type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Iltem 4.

Water and Storm Water Nonmajor
Wastewater Drainage Airport
Operating Revenues
Water revenue $ 4,948,271 $ - $ -
Sewer revenue 3,204,339 - -
Airport services - - 110,919
Storm drainage - 638,126 -
Sanitation landfill - - -
Other income 169,871 118,100 -
Total Operating Revenues 8,322,481 756,226 110,919
Operating Expenses
Personnel services - - -
Contractual services - - -
Materials and supplies - - -
Utilities administration and customer service 623,494 - -
Water and production and distribution 1,389,322 - -
Wastewater collection and treatment 1,446,125 - -
Billing and collection 282,357 - -
Stormwater - 94,449 -
Airport operations - - 56,908
Depreciation 1,225,569 270,522 121,753
Total Operating Expenses 4,966,867 364,971 178,661
Operating Income (Loss) 3,355,614 391,255 (67,742)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment income 179,893 8,613 -
Interest expense (267,196) (185,812) -
Bank fees (678) - -
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (87,981) (177,199) -
Income Before Contributions and Transfers 3,267,633 214,056 (67,742)
Capital Contributions and Transfers
Capital grants and contributions 255,420 - 32,180
Transfers in 40,337 - -
Transfers (out) (1,297,005) (150,601) -
Change in Net Position 2,266,385 63,455 (35,562)
Beginning net position 35,731,877 4,005,372 7,387,913

Ending Net Position $ 37,998,262 % 4,068,827 $ 7,352,351

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Business-Type Activities

Enterprise Funds

Nonmajor
Sanitary Landfill Total

$ - % 4,948,271
- 3,204,339

- 110,919

- 638,126

1,113,634 1,113,634

- 287,971

1,113,634 10,303,260
206,642 206,642

35,413 35,413

172,632 172,632

- 623,494

- 1,389,322

- 1,446,125

- 282,357

- 94,449

- 56,908

184,479 1,802,323
599,166 6,109,665
514,468 4,193,595

6,835 195,341
- (453,008)
- (678)
6,835 (258,345)

521,303 3,935,250

- 287,600

- 40,337
(35,136) (1,482,742)
486,167 2,780,445
2,031,914 49,157,076

$ 2,518,081 $ 51,937,521
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City of Stephenville, Texas
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS (Page 1 of 2)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Business-Type Activities

Enterprise Funds

Iltem 4.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from customers $
Payments to suppliers and contractors
Payments to employees for salaries and benefits

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

Transfer in

Transfer (out)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Noncapital Financing
Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Purchases of capital assets
Capital grant

Principal paid on capital debt
Change in landclosure costs
Bond issuance costs

Interest paid on capital debt

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related
Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Change in investment balances
Interest on investments

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash

Beginning cash and cash equivalents

Ending Cash and Cash Equivalents $

Water and Storm Water Nonmajor
Wastewater Drainage Airport
8,406,302 $ 841,119  $ 110,884
(3,153,576) (103,056) (51,562)
(582,425) - (379)
4,670,301 738,063 58,943
40,337 - -
(1,297,005) (150,601) -
(1,256,668) (150,601) -
(6,236,838) (129,047) (31,388)
255,420 - 32,180
(1,325,811) (305,000) -
(678) - -
(258,632) (197,616) -
(7,566,539) (631,663) 792
150,000 - -
179,893 8,613 -
329,893 8,613 -
(3,823,013) (35,588) 59,735
20,673,624 925,197 111,887
16,850,611  $ 889,609 $ 171,622

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Business-Type Activities

Enterprise Funds

Nonmajor
Sanitary Landfill Total

$ 1,158,256 10,516,561
(207,296) (3,515,490)
(199,644) (782,448)

751,316 6,218,623

- 40,337
(35,136) (1,482,742)
(35,136) (1,442,405)
(359,524) (6,756,797)

- 287,600
- (1,630,811)

13,777 13,777
- (678)
- (456,248)
(345,747) (8,543,157)

- 150,000

6,835 195,341

6,835 345,341
377,268 (3,421,598)

492,649 22,203,357

$ 869,917 18,781,759
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City of Stephenville, Texas

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS (Page 2 of 2)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Business-Type Activities

Enterprise Funds

Iltem 4.

Water and Storm Water Nonmajor
Wastewater Drainage Airport
Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss)
to Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities
Operating Income (Loss) $ 3,355,614 $ 391,255 % (67,742)
Adjustments to reconcile operating
income to net cash provided (used):
Depreciation 1,225,569 270,522 121,753
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in:
Accounts receivable 91,465 84,893 (35)
Inventory 23,886 2,402 -
Prepaid items - - 3,083
Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Deferred pension charges 163,062 - (943)
OPEB charges (8,167) - (45)
Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (59,658) 48,016 2,263
Customer deposits (7,644) - -
Compensated absences 9,240 - -
Due to other funds - (59,025) -
Net pension liability (asset) (370,920) - (1,652)
OPEB liability 11,623 - 257
Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Pension inflows 237,032 - 2,004
OPEB inflows (801) - -
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities $ 4,670,301 % 738,063 % 58,943

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Business-Type Activities

Enterprise Funds

Nonmajor
Sanitary Landfill Total

$ 514,468 $ 4,193,595
184,479 1,802,323

44,322 220,645

- 26,288

- 3,083

22,270 184,389
(1,247) (9,459)
749 (8,630)
300 (7,344)

2,928 12,168
- (59,025)
(56,027) (428,599)

2,046 13,926

37,144 276,180
(116) (917)

$ 751,316 $ 6,218,623

51

Iltem 4.

68




(This page intentionally left blank.)
52

Item 4.

69




Iltem 4.

City of Stephenville, Texas

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2020

I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. Description of government-wide financial statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e.,, the statement of net position and the
statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the primary
government and its component units. Governmental activities, which normally are supported
by taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions, are reported
separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges
to external customers for support. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately
from certain legally separate component units for which the primary government is
financially accountable.

B. Reporting Entity

The City of Stephenville, Texas (the “City”), was incorporated in 1889, and operates as a
home rule City. The City operates under a council-manager form of government and
provides the following services as authorized by its charter: general government, public
safety (police, fire, and EMS), highway and streets, culture and recreation, community
development (planning and zoning, licensing, permitting, and inspection), water and
wastewater system, storm water drainage, airport, and sanitary landfill.

The City is an independent political subdivision of the State of Texas governed by an elected
council and a mayor and is considered a primary government. As required by generally
accepted accounting principles, these basic financial statements have been prepared based on
considerations regarding the potential for inclusion of other entities, organizations, or
functions as part of the City's financial reporting entity. The Stephenville Economic
Development Authority (the “SEDA”) although legally separate, is considered part of the
reporting entity. No other entities have been included in the City's reporting entity.
Additionally, as the City is considered a primary government for financial reporting
purposes, its activities are not considered a part of any other governmental or other type of
reporting entity.

Considerations regarding the potential for inclusion of other entities, organizations or
functions in the City's financial reporting entity are based on criteria prescribed by generally
accepted accounting principles. These same criteria are evaluated in considering whether
the City is a part of any other governmental or other type of reporting entity. The overriding
elements associated with prescribed criteria considered in determining that the City's
financial reporting entity status is that of a primary government are that it has a separately
elected governing body; it is legally separate; and is fiscally independent of other state and
local governments. Additionally prescribed criteria under generally accepted accounting
principles include considerations pertaining to organizations for which the primary
government is financially accountable, and considerations pertaining to organizations for
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which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government are
such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading
or incomplete.

Discretely Presented Component Units

Stephenville Economic Development Authority

The SEDA is governed by a board of seven members, all of whom are appointed by the City
Council of the City of Stephenville, Texas and whom can be removed from office by the City
Council at its will. SEDA has potential for the organization to provide specific financial
benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the City. SEDA was incorporated in the
state of Texas in 2015. The nature and significance of the relationship between the primary
government and SEDA is such that exclusion would cause the City’s financial statements to
be misleading and incomplete.

Separate financial statements for SEDA as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30,
2020 are not prepared.

. Basis of Presentation - Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

While separate government-wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are
interrelated. The governmental activities column incorporates data from governmental
funds while business-type activities incorporate data from the government’s enterprise
funds. Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and the
proprietary funds.

As discussed earlier, the government has one discretely presented component unit and is
shown in separate columns in the government-wide financial statements.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments in lieu of taxes where
the amounts are reasonably equivalent in value to the interfund services provided and other
charges between the government’s water and sewer functions and various other functions of
the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program
revenues reported for the various functions concerned.

The fund financial statements provide information about the government’s funds, including
its fiduciary funds and blended component units. Separate statements for each fund
category; governmental and proprietary are presented. The emphasis of fund financial
statements is on major governmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate
column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as
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nonmajor funds. Major individual governmental and enterprise funds are reported as
separate columns in the fund financial statements.

The government reports the following major governmental funds:
General Fund
The general fund is used to account for all financial transactions not properly includable
in other funds. The principal sources of revenues include local property taxes, sales and
franchise taxes, licenses and permits, emergency services, and charges for services.
Expenditures include general government, public safety, streets, culture and recreation,
and community development.
Capital Projects Fund
This fund was established to account for resources to be used for the acquisition or
construction of general major capital facilities. Financing is provided primarily by
transfers from the general fund.

The government reports the following major enterprise funds:

Water and Wastewater Fund

The water and wastewater fund accounts for the operation of the water distribution
system and the wastewater treatment plants, wastewater pumping stations, and collection
systems.

Storm Water Drainage Fund

The storm water drainage fund is used to account for the activities necessary for the
provisions of storm water drainage services.

Additionally, the government reports the following fund types:
Special Revenue Funds
The City accounts for resources restricted to, or designated for, specific purposes (not
including expendable trusts or major capital projects) in a special revenue fund. These

funds consist of the hotel/motel tax, child safety, public safety, and municipal court
technology funds.
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Debt Service Fund

The City’s debt service fund accounts for the accumulation of resources to service the
City’s governmental long-term debt.

Airport Fund

The Airport fund accounts for municipal airport services and to support air transportation
and charter services. This fund is presented as a nonmajor proprietary fund.

Sanitary Landfill Fund

This fund is used to account for solid waste collection and disposal services provided to
the residents of the City. This fund is presented as a nonmajor proprietary fund.

During the course of operations the government has activity between funds for various
purposes. Any residual balances outstanding at year end are reported as due from/to other
funds and advances to/from other funds. While these balances are reported in fund financial
statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide
financial statements. Balances between the funds included in governmental activities (i.e.,
the governmental and internal service funds) are eliminated so that only the net amount is
included as internal balances in the governmental activities column. Similarly, balances
between the funds included in business-type activities (i.e., the enterprise funds) are
eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the business-type
activities column.

Further, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between
funds. In fund financial statements these amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers
in/out. While reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the
preparation of the government-wide financial statements. Transfers between the funds
included in governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as
transfers in the governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds
included in business-type activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as
transfers in the business-type activities column.

. Measurement focus and basis of accounting

The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable
measurement focus and basis of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of
resources being measured such as current financial resources or economic resources. The basis of
accounting indicates the timing of transactions or events for recognition in the financial
statements.
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The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and
expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash
flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements
imposed by the provider have been met.

The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon
as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when
they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of
the current period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if
they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures
generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However,
debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, and
claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. General capital asset
acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Issuance of long-term debt
and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current
fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as
revenues of the current fiscal period. Entitlements are recorded as revenues when all
eligibility requirements are met, including any time requirements, and the amount is
received during the period or within the availability period for this revenue source (within
60 days of year end). Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the
qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other eligibility requirements have been
met, and the amount is received during the period or within the availability period for this
revenue source (within 60 days of year end). All other revenue items are considered to be
measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.

The proprietary, pension and other postemployment benefit trust, and private-purpose trust
funds are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. Agency funds have no measurement focus but utilize the accrual basis of
accounting for reporting its assets and liabilities. The City of Stephenville does not have any
pension and other postemployment benefit trust, private-purpose trust or agency funds.

. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows / Inflows, and Fund Equity or Net Position
1. Deposits and Investments
The City’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits

and short term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of
acquisition. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the proprietary fund types
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consider temporary investments with maturity of three months or less when purchased to be
cash equivalents.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Reporting for Certain Investments
and External Investment Pools, the City reports all investments at fair value, except for “money
market investments” and “2a7-like pools.” Money market investments, which are short-term
highly liquid debt instruments that may include U.S. Treasury and agency obligations, are
reported at amortized costs. Investment positions in external investment pools that are
operated in a manner consistent with the SEC’s Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of
1940, such as TexPool, are reported using the pools” share price. The City has adopted a
written investment policy regarding the investment of its funds as defined in the Public
Funds Investment Act, Chapter 2256, of the Texas Governmental Code. In summary, the
City is authorized to invest in the following:

Direct obligations of the U.S. Government
Fully collateralized certificates of deposit and money market accounts
Statewide investment pools

2. Fair Value

The City has applied Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No.
72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. GASB Statement No. 72 provides guidance for
determining a fair value measurement for reporting purposes and applying fair value to
certain investments and disclosures related to all fair value measurements.

3. Receivables and Interfund Transactions

Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements
outstanding at the end of the year are referred to as either “interfund receivables/payables”
(i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the non-
current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances between funds are
reported as “due to/from other funds” in the fund financial statements. If the transactions
are between the primary government and its component unit, these receivables and payables
are classified as “due to/from component unit/primary government.” Any residual balances
outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in
the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances.”

Advances between funds are offset by a nonspendable fund balance account in the
applicable governmental fund to indicate they are not available for appropriation and are not

expendable available financial resources.

All trade receivables are shown net of any allowance for uncollectible amounts.
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4. Inventories and Prepaid Items

The costs of governmental fund type inventories are recorded as expenditures when the
related liability is incurred, (i.e., the purchase method). The enterprise fund inventories are
valued at the lower of average cost or market. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs
applicable to future accounting periods (prepaid expenditures) are recognized as
expenditures when utilized.

5. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g.,
roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items) are reported in the applicable governmental or
business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets
are defined by the government, as assets with an initial individual cost of more than $5,000
and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost
or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets, donated
works of art, and capital items received in a service concession arrangement are reported at
acquisition value. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as
projects are constructed.

Interest costs incurred in connection with construction of enterprise fund capital assets are
capitalized when the effects of capitalization materially impact the financial statements.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized.

Property, plant, and equipment of the primary government, as well as the component units,
are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful years.

Estimated
Asset Description Useful Life
Airport improvements 40 years
Waterworks and sanitation system 33 1/3 years
Infrastructure 20 years
Buildings and improvements 20 - 40 years

6. Deferred Outflows / Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/ expenditure)
until then. The government only has one item that qualifies for reporting in this category. It

is the deferred charge on refunding reported in the government-wide statement of net
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position. A deferred charge on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of
refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over the
shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt.

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred
inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.
The government has only one type of item, which arises only under a modified accrual basis
of accounting, that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly, the item, unavailable
revenue, is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds
report unavailable revenues from three sources: property taxes, fines and fees, and EMS.
These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the
amounts become available.

7. Net Position Flow Assumption

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted
(e.g., restricted bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the
amounts to report as restricted — net position and unrestricted — net position in the
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be
made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the
government’s policy to consider restricted — net position to have been depleted before
unrestricted — net position is applied.

8. Fund Balance Flow Assumptions

Sometimes the government will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted
and unrestricted resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance).
In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and
unassigned fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements a flow assumption
must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the
government’s policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted before using
any of the components of unrestricted fund balance. Further, when the components of
unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is
depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is applied last.

9. Fund Balance Policies
Fund balance of governmental funds is reported in various categories based on the nature of
any limitations requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The government itself

can establish limitations on the use of resources through either a commitment (committed
fund balance) or an assignment (assigned fund balance).
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The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the
specific purposes determined by a formal action of the government’s highest level of
decision-making authority. The governing council is the highest level of decision-making
authority for the government that can, by adoption of an ordinance prior to the end of the
tiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the ordinance
remains in place until a similar action is taken (the adoption of another ordinance) to remove
or revise the limitation.

Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the
government for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed.
The governing body (council) has by resolution authorized the finance director to assign
fund balance. The council may also assign fund balance as it does when appropriating fund
balance to cover a gap between estimated revenue and appropriations in the subsequent
year’s appropriated budget. Unlike commitments, assignments generally only exist
temporarily. In other words, an additional action does not normally have to be taken for the
removal of an assignment. Conversely, as discussed above, an additional action is essential
to either remove or revise a commitment.

The government has adopted a policy to maintain a minimum reserve of unassigned fund
balance in the general fund at an amount equal to or greater than 25% of budgeted
expenditures of that fund.

10. Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term
obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities statement of
net position. The long-term debt consists primarily of bonds payable and accrued
compensated absences.

Long-term debt for governmental funds is not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements until due. The debt proceeds are reported as other financing sources, net of the
applicable premium or discount and payments of principal and interest reported as
expenditures. In the governmental fund types, issuance costs, even if withheld from the
actual net proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. However, claims
and judgments paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in the fund financial
statements only for the portion expected to be financed from expendable available financial
resources.

Long-term debt and other obligations, financed by proprietary funds, are reported as
liabilities in the appropriate funds. For proprietary fund types, bond premiums and
discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line
method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount.
Issuance costs are expensed when incurred.
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Assets acquired under the terms of capital leases are recorded as liabilities and capitalized in
the government-wide financial statements at the present value of net minimum lease
payments at inception of the lease. In the year of acquisition, capital lease transactions are
recorded as other financing sources and as capital outlay expenditures in the general fund.
Lease payments representing both principal and interest are recorded as expenditures in the
general fund upon payment with an appropriate reduction of principal recorded in the
government-wide financial statements.

11. Pensions

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources
and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information
about the Fiduciary Net Position of the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and
additions to/deductions from TMRS’s Fiduciary Net Position have been determined on the
same basis as they are reported by TMRS. For this purpose, plan contributions are
recognized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when
contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

12. Other Postemployment Benefits (“OPEB”)

The City has implemented GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. This statement applies to the individual
employers (TMRS cities) in the TMRS Supplemental Death Benefits (SDB) plan, with retiree
coverage. The TMRS SDBF covers both active and retiree benefits with no segregation of
assets, and therefore doesn’t meet the definition of a trust under GASB No. 75 (i.e., no assets
are accumulated for OPEB) as such the SDBF is considered to be an unfunded OPEB plan.
For purposes of reporting under GASB 75, the retiree portion of the SDBF is not considered a
cost sharing plan and is instead considered a single employer, defined benefit OPEB plan.
The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal
to the employee’s annual salary, calculated based on the employee’s actual earnings on
which TMRS deposits are made, for the 12-month period preceding the month of death. The
death benefit amount for retirees is $7,500. GASB No. 75 requires the liability of employers
and nonemployer contributing entities to employees for defined benefit OPEB (net OPEB
liability) to be measured as the portion of the present value of projected benefit payments to
be provided to current active and inactive employees that is attributed to those employees’
past periods of service (total OPEB liability), less the amount of the OPEB plan’s fiduciary
net position.
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13. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles, requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses
1. Program Revenues

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who
purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given
function or segment and 2) grants and contributions (including special assessments) that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or
segment. All taxes, including those dedicated for specific purposes, and other internally
dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues.

2. Property Taxes

Property taxes are levied by October 1 on the assessed value listed as of the prior January 1
for all real and business personal property in conformity with Subtitle E, Texas Property Tax
Code. Taxes are due on receipt of the tax bill and are delinquent if not paid before February 1
of the year following the year in which imposed. Under state law, property taxes levied on
real property constitute a lien on the real property which cannot be forgiven without specific
approval of the State Legislature. The lien expires at the end of twenty years. Taxes levied on
personal property can be deemed uncollectible by the City.

Property taxes at the fund level are recorded as receivables and deferred revenues at the
time the taxes are assessed. Revenues are recognized as the related ad valorem taxes are
collected. Additional amounts estimated to be collectible in time to be a resource for
payment of obligations incurred during the fiscal year and therefore susceptible to accrual in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles have been recognized as
revenue.

Legislation was passed in 1979 and amended in 1981 by the Texas Legislature which affects
the method of property assessment and tax collection in the City. This legislation, with
certain exceptions, exempts intangible personal property and household goods. In addition,
this legislature creates a "Property Tax Code" and provides, among other things, for the
establishment of county-wide appraisal districts and for a State Property Tax Board which
commenced operation in January 1980. The appraisal of property within the City is the
responsibility of the Erath County Tax Appraisal District. The Appraisal District is required
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under the Property Tax Code to assess all property within the appraisal district on the basis
of 100 percent of its appraised value and is prohibited from applying any assessment rations.
The value of real property within the Appraisal District must be reviewed at least every four
years. The City, at its own expense, may challenge appraised values established by the
Appraisal District through various appeals and, if necessary, legal action. Under this
legislation, the City continues to set tax rates on property within the City limits. If the
adopted tax rate, excluding tax rates for bonds and other contractual obligations, adjusted
for new improvements and revaluation, exceeds the rate of the previous year by more than
three & one-half percent (voter-approval tax rate), an automatic property tax election is
required. However, Cities with a population under 30,000, have the option to calculate a de
minimis tax rate that would generate $500,000 in more property tax revenue than that of the
previous year. If the approved tax rate is above the voter-approval rate but less than the de
minimis rate, qualified voters of the City may petition for an election to determine whether
to limit the tax rate to no more than three and one-half percent above the rate of the previous
year.

3. Compensated Absences

It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation pay
benefits up to specified limits. Employees can carry forward unused sick leave benefits,
however, no liability is reported for unpaid accumulated sick leave. Vacation pay is accrued
when incurred in the government-wide, and proprietary fund type statement of net position.
Compensated absences are reported in governmental funds only if they have matured for
example, as a result of employee’s resignation and retirement.

4. Proprietary Funds Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing
and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations.
The principal operating revenues of the water and sewer fund, storm water drainage,
airport, and sanitary landfill funds are charges to customers for sales and services. The water
and sewer fund also recognizes as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to
recover the cost of connecting new customers to the system. Operating expenses for
enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and
depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are
reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.
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II. RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance sheet and the
government-wide statement of net position.

The governmental fund balance sheet includes reconciliation between fund balance-total
governmental funds and net position-governmental activities as reported in the government-wide
statement of net position. One element of that reconciliation explains that long-term
liabilities, including bonds, are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are
not reported in the funds.

B. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government-wide statement of
activities.

The governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances
includes a reconciliation between net changes in fund balances — total governmental funds
and changes in net position of governmental states that, “the issuance of long-term debt (e.g.,
bonds) provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of
the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental
funds. Also, governmental funds report the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items
when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the
statement of activities.”

III. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) for the general fund, special revenue funds, and debt service fund.
Budgets are adopted for the proprietary fund annually only as a management tool. Capital
projects funds do not present a budget comparison since project length financial plans
usually extend into two or more fiscal years, thus making comparisons confusing and
misleading. The original budget is adopted by the City Council prior to the beginning of the
year. The legal level of control as defined by the City Charter is the department level. No
funds can be transferred or added which affect the total fund expenditures without City
Council approval. Appropriations lapse at the end of the year, unless legally encumbered.
Several supplemental budget appropriations were made during the year.

A. Restricted Fund Equity
The City records fund balance restrictions on the fund level to indicate that a portion of the

fund balance is legally restricted for a specific future use or to indicate that a portion of the
fund balance is not available for expenditures.
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The following is a list of fund balances restricted by the City:

Restricted
Tourism $ 377,302 *
Municipal court 6,023 *
Public safety 50,415 *
Debt service 200,926
Total $ 634,666

* Restricted by enabling legislation
IV. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS
A. Deposits and Investments

As of September 30, 2020, the primary government had the following investments:

Weighted
Average Maturity
Investment Type Value (Years)
Certificates of deposits $ 490,483 0.06
External investment pools 40,569,999 0.11
Total value $ 41,060,482
Portfolio weighted average maturity 0.11

As of September 30, 2020, the discretely presented component unit had the following

investments:
Weighted
Average Maturity
Investment Type Value (Years)
External investment pools $ 891,896 0.10
Total value $ 891,896
Portfolio weighted average maturity 0.10

Interest rate risk In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to
declines in fair values by limiting the weighted average of maturity not to exceed one year;
structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash requirements for
ongoing operations; monitoring credit ratings of portfolio position to assure compliance with
rating requirements imposed by the Public Funds Investment Act; and invest operating
funds primarily in short-term securities or similar government investment pools.
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Credit risk: The City’s investment policy limits investments to obligations of the United
States, State of Texas, or their agencies and instrumentalities with an investment quality
rating of not less than “A” or its equivalent, by a nationally recognized investment rating
tirm. Other obligations must be unconditionally guaranteed (either express or implied) by
the full faith and credit of the United States Government or the issuing U.S. agency and
investment pools with an investment quality not less than AAA or AAA-m, or equivalent, by
at least one nationally recognized rating service. As of September 30, 2020, the City’s
investment in investment pools were rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s.

Custodial credit risk — deposits: In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a
bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned to it. State statutes require that all
deposits in financial institutions be insured or fully collateralized by U.S. government
obligations or its agencies and instrumentalities or direct obligations of Texas or its agencies
and instrumentalities that have a market value of not less than the principal amount of the
deposits. As of September 30, 2020, the market values of pledged securities and FDIC
exceeded bank balances.

Custodial credit risk — investments: For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the
failure of the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The City’s investment
policy requires that it will seek to safekeep securities at financial institutions, avoiding
physical possession. Further, all trades, where applicable, are executed by delivery versus
payment to ensure that securities are deposited in the City’s safekeeping account prior to the
release of funds.

TexPool

TexPool was established as a trust company with the Treasurer of the State of Texas as
trustee, segregated from all other trustees, investments, and activities of the trust company.
The State Comptroller of Public Accounts exercises oversight responsibility over TexPool.
Oversight includes the ability to significantly influence operations, designation of
management, and accountability for fiscal matters. Additionally, the State Comptroller has
established an advisory board composed of both participants in TexPool and other persons
who do not have a business relationship with TexPool. The advisory board members review
the investment policy and management fee structure. Finally, Standard & Poor’s rate
TexPool AAAm. As arequirement to maintain the rating, weekly portfolio information must
be submitted to Standard & Poor’s, as well as to the office of the Comptroller of Public
Accounts for review. There were no limitations or restrictions on withdrawals.

TexSTAR

TexSTAR has been established for governmental entities pursuant to the Interlocal
Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code, and the Public Funds
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Investment Act, Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code and operates in a manner
consistent with the SEC's Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. TexSTAR's
governing body is a five-member Board consisting of three representatives of participants
and one member designated by each of the co-administrators. The Board holds legal title to
all money, investments, and assets and has the authority to employ personnel, contract for
services, and engage in other administrative activities necessary or convenient to accomplish
the objectives of TexSTAR. Board oversight of TexSTAR is maintained through daily,
weekly, and monthly reporting requirements. TexSTAR is rated AAAm by Standard &
Poor's. The City's fair value position is stated at the value of the position upon withdrawal.
There were no limitations or restrictions on withdrawals.

B. Receivables
The following comprise receivable balances of the primary government at year end:
Governmental Activities
Nonmajor
General Governmental Total

Property taxes $ 79,081 $ 6,795 $ 85,876

Sales and mixed beverage tax 1,213,091 - 1,213,091

Hotel/motel taxes - 92,533 92,533

Court 199,908 - 199,908

Ambulance billing 1,390,059 - 1,390,059

Other 397,250 464 397,714

Allowance (1,165,860) @,2877)  (1,170,737)

$ 2,113,529 $ 94915 $ 2,208,444
Business-Type Activities
Water and Storm Water Sanitary
Wastewater Drainage Airport Landfill Total
Accounts $ 1,920,922 % 90,080 $ - % 23,126 $ 2,034,128
Other 33,146 10,100 272 - 43,518
Allowance (656,111) (21,259) - - (677,370)
$ 1,297,957 % 78,921 % 272 $ 23,126 $ 1,400,276

The discretely presented component unit had receivables of $110,341 as of yearend which
consisted entirely of sales tax.
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C. Capital Assets
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4.

A summary of changes in governmental activities capital assets for the year end was as

follows:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total accumulated depreciation

Net capital assets being depreciated

Total Capital Assets

Depreciation was charged to governmental functions as follows:

General government

Public safety
Streets

Culture and recreation

Beginning Retirements/ Ending
Balances Additions Reclassifications Balances

$ 2,676,079 - % - % 2,676,079
864,061 691,857 (882,465) 673,453
3,540,140 691,857 (882,465) 3,349,532
7,000,575 330,788 (55,761) 7,275,602
9,876,726 497,330 707,334 11,081,390
26,172,159 2,063,179 29,179 28,264,517
43,049,460 2,891,297 680,752 46,621,509
2,293,122 167,910 (9,550) 2,451,482
6,760,332 477,676 (149,136) 7,088,872
12,885,912 875,388 14,783 13,776,083
21,939,366 1,520,974 (143,903) 23,316,437
21,110,094 1,370,323 824,655 23,305,072
$ 24,650,234 2,062,180 % (57,810) $ 26,654,604

$ 67,252

453,807

715,443

284,472

Total Governmental Activities Depreciation Expense $ 1,520,974
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A summary of changes in business-type activities capital assets for the year end was as

follows:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total accumulated depreciation

Net capital assets being depreciated

Total Capital Assets

Beginning Retirements/ Ending
Balances Additions Reclassifications Balances

$ 4,368,159 % 43,767 % (3,100) $ 4,408,826
3,497,716 5,814,472 (556,610) 8,755,578
7,865,875 5,858,239 (559,710) 13,164,404
19,573,022 362,605 - 19,935,627
5,108,812 354,896 - 5,463,708
60,143,456 181,057 559,710 60,884,223
84,825,290 898,558 559,710 86,283,558
5,828,271 439,816 - 6,268,087
3,252,672 246,382 - 3,499,054
29,965,256 1,116,125 - 31,081,381
39,046,199 1,802,323 - 40,848,522
45,779,091 (903,765) 559,710 45,435,036

$ 53,644966 $ 4,954,474 % - $ 58,599,440

Depreciation was charged to business-type activities as follows:

Water and Wastewater
Storm Water Drainage
Airport

Sanitary Landfill

Total Business-type Activities Depreciation Expense
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$ 1,225,569
270,522
121,753
184,479
$ 1,802,323
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D. Long-term Debt

The following is a summary of changes in the City’s total long-term liabilities for the year
ended September 30, 2020. In general, the City uses the debt service fund and general fund
to liquidate governmental long-term liabilities.

Amounts
Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Governmental Activities:
Bonds, notes and other
payables:
Certificates of Obligation $ 2,785,000 $ 11,860,000 $ (180,000) % 14,465,000 $ 190,000
Capital lease obligations 1,511,222 - (303,490) 1,207,732 298,097
Less deferred amounts:
For discounts (1,656) - 133 (1,523) -
For premiums 14,315 1,021,005 (26,670) 1,008,650 -
Total Governmental Activities $ 4308881 $ 12,881,005 $ (510,027) $ 16,679,859  $ 488,097
Long-term liabilities due in more than one year $ 16,191,762
Business-Type Activities:
General Obligation Bonds $ 3,325,000 $ - $ (75,000) $ 3,250,000 $ 75,000
Certificates of Obligation 22,100,000 - (1,240,000) 20,860,000 1,250,000
Capital lease obligations 1,730,829 - (315,811) 1,415,018 334,608
Less deferred amounts:
For discounts (21,302) - 1,578 (19,724) -
For premiums 184,059 - (13,635) 170,424 -
Total Business-Type Activities $ 27,318,586 % - $ (1,642,868) $ 25,675,718 % 1,659,608
Long-term liabilities due in more than one year $ 24,016,110
88
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Long-term liabilities applicable to the City’s governmental activities are not due and
payable in the current period and accordingly, are not reported as fund liabilities in the
governmental funds. Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds, but
rather is recognized as an expenditure when due. The City intends to retire all of its general

long-term liabilities, plus accrued interest, from property taxes and other current revenues

from the debt service fund as has been done in prior years. The proprietary fund type long-
term debt will be repaid, plus accrued interest, from operating revenues of the respective
fund. The general fund has typically been used to liquidate the liability for compensated

absences for governmental activities.

Long-term debt at year end was comprised of the following debt issues:

Certificates of Obligation:
$4,000,000 Certificates of Obligation, Series 2011,

due in annual installments through 2031, interest at 1.75-4.25%
$11,860,000 Certifcates of Obliation, Series 2020,

due in annual installments through 2040, interest at 2-4%
$4,300,000 Certificates of Obligation, Series 2006A,

due in annual installments through 2027, interest at 3.92% semi-annually
$1,000,000 Certificates ofObligation, Series 2013

due in annual installments through 2024, interest at 2.49% semi-annually
$2,040,000 Certificates of Obligation Bonds, Series 2016

due in annual installments through 2027, interest at 1.84% semi-annually
$17,030,000 Certificates of Obligation Bonds, Series 2018

due in annual installments through 2039, interest at 0.18% to 1.33% semi-annually
Total Certificates of Obligation

General Obligation Bonds:
$4,775,000 Geneal Obligation Refunding, Series 2013,

due in annual installments through 2033, interest at 2.0% to 4.0%

Total General Obligation Bonds

Less deferred amounts:
Issuance premium
Issuance discounts

Total deferred amounts

Capital lease obligations

Total Long-Term Debt
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Business -
Governmental Type

Activities Activities Total
2,605,000 - 2,605,000
11,860,000 - 11,860,000
- 1,900,000 1,900,000
- 730,000 730,000
- 1,990,000 1,990,000
- 16,240,000 16,240,000
14,465,000 20,860,000 35,325,000
- 3,250,000 3,250,000
- 3,250,000 3,250,000
1,008,650 170,424 1,179,074
(1,523) (19,724) (21,247)
1,007,127 150,700 1,157,827
1,207,732 1,415,018 2,622,750
16,679,859 25,675,718 42,355,577
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The annual requirements to amortize the City’s long-term activities debt issues outstanding
at year ending were as follows:

Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligations

Year ending

Governmental Activites

September 30, Principal Interest Total
2021 $ 190,000 $ 418950 % 608,950
2022 200,000 426,944 626,944
2023 695,000 423,631 1,118,631
2024 725,000 394,706 1,119,706
2025 755,000 364,556 1,119,556
2026 785,000 333,181 1,118,181
2027 820,000 300,481 1,120,481
2028 855,000 266,356 1,121,356
2029 885,000 230,906 1,115,906
2030 930,000 193,925 1,123,925
2031 955,000 162,163 1,117,163
2032 680,000 142,550 822,550
2033 695,000 128,800 823,800
2034 710,000 114,750 824,750
2035 725,000 100,400 825,400
2036 740,000 85,750 825,750
2037 755,000 70,800 825,800
2038 770,000 55,550 825,550
2039 785,000 36,075 821,075
2040 810,000 12,150 822,150

$ 14,465,000

$ 4,262,625

$ 18,727,625
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Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligations

Year ending

Business-Type Activites
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September 30, Principal Interest Total
2021 $ 1,250,000 $ 279,208  $ 1,529,208
2022 1,280,000 261,767 1,541,767
2023 1,265,000 243,345 1,508,345
2024 1,285,000 223,826 1,508,826
2025 1,695,000 199,761 1,894,761
2026 1,730,000 171,085 1,901,085
2027 1,755,000 140,876 1,895,876
2028 830,000 121,510 951,510
2029 840,000 113,368 953,368
2030 845,000 104,731 949,731
2031 855,000 95,635 950,635
2032 865,000 86,088 951,088
2033 875,000 76,082 951,082
2034 885,000 65,565 950,565
2035 895,000 54,528 949,528
2036 910,000 43,020 953,020
2037 920,000 31,125 951,125
2038 935,000 18,881 953,881
2039 945,000 6,332 951,332

$ 20,860,000

$ 2,336,732

$ 23,196,732
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General Obligation Bonds

Year ending Business-Type Activites
September 30, Principal Interest Total
2021 $ 75000 $ 114,750  $ 189,750
2022 80,000 113,200 193,200
2023 80,000 111,200 191,200
2024 80,000 108,800 188,800
2025 85,000 106,325 191,325
2026 85,000 103,775 188,775
2027 90,000 101,150 191,150
2028 405,000 93,725 498,725
2029 420,000 80,825 500,825
2030 440,000 65,200 505,200
2031 450,000 47,400 497,400
2032 470,000 29,000 499,000
2033 490,000 9,800 499,800

$ 3,250,000 $ 1,085150 $ 4,335,150

Governmental assets under capital lease consist of vehicles and have an original purchase
value of $1,989,985 and a current net book value of $1,750,004 of year end.

Business-type assets under capital lease consist of water meters and infrastructure and have
an original purchase value of $2,988,450 and a current net book value of $2,564,085 of year
end.

The annual requirements to amortize capital leases outstanding at year ending were as
follows:

Year ending Governmental Activities
September 30, Principal Interest Total
2021 $ 298,097 % 39,977 % 338,074
2022 168,317 30,232 198,550
2023 113,917 24,019 137,936
2024 117,608 20,328 137,936
2025 121,419 16,517 137,936
2026 125,353 12,583 137,936
2027 129,414 8,522 137,936
2028 133,607 4,329 137,936
Total $ 1,207,732 $ 156,507 $ 1,364,239
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Year ending Business-Type Activities
September 30, Principal Interest Total
2021 $ 334,608 % 34,066 5 368,674
2022 328,729 25,545 354,274
2023 371,065 16,868 387,934
2024 380,616 7,317 387,933
Total $ 1,415,018 % 83,796 % 1,498,814

E. Other Long-term Liabilities

Iltem 4.

The following is a summary of changes in the City’s total other long-term liabilities for the
year ended September 30, 2020. In general, the City uses the general fund to liquidate
governmental compensated absences.

Governmental Activities:
Compensated Absences $

Total Governmental Activities $

Business-Type Activities:
Estimated landfill closure and

postclosure cost $
Compensated Absences

Total Business-Type Activities $

Component Unit Activities:
Compensated Absences $

Total Component Unit Activities $

F. Deferred Charges on Refunding

Amounts
Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
522,840 $ 493,612 $ (379,637) 636,815 573,134
522,840 $ 493,612 % (379,637) 636,815 573,134
Long-term liabilities due in more than one year 63,682
161,690 $ 13,777  $ - 175,467 -
52,387 60,679 (48,511) 64,555 58,099
214077 % 74,456 % (48,511) 240,022 58,099
Long-term liabilities due in more than one year 181,923
8,654 % 2,310 % - 10,964 9,868
8,654 % 2310 % - 10,964 9,868
Long-term liabilities due in more than one year 1,096

Deferred charges resulting from the issuance of general obligation refunding bonds have

been recorded as deferred outflows of resources and are being amortized to interest expense
over the shorter of either the remaining term of the refunded debt or the refunding bonds.
Current year balances for governmental and business-type activities totaled $13,981 and
$39,946, respectively. Current year amortization expense for governmental and business-
type activities totaled $1,119 and $4,763, respectively.
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G. Interfund Transactions
Transfers between the primary government funds during the 2020 year were as follows:

Transfer In:

Capital Water &
Transfer out: General Projects Wastewater Total
General $ - % 1,071,572 $ -5 1,071,572
Water & Wastewater 1,297,005 - - 1,297,005
Stormwater Drainage 110,264 - 40,337 150,601
Nonmajor Enterprise 35,136 - - 35,136
Total $ 1,442,405 $ 1,071,572 $ 40,337 % 2,554,314

Transfers between funds were primarily to support capital projects, internal administration
costs and operation of funds.

The compositions of interfund balances as of the year ended September 30, 2020 were as

follows:
Receivable:
Payable: General Total
Nonmajor governmental 15,656 15,656
Total §$ 15656  $ 15,656

Interfund receivables and payables related to negative cash positions in pooled cash equity
and various amounts used to cover operational and capital expenditures. All balances are
expected to be resolved in the subsequent year.

V. OTHER INFORMATION
A. Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and
destruction of assets, errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City
participates along with over 2,800 other entities in the Texas Municipal League’s
Intergovernmental Risk Pools. The Pool purchases commercial insurance at group rates for
participants in the Pool. The City has no additional risk or responsibility to the Pool outside
of the payment of insurance premiums. The City has not significantly reduced insurance
coverage or had settlements which exceeded coverage amounts for the past three years.

B. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Amounts received or receivable from granting agencies are subject to audit and adjustment

by grantor agencies, principally the federal government. Any disallowed claims, including
94
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amounts already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amounts of
expenditures which may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time
although the City expects such amounts, if any, to be immaterial.

Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the
loss can be reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been
incurred but not reported. Claim liabilities are calculated considering the effects of inflation,
recent claim settlement trends, including frequency and amount of payouts, and other
economic and social factors.

The City is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is not
presently determinable, it is the opinion of the City’s management that the resolution of

these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the City.

The City had the following construction commitments as of year end:

Remaining
Project Spent to Date Contract Amount Commitment

Eastside Sewer Project - Engineering $ 646,151 $ 701,000 54,849
Eastside Sewer Project - Resident Project Rep 204,000 209,000 5,000
Eastside Sewer Project - Project Management 110,344 165,000 54,656
Green Ribbon Grant Median Improvements 37,250 41,000 3,750
Eastside Sewer Project - Lift Station 4,345,657 4,347,000 1,343
Airport Extension 281,232 294,953 13,721
Downtown Revitalization - Sidewalks - Engineering & Construction 38,221 331,353 293,132
Harbin Drive - Engineering 395,944 641,557 245,613
South Lockhart Rd Engineering 56,185 92,378 36,193
CDBG GLO Project Grosebeck Storm Drainage-Engineering 141,400 202,000 60,600
CDBG GLO Project Grosebeck Storm Drainage-Admin Svcs 67,600 108,000 40,400

$ 6,323,984 % 7133241 % 809,257

C. Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Post Closure Costs

The City has constructed a Type IV sanitary landfill, which began operations on December 1,
1995. This facility is permitted to accept only brush and/or construction demolition wastes
and rubbish free of household wastes.

State and federal laws and regulation require the City to place a final cover on the landfill
site when it stops accepting waste to perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions
at the site for a period of five years after closure. Although closure and post closure care
costs will be paid only near or after the date that the landfill stops accepting waste, the City
will report a portion of these closure and post closure costs as an operating expense in each
period based on landfill capacity used to date. Estimated closure and 5-year post closure
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costs are approximately $439,521. The landfill site has an estimate net capacity of 1,216,156
cubic yards and is expected to be closed within the next 20-30 years; approximately 39.92%
of the landfill was used at yearend. Actual costs may be higher due to inflation, changes in
technology, or changes in regulations.

The City has received written authorization from the state that no annual contributions are
required, thus the intent of the City is to fund the required expenses as incurred.

D. Defined Benefit Pension Plans

1. Plan Description

The City of Stephenville, Texas participates as one of 888 plans in the nontraditional, joint
contributory, hybrid defined benefit pension plan administered by the Texas Municipal
Retirement System (TMRS). TMRS is an agency created by the State of Texas and
administered in accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Government Code
(the TMRS Act) as an agent multiple-employer retirement system for municipal employees
in the State of Texas. The TMRS Act places the general administration and management of
the System with a six-member Board of Trustees. Although the Governor, with the advice
and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is not fiscally dependent on the State of
Texas. TMRS'’s defined benefit pension plan is a tax-qualified plan under Section 401 (a) of
the Internal Revenue Code. TMRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual
financial report (CAFR) that can be obtained at www.tmrs.com.

All eligible employees of the city are required to participate in TMRS.

2. Benefits Provided

TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by
the governing body of the city, within the options available in the state statutes governing
TMRS.

At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s contributions, with
interest, and the city-financed monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an
annuity. Members may choose to receive their retirement benefit in one of seven payments
options. Members may also choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a Partial Lump
Sum Distribution in an amount equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which cannot
exceed 75% of the member’s deposits and interest.

The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of the City, within the options
available in the state statutes governing TMRS.
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The general and enterprise funds have typically been used to liquidate the liability for
pension and OPEB balances.

Plan provisions for the City were as follows:

Plan Year 2019 Plan Year 2018
Employee deposit rate 6% 6%
Matching ratio (city to 2to1 2to1
employee)
Years required for vesting 5 5
Service retirement eligibility
(expressed as age / years of 60/5, 0/20 60/5, 0/20
service)
Updated service credit 100% Repeating Transfers 100% Repeating Transfers
Annuity increase (to retirees) 0% of CPI 0% of CPI
Active Employees Yes Yes
Supplemental Death Benefit
to Retirees Yes Yes

Employees covered by benefit terms

At the December 31, 2019 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were
covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 101
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 119
Active employees 156
Total 376

3. Contributions

The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross
earnings, and the City matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as
adopted by the governing body of the City. Under the state law governing TMRS, the
contribution rate for each city is determined annually by the actuary, using the Entry Age
Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated
amount necessary to finance the cost of benefits earned by employees during the year, with
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability.

Employees for the City of Stephenville, Texas were required to contribute 6% of their annual
gross earnings during the fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City of Stephenville,
Texas were 6.36% and 6.67% in calendar years 2019 and 2020, respectively. The City’s
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contributions to TMRS for the year ended September 30, 2020, were $601,275, and were equal
to the required contributions.

4. Net Pension Liability (Asset)

The City’s Net Pension Liability (Asset) was measured as of December 31, 2019, and the
Total Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by
an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Actuarial assumptions

The Total Pension Liability (Asset) in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions:

Inflation 2.5% per year

Overall payroll growth 2.75%

Investment Rate of Return 6.75% net of pension plan investment expense, including
inflation

Salary increases are based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members are
based on the PUB(10) mortality tables with the Public Safety table used for males and the
General Employee table used for females. Mortality rates for healthy retirees and
beneficiaries are based on the Gender-distinct 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas mortality
tables. The rates for actives, healthy retirees and beneficiaries are projected on a fully
generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements. For disabled
annuitants, the same mortality tables for healthy retirees is used with a 4-year set-forward
for males and a 3-year set-forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3.0% minimum 16
mortality rate is applied, for males and females respectively, to reflect the impairment for
younger members who become disabled. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis
by Scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements subject to the floor.

The actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the
experience of TMRS over the four-year period from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2018.
They were adopted in 2019 and first used in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation. The
post-retirement mortality assumption for Annuity Purchase Rates (APRs) is based on the
Mortality Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 2011 and dated December
31, 2013. Plan assets are managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on both capital
appreciation as well as the production of income in order to satisfy the short-term and long-
term funding needs of TMRS.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a

building-block method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for
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each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. In determining their best estimate of a
recommended investment return assumption under the various alternative asset allocation
portfolios, GRS focused on the area between (1) arithmetic mean (aggressive) without an
adjustment for time (conservative) and (2) the geometric mean (conservative) with an
adjustment for time (aggressive). The target allocation and best estimates of real rates of
return for each major asset class in fiscal year 2020 are summarized in the following table:

Asset Class Target Allocation Long-Term Expected Real
Rate of Return (Arithmetic)
Global Equity 30.0% 5.30%
Core Fixed Income 10.0% 1.25%
Non-Core Fixed Income 20.0% 4.14%
Real Return 10.0% 3.85%
Real Estate 10.0% 4.00%
Absolute Return 10.0% 3.48%
Private Equity 10.0% 7.75%
Total 100.0%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability (Asset) was 6.75%. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee and
employer contributions will be made at the rates specified in statute. Based on that
assumption, the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be available to make
all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of
projected benefit payments to determine the Total Pension Liability (Asset). Of the total
pension (asset), $2,417,291 is related to the primary government and $47,572 is attributable to
discretely presented component units.
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City of Stephenville, Texas
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September 30, 2020

Changes in the Net Pension Liability (Asset)

Net Pension

Iltem 4.

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Liability (Asset) Primary Component
Liability (a) Net Position (b) (@ - (b) Government Unit
Balance at 12/31/18 $ 40,008,933 % 39,144,016 $ 864,917 $ 847,532 $ 17,385
Changes for the year:
Service cost 1,185,079 - 1,185,079 1,162,207 22,872
Interest 2,679,331 - 2,679,331 2,627,620 51,711
Change in benefit terms - - - - -
Difference between expected and
) (105,017) - (105,017) (102,990) (2,027)
actual experience
Changes of assumptions 38,003 - 38,003 37,962 41
Contributions — employer - 571,828 (571,828) (560,792) (11,036)
Contributions — employee - 537,993 (537,993) (527,610) (10,383)
Net investment income - 6,052,577 (6,052,577) (5,935,762) (116,815)
Benefit payments, including
refunds of emp. cont. (1,815,354) (1,815,354) - - -
Administrative expense - (34,194) 34,194 33,534 660
Other changes - (1,028) 1,028 1,008 20
Net changes 1,982,042 5,311,822 (3,329,780) (3,264,823) (64,957)
Balance at 12/31/19 $ 41,990,975 $ 44,455,838 $ (2,464,863) $ (2,417,291) $ (47,572)

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability (asset) of the City, calculated using the
discount rate of 6.75%, as well as what the City’s net pension liability (asset) would be if it
were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.75%) or 1-
percentage-point higher (7.75%) than the current rate:

Primary Government:

1% Decrease Current Single Rate 1% Increase
5.75% Assumption 6.75% 7.75%
$ 2,823,127 $ (2,417,291)  $ (6,778,086)

Component Unit:

1% Decrease

Current Single Rate

1% Increase

5.75% Assumption 6.75% 7.75%
$ 55,559 % 47,572) $ (133,392)
Total:
1% Decrease Current Single Rate 1% Increase
5.75% Assumption 6.75% 7.75%
$ 2,878,686 % (2,464,863) $ (6,911,478)
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Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in a
separately-issued TMRS financial report. That report may be obtained on the internet at
www.tmrs.com.

5. Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended September 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $803,422. Of
this amount, $787,916 is related to the primary government and $15,506 is attributable to
discretely presented component unit.

At September 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Resources (Inflows) of Resources

Primary Government:
Difference between projected and actual
investment earnings $ 2,349,763 (3,686,063)
Differences between expected and actual
economic experience 116,198 (136,668)
Difference in assumption changes 28,988 -
Contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 452,997 -
Component Unit:
Difference between projected and actual
investment earnings 46,243 (72,541)
Differences between expected and actual
economic experience 2,287 (2,690)
Difference in assumption changes 570 -
Contributions subsequent to the
measurement date 8,915 -

Total 3,005,961 (3,897,962)

The primary government and component units reported $452,997 and $8,915, respectively, as
deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from contributions subsequent
to the measurement date that will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for
the year ending September 30, 2021.
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Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions
will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

Year ended December 31: Primary Component
Total Government Unit
2020 $ (362,676) % (355,676) % (7,000)
2021 (419,851) (411,748) (8,103)
2022 118,134 115,854 2,280
2023 (689,520) (676,212) (13,308)
2024 - - -
Thereafter - - -
$ (1,353913) $ (1,327,782) % (26,131)

Other Postemployment Benefits

The City also participates in the cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit group-term
life insurance plan operated by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) known as
the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elected, by ordinance, to provide
group-term life insurance coverage to both current and retired employees. The City may
terminate coverage under and discontinue participation in the SDBF by adopting an
ordinance before November 1 of any year to be effective the following January 1.

The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal
to the employee’s annual salary (calculated based on the employee’s actual earnings, for the
12-month period preceding the month of death); retired employees are insured for $7,500;
this coverage is an “other postemployment benefit,” or OPEB.

The City offers supplemental death to: Plan Year 2016 Plan Year 2017
Active employees (yes or no) Yes Yes
Retirees (yes or no) Yes Yes

The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by an annual
actuarial valuation. The rate is equal to the cost of providing one-year term life insurance.
The funding policy for the SDBF program is to assure that adequate resources are available
to meet all death benefit payments for the upcoming year; the intent is not to pre-fund
retiree term life insurance during employees’ entire careers.
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Employees covered by benefit terms

At the December 31, 2019 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were
covered by the benefit terms:

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 79
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 26
Active employees 156
Total 261

The City’s contributions to the TMRS SDBF for the years ended 2020, 2019, and 2018 were
$4,567, $4,366, and $4,263, respectively, which equaled the required contributions each year.

Schedule of Contribution Rates
(RETIREE-only portion of the rate)

Plan/ Annual Required | Actual Contribution | Percentage of ARC
Calendar Year Contribution Made Contributed
(Rate) (Rate)
2018 0.05% 0.05% 100.0%
2019 0.05% 0.05% 100.0%
2020 0.05% 0.05% 100.0%
Total OPEB Liability

The City’s Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions Liability (OPEB) was measured as
of December 31, 2019, and the Total OPEB Liability was determined by an actuarial
valuation as of that date.

Actuarial assumptions:

The Total OPEB Liability in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using
the following actuarial assumptions:

Inflation 2.5% per year

Overall payroll growth 3.5% to 11.5%, including inflation per year
Discount rate 2.75%

Retirees’ share of benefit-related costs ~ $0

Administrative expenses All administrative expenses are paid through the

Pension Trust and accounted for under reporting
requirements under GASB Statement No. 68

Salary increases were based on a service-related table. For service retirees and beneficiary
mortality rates, the OPEB liability and the OPEB contribution rates utilized the Gender-

distinct 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas mortality tables. The rates are projected on a fully]
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generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements. Based on the
size of the city, rates are multiplied by an additional factor of 100.0%. For disabled
annuitants mortality rates, the OPEB liability and the OPEB contribution rates utilized the
mortality tables for healthy retirees is used with a 4 year set-forward for males and a 3 year
set-forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3% minimum mortality rate will be applied
to reflect the impairment for younger members who become disabled for males and females,
respectively. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account
for future mortality improvements subject to the floor.

Discount Rate:

The discount rate used to measure the Total OPEB Liability was 2.75%. The discount rate
was based on the Fidelity Index’s “20-Year Municipal GO AA Index” rate as of December 31,
2019.

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate
of 2.75%, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a
discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (1.75%) or 1-percentage-point higher (3.75%)

than the current rate:

Primary Government:

1% Decrease Current Single Rate 1% Increase
1.75% Assumption 2.75% 3.75%
$ 687,329 $ 568,661 $ 477,063
Component Unit:
1% Decrease Current Single Rate 1% Increase
1.75% Assumption 2.75% 3.75%
$ 13,527 $ 1,191 $ 9,389
Total:
1% Decrease Current Single Rate 1% Increase
1.75% Assumption 2.75% 3.75%
$ 700,856  $ 579,852  $ 486,452
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Changes in the Total OPEB Liability:

Total OPEB Primary Component
Liability Government Unit
Balance at 12/31/18 $ 455,377 $ 446,588 $ 8,789
Changes for the year:
Service Cost 16,803 16,479 324
Interest 17,124 16,794 330
Difference between expected
) 3,706 3,634 72
and actual experience
Changes of assumptions 91,264 89,503 1,761
Contributions — employer - - -
Contributions — employee - - -
Net investment income - - -
Benefit payments (4,422) (4,337) (85)
Administrative expense - - -
Other changes - - -
Net changes 124,475 122,073 2,402
Balance at 12/31/19 $ 579,852 $ 568,661 $ 11,191

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of

Resources Related to OPEB

For the year ended September 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense of $47,931. Of this
amount, $47,006 is related to the primary government and $925 is attributable to discretely

presented component unit.

At September 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to the OPEB liability from the following sources:

Primary Government

Differences between expected and
actual economic experience

Differences in assumptions

Contributions subsequent to

measurement date

Total

Deferred Outflows Deferred (Inflows)

of Resources

of Resources

$ - (2,569)
72,660 -
3,228 -

$ 75,888  $ (2,569)
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Deferred Outflows
Component Unit of Resources
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Deferred (Inflows)

of Resources

Differences between expected and

. . $ - (51)
actual economic experience
Differences in assumptions 1,430 -
Contributions subsequent to
measurement date 63 -
Total $ 1,493 (51)

The City reported $3,291 as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from
contributions subsequent to the measurement date that will be recognized as a reduction of
the OPEB liability for the year ending September 30, 2021.

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will
be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:

Year ended December 31: Primary Component
Total Government Unit

2020 $ 14,004 % 13,734 % 270

2021 14,004 13,734 270

2022 14,004 13,734 270

2023 12,532 12,290 242

2024 10,433 10,232 201
Thereafter 6,493 6,368 125

$ 71,470 % 70,0901 % 1,379
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E. Tax Abatement Disclosures

The City negotiates property tax abatement agreements on an individual basis. The City has
tax abatement agreements with one entity as of September 30, 2020:

Percentage of Taxes Amount of Taxes Abated Amount of Taxes Abated
Purpose Abated during during the Fiscal Year during the Fiscal Year
the Fiscal Year Property Tax Sales Tax

Constructi.on of a well service Rump facility Py EM.C. 40% $ 23500 )
Technologies, Inc. for commercial or industrial purposes.
Purchase of capital machine tools and modification of existing
structure by F.M.C. Technologies, Inc. This agreement is between 40% 28,200 -
F.M.C. Technologies Inc. and Erath County.

Total $ 51,700 $ -

Each agreement was negotiated under Article III, Section 52-a, Texas Constitution, and
Chapter 312, Texas Tax Code, stating that the City may establish and provide for the
administration of a program for making loans and grants of public money to promote state
or local economic development and to stimulate business and commercial activity in the
municipality. Taxes were abated through a reduction of taxes owed.

The City has not made any commitments as part of the agreements other than to reduce
taxes. The City has chosen to disclose information about its tax abatement agreements
individually. It established a quantitative threshold of 100% percent of the total dollar
amount of taxes abated during the year.

F. Restatement
Due to a correction to year end receivables, the City restated its beginning net position/fund

balance within governmental activities, business-type activities, the general fund, and the
storm drainage fund.
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The below tables summarize the changes to net position/fund balance as a result of this
change.

Governmental
Activities General
Prior year ending net position/fund balance, $ 31,596,327 % 9,340,362
as reported
Correction to receivables (90,897) (90,897)
Restated beginning net position/fund balance $ 31,505,430 $ 9,249,465
Business-Type Storm Water
Activities Drainage
Prior year ending net position/fund balance, $ 49,066,179  $ 3,914,475
as reported
Correction to receivables 90,897 90,897
Restated beginning net position/fund balance $ 49,157,076  $ 4,005,372

G. Related Party Transactions

The City contracted with a website video and production company owned by a Board
Member for the SEDA, totaling $4,390 during the year.

H. Subsequent Events

There were no other material subsequent events through May 28, 2021, the date the financial
statements were issued.
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Variance with

Final Budget
Original Positive
Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Property tax $ 6,180,994 % 6,180,994 % 6,084,204 % (96,790)
Sales tax 6,008,963 6,008,963 5,940,857 (68,106)
Franchise and other taxes 1,233,500 1,233,500 1,276,928 43,428
License and permits 245,890 245,890 321,774 75,884
Charges for services 529,004 529,004 246,141 (282,863)
Emergency services 575,000 575,000 702,878 127,878
Fines and forfeitures 170,200 170,200 78,498 (91,702)
Intergovernmental 150,000 152,715 175,728 23,013
Contributions and donations 334,340 1,823,536 832,844 (990,692)
Investment income 172,800 172,800 92,939 (79,861)
Other revenues 37,590 953,084 1,059,600 106,516
Total Revenues 15,638,281 18,045,686 16,812,391 (1,233,295)
Expenditures
Current:
General government
City council 124,619 216,816 197,498 19,318
City administrator 417,865 458,831 351,065 107,766
City secretary 134,350 204,763 147,275 57,488
Emergency management 24,122 24,122 19,212 4,910
Financial services 494,132 537,904 533,113 4,791
Municipal building 113,140 118,732 108,628 10,104
Municipal services center 97,970 96,715 83,470 13,245
Information technology 311,719 314,727 281,110 33,617
Legal counsel 126,630 126,630 106,494 20,136
Human resources 236,557 235,552 153,284 82,268
Tax 168,026 168,026 167,703 323
Total general government 2,249,130 2,502,818 2,148,852 353,966
Culture and recreation
Library 254,639 251,966 237,229 14,737
Parks and recreation 2,007,749 2,612,772 2,224,803 387,969
Senior citizens 149,157 159,582 119,174 40,408
Aquatic 290,182 291,472 184,349 107,123
Total culture and recreation 2,701,727 3,315,792 2,765,555 550,237
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Variance with

Final Budget
Original Positive
Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Community development
Planning and development 511,296 825,829 556,360 269,469
Total community development 511,296 825,829 556,360 269,469
Public safety
Municipal court 179,791 179,679 121,689 57,990
Fire department 3,157,919 3,600,626 3,514,617 86,009
Police department 5,366,502 6,875,767 6,090,901 784,866
Total public safety 8,704,212 10,656,072 9,727,207 928,865
Public works
Street maintenance 955,361 977,233 787,140 190,093
Total public works 955,361 977,233 787,140 190,093
Debt service:
Principal retirement 303,490 303,490 303,490 -
Interest and fiscal charges 50,466 50,466 50,466 -
Total debt service 353,956 353,956 353,956 -
Total Expenditures 15,475,682 18,631,700 16,339,070 2,292,630
Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures 162,599 (586,014) 473,321 1,059,335
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 1,455,104 1,455,104 1,442,405 (12,699)
Transfers (out) (1,071,572) (1,071,572) (1,071,572) -
Proceeds from sale of assets 20,000 20,000 21,498 1,498
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 403,532 403,532 392,331 (11,201)
Net Change in Fund Balance $ 566,131 $ (182,482) 865,652 1,048,134
Beginning fund balance 9,249,465
Ending Fund Balance $ 10,115,117

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
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Years Ended:
12/31/2014 12/31/2015 12/31/2016
Total pension liability
Service cost $ 992,735 % 1,076,600 $ 1,240,408
Interest 2,494,034 2,637,868 2,673,757
Changes in benefit terms - - -
Differences between expected and actual
experience (36,585) (270,060) 341,014
Changes of assumptions - 86,443 -
Benefit payments, including refunds of
participant contributions (1,370,731) (1,503,966) (1,866,778)
Net change in total pension liability 2,079,453 2,026,885 2,388,401
Total pension liability - beginning 35,818,058 37,897,511 39,924,396
Total pension liability - ending (a) 37,897,511 39,924,396 42,312,797
Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer $ 1,060,235 $ 1,056,595 $ 1,152,678
Contributions - members 436,423 439,450 487,390
Net investment income 1,840,969 50,357 2,307,288
Benefit payments, including refunds of
participant contributions (1,370,731) (1,503,966) (1,866,778)
Administrative expenses (19,219) (30,670) (26,054)
Other (1,580) (1,514) (1,403)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 1,946,097 10,252 2,053,121
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 32,178,872 34,124,969 34,135,221
Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b) $ 34,124,969 $ 34,135,221 $ 36,188,342
Fund's net pension liability(asset) - ending (a) -
(b) $ 3,772,542  $ 5,789,175  § 6,124,455
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the
total pension liability (asset) 90.05% 85.50% 85.53%
Covered payroll $ 6,901,589 $ 7,215,815 $ 8,123,168
Fund's net pension liability as a percentage of
covered payroll 54.66% 80.23% 75.39%

Notes to schedule:

1) This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for ten calendar years.

However, until a full ten-year trend is compiled, only available information is shown.
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12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019
$ 1,250,973 1,168,137  $ 1,185,079
2,424,723 2,540,193 2,679,331
(6,087,924) - -
(149,716) 97,553 (105,017)

- - 38,003
(1,857,064) (1,690,739) (1,815,354)
(4,419,008) 2,115,144 1,982,042
42,312,797 37,893,789 40,008,933
37,893,789 40,008,933 41,990,975
$ 1163749 $ 591,042 $ 571,828
488,628 523,047 537,993
5,016,931 (1,227,648) 6,052,577
(1,857,064) (1,690,739) (1,815,354)
(25,993) (23,720) (34,194)
(1,321) (1,238) (1,028)
4,784,930 (1,829,256) 5,311,822
36,188,342 40,973,272 39,144,016
$ 40973272 $ 39144016 $  44,455838
$  (3079,483) $ 864917 $  (2,464,863)
108.13% 97.84% 105.87%

$ 8133762 $ 8,717,442 $ 8,843,876
-37.86% 9.92% -27.87%

1
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SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS TO PENSION PLAN

Years Ended:

9/30/2015 9/30/2016 9/30/2017
Actuarially determined employer contributions $ 1,050537 $ 1,105140 $ 1,147,185
Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined
contribution $ 1050537 $ 1,105140 $ 1,147,185
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ -3 -3 -
Annual covered payroll $ 7,179,688 $ 7,752,867 $ 8,042,962
Employer contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 14.63% 14.25% 14.26%

1) This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for ten years. However, until a
full ten-year trend is compiled, only available information is shown.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS TO PENSION PLAN

Valuation Date:
Notes Actuarially determined contribution rates are
calculated as of December 31 and become
effective in January 13 months later.

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal

Amortization Method Level Percentage of Payroll, Closed

Remaining Amortization Period N/A

Asset Valuation Method 10 Year smoothed market; 12% soft corridor
Inflation 2.5%

Salary Increases 3.50% to 11.5% including inflation

Investment Rate of Return 6.75%

Retirement Age Experience-based table of rates that are specific to

the City's plan of benefits. Last updated for the
2019 valuation pursuant to an experience study
of the period 2014 - 2018
Mortality Post-retirement: 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality

Tables. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis with
scale UMP.
Pre-retirement: PUB(10) mortality tables, with the Public Safety
table used for males and the General Employee table used for
females. The rates are projected on a fully generational
basis with scale UMP.

Other Information:

Notes There were no benefit changes during the year.
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9/30/2018 9/30/2019 9/30/2020
746,654  $ 565,648 601,275
746,654  $ 565,648 601,275

- % - -
8525408 $ 8,732,879 9,133,053
8.76% 6.48% 6.58%

1
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City of Stephenville, Texas
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
PENSIONS (OPEB) LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
TEXAS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM

SUPPLEMENTAL DEATH BENEFITS PLAN

Years Ended:
12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 '

Total OPEB liability

Service cost $ 16,268 $ 20,050 $ 16,803

Interest 15,405 15,629 17,124

Changes in benefit terms - - -

Differences between expected and actual experience - (8,185) 3,706

Changes of assumptions 35,257 (32,062) 91,264

Benefit payments, including refunds of participant

contributions (4,068) (4,359) (4,422)
Net change in total OPEB liability 62,862 (8,927) 124,475
Total OPEB liability - beginning 401,442 464,304 455,377
Total OPEB liability - ending (a) $ 464,304 % 455,377 % 579,852 2
Covered payroll $ 8133762 $ 8,717,442 $ 8,843,876
City's total OPEB liability as a percentage of covered 5.71% 5.22% 6.56%

Notes to schedule:

! This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for ten years. However, until a

full ten-year trend is compiled, only available information is shown.

2 No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB statement No. 75 to pay

related benefits.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

September 30, 2020
Municipal
Hotel/ Child Court
Motel Tax Safety Public Safety Technology
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 361,502 % 3,141  $ 71,668 % 6,023
Accounts receivable, net 92,533 - - -
Total Assets $ 454035 % 3,141 % 71,668 % 6,023
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 76,733  $ - % 24394  $ -
Due to other funds - - - -
Total Liabilities 76,733 - 24,394 -
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - property taxes - - - -
Fund Balances
Restricted for:
Tourism 377,302 - - -
Municipal court - - - 6,023
Public safety - 3,141 47,274 -
Debt service - - - -
Total Fund Balances 377,302 3,141 47,274 6,023
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and
Fund Balances §$ 454,035 $ 3,141 % 71,668 % 6,023

119

102




Total Total

Nonmajor Nonmajor
Special Revenue Debt Service Governmental
$ 442,334 $ 214,826 % 657,160
92,533 2,382 94,915
$ 534,867 % 217,208 % 752,075
$ 101,127 % -5 101,127
- 15,656 15,656
101,127 15,656 116,783
- 626 626
377,302 - 377,302
6,023 - 6,023
50,415 - 50,415
- 200,926 200,926
433,740 200,926 634,666
$ 534,867 % 217,208 % 752,075

103

Item 4.

120




City of Stephenville, Texas
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Revenues

Hotel occupancy tax
Property taxes

Fines and fees

Intergovernmental

Investment income

Other revenue

Total Revenues

Expenditures

General government
Public safety
Debt service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Total Expenditures

Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balances

Beginning fund balances
Ending Fund Balances

Iltem 4.

Municipal
Hotel/ Child Court

Motel Tax Safety Public Safety Technology
$ 398,706 - % - -
- 1,830 - 2,239
- - 3,538 -
2,145 16 896 36
6,800 - - -
407,651 1,846 4,434 2,275
289,292 - - -
- - 1,266 186
289,292 - 1,266 186
118,359 1,846 3,168 2,089
118,359 1,846 3,168 2,089
258,943 1,295 44,106 3,934
$ 377,302 3,141 % 47,274 6,023
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Total Total
Nonmajor Nonmajor
Special Revenue Debt Service Governmental
$ 398,706 - % 398,706
- 256,240 256,240
4,069 - 4,069
3,538 - 3,538
3,093 1,491 4,584
6,800 - 6,800
416,206 257,731 673,937
289,292 - 289,292
1,452 - 1,452
- 180,000 180,000
- 80,835 80,835
290,744 260,835 551,579
125,462 (3,104) 122,358
125,462 (3,104) 122,358
308,278 204,030 512,308
$ 433,740 200,926 $ 634,666
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City of Stephenville, Texas
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

HOTEL/MOTEL TAX
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Variance with

Final Budget
Positive
Original Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Hotel occupancy tax $ 500,000 $ 500,000 $ 398,706 % (101,294)
Investment income 4,000 4,000 2,145 (1,855)
Other revenue 51,000 51,000 6,800 (44,200)
Total Revenues 555,000 555,000 407,651 (147,349)
Expenditures
General government 555,000 555,000 289,292 265,708
Total Expenditures 555,000 555,000 289,292 265,708
Net Change in Fund Balance  § - % - 118,359  $ 118,359
Beginning fund balance 258,943
Ending Fund Balance $ 377,302

Notes to Supplementary Information
1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
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City of Stephenville, Texas

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
CHILD SAFETY
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Variance with

Final Budget
Original & Final Positive
Original Budget Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Fines and forfeitures $ 5000 $ 5000 $ 1,830 % (3,170)
Investment income - - 16 16
Total Revenues 5,000 5,000 1,846 (3,154)
Excess of Revenues

Over (Under) Expenditures 5,000 5,000 1,846 (3,154)
Net Change in Fund Balance $ 5,000 $ 5,000 1,846 $ (3,154)

Beginning fund balance 1,295

Ending Fund Balance $ 3,141

Notes to Supplementary Information
1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
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City of Stephenville, Texas
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

PUBLIC SAFETY
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Variance with

Final Budget
Positive
Original Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Intergovernmental $ 3550 % 3550 $ 3,538 % (12)
Interest income 1,000 1,000 896 (104)
Total Revenues 4,550 4,550 4,434 (116)
Expenditures
Public safety 15,868 15,868 1,266 14,602
Total Expenditures 15,868 15,868 1,266 14,602
Net Change in Fund Balance $ (11,318) % (11,318) 3,168 $ 14,486
Beginning fund balance 44,106
Ending Fund Balance $ 47,274

Notes to Supplementary Information

1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
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City of Stephenville, Texas

Iltem 4.

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
MUNICIPAL COURT TECHNOLOGY

Revenues
Fines and forfeitures
Interest income
Total Revenues
Expenditures
Public safety
Total Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balance

Beginning fund balance
Ending Fund Balance

Notes to Supplementary Information

For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Variance with

Final Budget
Positive
Original Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)

$ 5000 $ 5000 §$ 2,239 % (2,761)

250 250 36 (214)

5,250 5,250 2,275 (2,975)

- - 186 (186)

- - 186 (186)

$ 5250 $ 5,250 2,089 % (3,161)
3,934
$ 6,023

1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
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City of Stephenville, Texas

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
DEBT SERVICE
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Variance with

Final Budget
Positive
Original Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Property taxes $ 260,600 $ 260,600 $ 256,240 $ (4,360)
Interest income 1,000 1,000 1,491 491
Total Revenues 261,600 261,600 257,731 (3,869)
Expenditures
Debt service
Principal 180,000 180,000 180,000 -
Interest 80,850 80,850 80,835 15
Total Expenditures 260,850 260,850 260,835 15
Excess of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 750 750 (3,104) (3,854)
Net Change in Fund Balance $ 750 % 750 (3,104) $ (3,854)
Beginning fund balance 204,030
Ending Fund Balance $ 200,926

Notes to Supplementary Information
1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
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City of Stephenville, Texas

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
CAPITAL PROJECTS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Variance with

Final Budget
Positive
Original Budget Final Budget Actual (Negative)
Revenues
Charges for services $ 19,543  $ 19543 % 6,597 $ (12,946)
Interest income 8,000 8,000 18,240 10,240
Total Revenues 27,543 27,543 24,837 (2,706)
Expenditures
Debt service:
Interest and fiscal charges - 127,910 126,960 950
Bond issuance costs - 253,095 262,595 (9,500)
Capital outlay 1,108,502 13,655,790 477,476 13,178,314
Total Expenditures 1,108,502 14,036,795 867,031 13,169,764
Excess of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (1,080,959) (14,009,252) (842,194) 13,167,058
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 1,071,572 1,071,572 1,071,572 -
Bond proceeds - 12,881,005 11,860,000 (1,021,005)
Premium on bond issuance - - 1,021,005 1,021,005
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,071,572 13,952,577 13,952,577 -
Net Change in Fund Balance $ (9,387) $ (56,675) 13,110,383 $ 13,167,058
Beginning fund balance 544,571
Ending Fund Balance $ 13,654,954

Notes to Supplementary Information
1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

111

128




City of Stephenville, Texas

BALANCE SHEET

DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net

Liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Due to primary government

Fund Balances
Restricted for:

Economic development

See Notes to Financial Statements.

September 30, 2020

Total Assets

Total Liabilities

Total Fund Balance
Total Liabilities and Fund Balance

112

Stephenville
Economic
Development
Authority

Iltem 4.

$ 891,896

110,341

$ 1,002,237

$ 24,937

6,450

31,387

970,850

970,850

$ 1,002,237
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City of Stephenville, Texas

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT
September 30, 2020

Fund Balance $ 970,850

Adjustments for the Statement of Net Position:

Deferred outflows of resources, represent a consumption of net position that applies
to a future period(s) and is not recognized as an outflow of resources (expenditure)

until then.
Deferred pension outflows 58,015
Deferred OPEB outflows 1,493

Deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future

period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.
Deferred pension inflows (75,231)
Deferred OPEB inflows (51)

Some liabilities, including bonds payable and deferred charges, are not reported as
liabilities in the governmental funds.

Compensated absences (10,964)
Net pension asset 47,572
OPEB liability (11,191)

Net Position of the Discretely Presented Component Unit  §$ 980,493

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNIT
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Stephenville
Economic
Development
Authority
Revenues
Sales tax $ 540,078
Investment income 7,379
Total Revenues 547,457
Expenditures
Current:
Economic development 434,274
Total Expenditures 434,274
Net Change in Fund Balance 113,183
Beginning fund balance 857,667
Ending Fund Balance $ 970,850

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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City of Stephenville, Texas
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF THE DISCRETELY PRESENTED

COMPONENT UNIT TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Net changes in fund balance $ 113,183
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current

financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in
governmental funds.

Pension expense (5,100)

Other post employment benefits (468)

Compensated absences (2,310)
Change in Net Position of the Discretely Presented Component Unit $ 105,305

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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Item 4.

STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the City's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a
context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and

required supplementary information says about the City's overall financial health.
Contents Page

Financial Trends 119

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City’s financial

performance and well-being have changed over time.
Revenue Capacity 129

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most significant local revenue

sources.
Debt Capacity 137

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City’s current levels of
outstanding debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.

Demographic and Economic Information 143

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment

within which the City’s financial activities take place.

Operating Information 147

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in

the City’s financial report relates to the services the City provides and the activities it performs.
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Governmental activities:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted

Unrestricted

Total governmental activities net position

Business-type activities:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted

Unrestricted

Total business-type activities net position

Primary government:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted

Unrestricted

Total primary government net position

Source: City Audited Financials.

City of Stephenville, Texas

NET POSITION BY COMPONENT
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

(accrual basis of accounting)

Item 4.

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
16,605,859 17,500,689 $ 17,032,179 $ 18,024,389 $ 18,038,284 19,789,241 19,963,873 20,176,273 20,416,468 21,847,814
420,877 450,527 870,780 523,019 427,493 593,600 581,054 2,621,264 2,008,149 1,976,474
8,156,696 7,680,873 8,355,906 9,150,340 8,142,434 5,976,217 5,115,547 7,993,562 9,080,813 11,139,622
25,183,432 25,632,089 $ 26,258,865 $ 27,697,748 $ 26,608,211 26,359,058 25,660,474 30,791,099 31,505,430 34,963,910
26,538,623 28,438,665 $ 30,014,882 $ 32,099,918 $ 33,151,854 34,339,443 36,926,841 38,174,605 43,079,879 45,293,731
714,547 842,224 2,706,411 1,023,271 1,019,719 1,054,111 1,456,900 2,477,403 1,045,392 1,089,229
5,548,656 5,243,744 3,030,924 4,112,342 4,382,362 4,795,330 4,810,634 5,312,381 5,031,805 5,554,561
32,801,826 34,524,633 $ 35,752,217 $ 37,235531 $ 38553935 40,188,884 43,194,375 45,964,389 49,157,076 51,937,521
43,144,482 45,939,354 $ 47,047,061 $ 50,124,307 $ 51,190,138 54,128,684 56,890,714 58,350,878 63,496,347 67,141,545
1,135,424 1,292,751 3,577,191 1,546,290 1,447,212 1,647,711 2,037,954 5,098,667 3,053,541 3,065,703
13,705,352 12,924,617 11,386,830 13,262,682 12,524,796 10,771,547 9,926,181 13,305,943 14,112,618 16,694,183
57,985,258 60,156,722 $ 62,011,082 $  64,933279 $ 65162146 66,547,942 68,854,849 76,755,488 80,662,506 86,901,431
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EXPENSES

Governmental activities:
General government
Culture and recreation
Community development
Public Safety
Streets
Interest on long-term debt

Total governmental activities expenses

Business-type activities:
Water & Wastewater
Storm water drainage
Airport
Sanitary landfill

Total business-type activities expenses

City of Stephenville, Texas

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

(accrual basis of accounting)

Item 4.

Total primary government program revenues $

PROGRAM REVENUES
Governmental activities:
Charges for services:
General Government
Culture and recreation
Community development
Public Safety
Streets
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions

Total governmental activities expenses

Business-type activities:
Charges for services:
Water and Wastewater
Storm water drainage
Municipal airport
Sanitary landfill
Operating grants and contributions
Capital grants and contributions

Total business-type activities program revenues

Total primary government program revenues

Source: City Audited Financials.

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
$ 1,374,221 1,518,207 $ 2,076,100 2,353,191 $ 1922897 $ 2004366 $ 1,999,694 $ 2271044 $ 2,555641 $ 2512975
2,522,284 2,509,599 2,157,175 2,037,539 1,705,654 2,254,963 2,457,781 2,467,345 2,402,357 2,254,992
374,335 433,360 521,710 444,401 471,855 980,992 1,031,830 486,602 588,612 493,019
6,274,700 6,496,290 6,786,524 6,948,549 7,879,067 7,929,307 8,617,164 8,561,797 8,885,222 9,637,871
1,479,381 1,567,117 1,432,818 1,274,173 1,462,172 1,604,054 1,566,786 1,507,920 1,644,724 1,501,306
97,809 151,197 128,398 108,289 77,063 68,008 100,245 107,588 124,539 530,646
12,122,730 12,675,770 13,102,725 13,166,142 13,518,708 14,841,690 15,773,500 15,402,296 16,201,095 16,930,809
4,846,996 4,833,953 5,018,940 5,237,160 5,326,721 5,690,857 5,688,473 5,032,780 5,508,559 5,234,741
600,859 562,207 535,056 528,208 558,501 505,829 546,509 415,779 593,199 550,783
313,982 313,978 282,952 305,179 395,474 442,822 465,063 542,252 178,613 178,661
160,803 181,904 183,145 193,368 207,538 224,233 256,121 194,000 579,206 599,166
5,922,640 5,892,042 6,020,093 6,263,915 6,488,234 6,863,741 6,956,166 6,184,811 6,859,577 6,563,351
18,045,370 18,567,812 $ 19,122,818 19,430,057 $ 20,006942 $ 21,705,431 $ 22729666 $ 21,587,107 $ 23,060,672 $ 23,494,160
$ 216,870 219,082 $ 217,686 205,782 % 22,648 % 8274 % 5704 % 11,141 $ 12,722 $ 3,600
338,662 363,650 346,442 288,540 321,565 377,192 347,603 289,065 313,847 245,570
249,501 193,592 413,762 265,863 217,805 320,353 215,731 245,391 474,426 321,774
893,207 1,077,514 959,364 1,073,838 989,630 817,156 721,112 664,449 1,056,364 875,103
24,419 95,954 30,443 28,170 42,749 15,567 15,352 20,836 30,442 614
40,015 29,142 53,796 63,038 147,200 160,504 514,199 219,853 238,763 935,242
258,933 159,402 188,262 3,654 3,596 49,905 170,239 49,672 1,478,520
2,021,607 2,138,336 2,021,493 2,113,493 1,745,251 1,702,642 1,869,606 1,620,974 2,176,236 3,860,423
$ 6,147,606 6,055,936 $ 6,443,152 6,708,108 $ 6485177 $ 7,014,095 $ 7264479 $ 7,596,037 $ 7762515 $  8152,610
591,326 604,231 620,595 618,993 611,827 632,583 629,673 657,356 646,904 638,126
76,015 93,493 110,200 104,440 107,544 111,088 107,484 108,097 111,927 110,919
277,985 200,546 297,650 457,086 955,391 856,649 665,681 628,731 863,829 1,113,634

5,184 7,868 - - - 17,857 7,086 - - -
528,471 813,212 27,652 109,614 175,651 48,054 1,672,182 175,274 316,254 287,600
7,626,587 7,775,286 7,499,249 7,998,241 8,335,590 8,680,326 10,346,585 9,165,495 9,701,429 10,302,889
$ 9,648,194 9,913,622 $ 9,520,742 10,111,734  $ 10,080,841 $ 10,382,968 $ 12,216,191 $ 10,786,469 $ 11,877,665 $ 14,163,312
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2011 2012

City of Stephenville, Texas

CHANGES IN NET POSITION (Continued)
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

(accrual basis of accounting)

2013 2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Item 4.

2020

NET (EXPENSE) REVENUES

Governmental activities $( 10,101,123)  $( 10,537,434)

$( 11,081,232) $( 11,052,649)

$( 11,773,457)

$( 13,139,048)

$( 13,903,894)

$( 13,781,322)

$( 14,024,859)

$( 13,070,386)

Business-type activities 1,703,947 1,883,244 1,479,156 1,734,326 1,847,356 1,816,585 3,390,419 2,980,684 2,841,852 3,739,538
Total primary government net expense ~ (_ 8,397,176) ( 8,654,190) ( 9,602,076) ( 9,318,323) (9,926,101) ( 11,322,463) (_10,513,475) (__10,800,638) (_ 11,183,007) (_9,330,848)
GENERAL REVENUES AND OTHER CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Governmental activities:
Taxes
Property -general purposes 3,595,948 3,787,828 4,049,755 4,321,370 4,386,134 4,715,959 4,806,351 5,286,326 5,577,304 6,067,879
Property -debt services 526,519 593,543 589,867 595,444 576,847 484,490 481,603 492 536 465,640 256,240
Sales 4,616,312 5,191,213 5,281,663 5,485,705 5,718,579 5,285,142 5,264,443 5,644,834 5,943,343 5,940,857
Franchise 1,120,678 1,122,934 1,097,564 1,166,503 1,525,602 1,501,457 1,381,186 1,199,890 1,317,544 1,276,928
Other 363,645 393,461 374,806 450,456 502,017 480,036 515,043 474,199 510,185 398,706
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 12,159 10,056 110,122 16,162 30,274 - - -
Investment earnings 13,517 14,651 11,546 6,157 5,990 52,123 68,163 139,025 264,034 115,763
Insurance Proceeds - - - - 63,740 58,576 18,537 - - -
Miscellaneous 26,870 18,320 35,902 100,731 164,842 37,080 135,230 153,598 260,645 1,030,088
Transfers ( 137,203) 21,161 256,849 255,044 208,824 258,870 504,479 750,852 400,495 1,442,405
Special item - change in employee benefits - - - - - - - 5,110,168 - -
Total governmental activities 10,138,445 11,143,111 11,708,008 12,491,532 13,152,575 12,889,895 13,205,309 19,251,428 14,739,190 16,528,866
Business-type activities:
Investment earnings 5,151 7,716 6,780 4,032 4,891 23,477 49,082 118,108 501,577 195,341
Gain on Sale of Capital Assets 17,106 8,630 ( 1,600) - -
Miscellaneous - - ( 1,504) 33,292 45,127 72,069 106,639 249,753 287,971
Transfers 137,203 ( 21,161) ( 256,849) ( 255,044) ( 208,824) ( 258,870) ( 504,479) ( 750,852) ( 400,495) ( 1,442,405)
Total business-type activities 142,354 ( 13,445) ( 251,573) ( 251,012) ( 153,535) ( 181,636) ( 384,928) ( 526,105) 350,835 ( 959,093)
Total primary government 10,280,799 11,129,666 11,456,435 12,240,520 12,999,040 12,708,259 12,820,381 18,725,323 15,090,025 15,569,773
CHANGE IN NET POSITION
Governmental activities 37,322 605,677 626,776 1,438,883 1,379,118 ( 249,153) ( 698,585) 5,470,106 714,331 3,458,480
Business-type activities 1,846,301 1,869,799 1,227,583 1,483,314 1,693,821 1,634,949 3,005,491 2,454,579 3,192,687 2,780,445
Total primary government $ 1883623 $ 2475476 $ 1,854,359 $ 2922197  $ 3,072,939 $ 1,385,796 $ 2,306,906 $ 7,924,685 $ 3,907,018 $ 6238925

Source: City Audited Financials.
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Iltem 4.

City of Stephenville, Texas

FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
General fund
Reserved $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Unreserved - - - - - - - - - -
Nonspendable 18,836 17,399 19,417 10,995 7,016 20,955 8,760 11,609 5,563 3,962
Assigned/committed 3,750,000 1,989,442 2,400,000 3,000,000 3,000,000 1,150,000 950,609 950,609 579,402 534,754
Unassigned 3,779,268 5,113,489 5,246,245 5,868,872 6,786,574 7,154,643 7,132,272 7,288,833 8,755,397 9,576,401

Total general fund $ 7548104 $ 7120330 $ 7665662 $ 8879867 $ 9793590 $ 8325598 $ 8,091,641 $ 8251051 $ 9340362 $ 10,115,117

All other governmental funds
Reserved
Debt service funds $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Unreserved, reported in:
Special revenue funds - - - - - - - - - -
Capital projects funds - - - - - - - - - -

Restricted 424,194 4,206,447 1,201,698 824,262 702,559 434,914 365,349 488,158 512,308 634,666
Assigned/commited 486,235 529,093 416,371 416,371 416,727 417,929 415,743 442,063 544,571 13,654,954
Total all other

governmental funds $ 910429 $ 4735540 $ 1618069 $ 1,240,633 $ 1119286 $ 852,843 % 781,092 % 930,221 $ 1,056,879 $ 14,289,620

Note:
The City implemented GASB Statement 54 in fiscal year 2011. Prior year balances have not been restated to conform to GASB Statement 54.

Source: City Audited Financials.
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REVENUES
Taxes
Charges for services
Licenses, fees and permits
Fines and penalties
Intergovernmental
Investment earnings

Miscellaneous

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
General government
Culture and recreation
Community development
Public Safety
Streets
Capital outlay
Debt service

Principal
Interest
Bond Issuance Costs

Advance Refunding Escrow

Total expenditures
EXCESS OF REVENUES

OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Debt issued

Premium on Bonds
Discount on Bonds

Sale of Fixed Assets
Proceeds from insurance
Transfers in

Transfers out

Total other financing sources (uses)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES

DEBT SERVICE AS A PERCENTAGE
OF NONCAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Source: City Audited Financials.

City of Stephenville, Texas

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)
(modified accrual basis of accounting)

Item 4.

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
$ 10251019 $ 11,062,514 $ 11,394,371 $ 12,014,282 $ 12733241 $ 12455045 $ 12,460,952 $ 13,089,387 $ 13,824,745 $ 13,956,935
1,076,971 1,291,337 1,198,408 1,131,850 1,111,193 1,022,624 958,249 978,973 1,219,100 955,616
295,075 318,899 361,236 294,084 258,384 186,925 143,903 246,891 434,132 321,774
255,269 182,517 398,093 261,126 227,979 316,343 210,015 147,598 97,480 82,567
147,510 233,670 65,465 127,751 200,634 218,054 613,744 344,358 367,463 1,012,110
13,517 14,651 11,546 6,157 5,990 52,123 68,163 139,025 264,034 115,763
37,977 18,189 75,550 103,838 167,941 40,054 135,230 150,649 269,704 1,066,400
12,077,338 13,121,777 13504669 13,939,088 14705362 14291168 14590256 15096881 16476658 17,511,165
1,319,243 1,504,855 1,997,675 2,289,098 1,922,184 1,904,340 1,870,697 2,145,014 2,407,281 2,409,994
2,189,768 2,268,386 1,859,640 1,795,809 1,853,439 1,936,112 2,104,892 2,163,873 2,081,327 1,939,211
367,228 414,769 514,474 419,054 456,196 968,197 1,003,655 485,280 558,878 482,507
6,084,813 6,210,892 6,410,938 6,725,152 7,668,000 7,428,899 7,820,377 8,066,721 7,926,014 8,966,480
937,367 968,236 920,417 780,006 968,092 997,520 818,913 768,153 852,360 773,640
889,326 1,793,507 4,076,340 985,179 859,897 3,053,778 1,532,290 1,480,185 2,338,141 2,181,502
420,000 440,000 455,000 465,000 505,000 415,000 469,243 560,879 746,898 483,490
98,117 139,305 126,693 120,261 77,845 66,375 85,322 107,099 104,230 258,261
- 45,000 5,312 11,027 - - - - - 262,595

- - 382,370 1,323,441 - - - - - -
12,305,862 13784950 16748859 14914027 14310653 16,770,221 15705389 15777204  17,015129 17,757,680
$( 208524) $( 663,173) $( 3,0244190) $(  974939) $ 394709 $( 2,479,053) $( 1,115133) $(  680,323) $(  538471) $(  246,515)
- 4,000,000 370,000 1,336,841 - - - 215,371 1,333,310 11,860,000
- - 22,904 - - - - - - 1,021,005

- - ( 2,651) - 113,938 349,833 168,051 - - -
27,316 27,851 24,950 219,822 11,165 77,340 118,358 22,639 20,635 21,498

5,502 11,498 - - 63,740 58,576 18,537 - - -
292,052 741,161 506,849 1,196,840 208,824 633,870 729,968 1,666,068 2,036,185 2,513,977
( 429255) (720,000 (  250,000) (  941,796) - 375000) (  225489) (  915216) ( 1,635690) ( 1,071,572)
( 104,385) 4,060,510 672,052 1,811,707 397,667 744,619 809,425 988,862 1,754,440 14,344,908
$( 332,909) $ 3,397,337 $( 2572,138) $ 836768 $ 792376 $( 1,734434) $(  305708) $ 308539 $ 1215969 $ 14,098,393
45% 5.2% 7.6% 13.8% 43% 3.5% 3.9% 47% 5.8% 6.4%
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ASSESSED VALUE AND ESTIMATED ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

City of Stephenville, Texas

Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Item 4.

Estimated Taxable Assessed
Less: Total Taxable Total Actual Value as a

Tax Fiscal Residential Commercial Industrial Tax-exempt Assessed Direct Taxable Percentage of
Year Year Property Property Property Property Value Tax Rate Value Actual Taxable Value
2010 2010-2011 546,372,660 514,213,740 $ 127,553,350 302,938,397 $ 885,201,353 0.460 $ 885,201,353 100%

2011 2011-2012 555,032,740 511,780,800 148,096,980 317,517,724 897,392,796 0.4850 897,392,796 100%

2012 2012-2013 561,570,020 546,842,640 225,183,450 384,611,442 948,984,668 0.4850 948,984,668 100%

2013 2013-2014 567,670,640 562,727,447 297,556,973 441,606,152 986,348,908 0.4950 986,348,908 100%

2014 2014-2015 601,105,080 750,961,010 245,239,590 590,694,529 1,006,611,151 0.4900 1,006,611,151 100%

2015 2015-2016 636,597,500 768,186,520 268,319,490 609,847,714 1,063,255,796 0.4900 1,063,255,796 100%

2016 2016-2017 657,717,227 785,853,463 259,118,010 627,870,983 1,074,817,717 0.4900 1,074,817,717 100%

2017 2017-2018 753,358,500 824,711,040 245,604,310 617,069,492 1,206,604,358 0.4800 1,206,604,358 100%

2018 2018-2019 776,693,310 841,695,300 304,695,430 651,711,851 1,271,372,189 0.4750 1,271,372,189 100%

2019 2019-2020 826,226,780 883,238,110 346,709,950 675,346,485 1,380,828,355 0.4700 1,380,828,355 100%

Source: Erath County Appraisal District.
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Iltem 4.

City of Stephenville, Texas

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING PROPERTY TAX RATES
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

City Direct Rates Overlapping Rates
General Middle Total
Obligation Total Stephenville Trinity Direct and

Tax Fiscal Basic Debt Direct School Water Erath Overlapping
Year Year Rate Service Rate District District County Rates
2010 2010-2011 $ 0.4015 $ 0.0585 $ 0.4600 $ 1.1470 $ 0.0150 $ 0.4500 $ 2.0720
2011 2011-2012 0.4194 0.0656 0.4850 1.1700 0.0150 0.4700 2.1400
2012 2012-2013 0.4235 0.0615 0.4850 1.1940 0.0145 0.4700 2.1635
2013 2013-2014 0.4357 0.0593 0.4950 1.2170 0.0125 0.4700 2.1945
2014 2014-2015 0.4330 0.0570 0.4900 1.2349 0.0120 0.4700 2.2069
2015 2015-2016 0.4450 0.0450 0.4900 1.2349 0.0115 0.4700 2.2064
2016 2016-2017 0.4454 0.0446 0.4900 1.2349 0.0112 0.4700 2.2061
2017 2017-2018 0.4391 0.0409 0.4800 1.2349 0.0103 0.4700 2.1952
2018 2018-2019 0.4384 0.0366 0.4750 1.3429 0.0097 0.4458 2.2734
2019 2019-2020 0.4512 0.0188 0.4700 1.2729 0.0097 0.4560 2.2086

Source:  Erath County Tax Office

Notes:  The City's basic property tax rate may be increased only by a majority vote of the City's residents. Rates for debt service are set based
on each vear's requirements.

Overlapping rates are those of local and county governmentsthat apply to property owners within the City of Stephenville, Texas.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAX PAYERS
Current and Nine Years Ago (Unaudited)

Tax Year 2019 Tax Year 2010
Percentage Percentage
of Total City of Total City
Taxable Taxable Taxable Taxable
Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed
Taxpayer Value Value Value Value

FMC Company $ 121,995,212 1 8.83% $ 37,355,452 1 4.22%
Mustang Ranch 20,246,840 2 1.47% - - %
Stephenville Campus Crest 17,650,170 3 1.28% 11,872,640 3 1.34%
FMC Technologies 16,571,850 4 1.20% - - %
NJH Investment Corp 16,252,160 5 1.18% - - %
DB Bosque LLC 13,294,130 6 0.96% - - %
Oncor Electric Delivery 12,891,620 7 0.93% 7,569,510 7 0.86%
Bosque River Center Realty 10,013,350 8 0.73% - - %
Tejas Tubular Inc. 9,983,929 9 0.72% - - %
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. #1 9,484,280 10 0.69% 8,737,210 5 0.99%
Bosque River Associates - - % 8,118,020 6 0.92%
Stephenville Student Housing LP - - % 8,956,830 4 1.01%
Saint Gobain Abrasives #2 - - % - - %
United Telephone Company (Century - - % 6,928,430 8 0.78%
Wilmington Trust (Wal-Mart #2) - - % 6,000,730 9 0.68%
Saint Gobain Abrasives #1 - - % 16,632,836 2 1.88%
Subtotal $ 248,383,541 17.99% $ 112,171,658 12.68%
Remaining Roll 1,132,444,814 82.01% 773,029,695 87.32%
Total $  1,380,828,355 100.00% $ 885,201,353 100.00%

Source: Erath County Appraisal District State Property Tax Board Report.

132

Iltem 4.

149




City of Stephenville, Texas

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Iltem 4.

Collected With the
Taxes Levied Fiscal Year of the Levy Collections Total Collections to Date

Tax Fiscal for the Percentage in Subsequent Percentage Outstanding

Year Year Fiscal Year Amount of Levy Years Amount of Levy as of 9/30/20

2010 2010-2011 $ 4,059,655 $ 4,007,449 98.71% 50,771 $ 4,058,220 99.96% 1,435
2011 2011-2012 4,343,596 4,302,513 99.05% 39,036 4,341,549 99.95% 2,047
2012 2012-2013 4,594,127 4,554,491 99.14% 37,568 4,592,059 99.95% 2,068
2013 2013-2014 4,868,772 4,820,901 99.02% 45,725 4,866,626 99.96% 2,146
2014 2014-2015 4,914,157 4,889,253 99.49% 19,925 4,909,178 99.90% 4,979
2015 2015-2016 5,173,332 5,130,875 99.18% 34,198 5,165,073 99.84% 8,259
2016 2016-2017 5,250,713 5,204,383 99.12% 41,644 5,246,027 99.91% 4,686
2017 2017-2018 5,774,003 5,718,051 99.03% 48,287 5,766,338 99.87% 7,664
2018 2018-2019 6,039,572 5,993,621 99.24% 35,932 6,029,553 99.83% 10,019
2019 2019-2020 6,490,160 6,458,237 99.51% - 6,458,237 99.51% 31,923

Sources: Erath County Appraisal District and Erath County Tax Assessor-Collector.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

TAXABLE SALES BY CATEGORY
Last Ten Calendar Years (Unaudited)

Item 4.

Category 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Services $ 82499237 $ 80,715109 $ 43,434,651 $ 49,560,842 $ 46,989,186 $ 41,651,657 $ 40,241,475 $ 63,727,628 $ 59,351,380 $ 60,613,525
Misc Retail 50,223,257 57,031,030 51,246,891 52,221,686 54,975,621 54,751,164 54,321,288 50,773,645 52,220,824 53,686,867
Eat/Drink Places 45,659,353 48,634,297 51,945,376 55,015,006 60,296,991 57,700,419 68,762,227 70,136,317 75,769,971 72,885,265
Hospitality and Leisure 56,992,190 60,118,426 64,408,646 66,313,220 53,981,331 72,606,172 78,151,316 83,181,730
HomeFurnishings 13,494,549 13,893,238 7,144,077 7,209,200 7,246,403 6,660,673 6,162,365 7,046,159 7,604,974 8,387,888
Apparel Stores 8,174,834 8,341,058 8,639,294 8,799,575 10,578,892 10,324,254 10,257,542 9,645,246 11,823,407 12,760,079
Automotive Stores 83,707,882 92,836,643 115,540,159 113,933,329 123,712,193 115,703,501 107,067,897 144,126,333 116,799,945 113,763,645
Food Stores 49,273,894 57,733,375 56,734,012 57,179,417 59,377,144 63,577,869 59,091,905 59,400,532 66,271,975 72,885,265
General Merchandise 114,441,489 121,061,076 120,479,906 120,780,721 123,134,874 126,719,228 121,170,557 123,107,302 117,640,631 118,089,721
Building/Garden
Supplies 27,131,515 28,142,214 27,030,238 28,455,504 31,727,307 37,693,956 35,695,603 36,386,966 36,761,366 34,781,537
Wholesale Trade 53,330,189 54,781,219 53,509,172 47,091,948 45,902,673 48,009,817 46,967,803 51,525,032 57,421,775 62,100,066
Manufacturing 24,080,368 20,743,984 23,103,447 27,220,571 51,074,808 44,597,329 36,916,496 41,376,240 45,379,899 54,485,728
Construction 26,360,348 24,673,453 20,487,172 23,399,150 29,565,160 39,838,703 36,567,165 32,516,125 42,457,584 32,014,392
Other 18,688,413 20,498,610 24,770,674 31,521,635 29,361,821 42,437,131 32,920,411 37,214,389 37,851,430 31,426,794
Agriculture 192,638 310,294 227,301 346,309 157,377 131,950 87,089 - - -

Total $ 597,257,966 $ 629,395,600 $ 661,284,560 $ 682,853,319  $ 738,509,096 $ 756,110,871 $ 710,211,154 $ 799,588,086  $ 805,506,477 $ 811,062,502

Direct Sales Tax Rate

1.500()

1.500()

Source: Office of the Comptroller of the State of Texas

1.500()

1.500()

1.500()

135

1.500()

1.500()

1.500()

1.500()

1.500()

152




City of Stephenville, Texas
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING SALES TAX RATES

Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Iltem 4.

Sales Tax
General Sales Tax for Economic/
Municipal for Property Industrial Dev
Sales Tax Tax Relief Sec 4B
2011 1.00% 0.50% -
2012 1.00% 0.50% -
2013 1.00% 0.50% -
2014 1.00% 0.50% -
2015 1.00% 0.50% -
2016 1.000% 0.375% 0.125%
2017 1.000% 0.375% 0.125%
2018 1.000% 0.375% 0.125%
2019 1.000% 0.375% 0.125%
2020 1.000% 0.375% 0.125%

Source: Texas Comptroller.
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Governmental Activities

City of Stephenville, Texas

RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE

Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Business-type Activities

Iltem 4.

General Certificates Unamortized Water Certificates Unamortized Total Percentage

Fiscal Obligation of Premiums  Capital Revenue of Premiums Capital Primary of Personal Per
Year Bonds Obligation = (Discounts) Leases Bonds Obligation (Discounts) Leases Government Income Capita
2011 - $ 2,185,000 - - $ 840,000 $ 19,921,865 - 194,121 $ 23,140,986 4.39% 1,324
2012 - 5,745,000 - - 430,000 18,597,865 - 99,661 24,872,526 4.43% 1,360
2013 360,000 4,940,000 19,746 - 4,315,000 12,737,850 239,090 - 22,611,686 3.73% 1,157
2014 1,500,000 3,340,000 18,734 - 9,385,000 6,851,841 220,290 - 21,315,865 3.17% 1,098
2015 1,155,000 3,180,000 17,721 113,938 8,895,000 5,350,850 210,978 3,161,834 22,085,321 3.24% 1,129
2016 905,000 3,015,000 16,709 436,510 8,390,000 3,774,827 198,922 2,833,134 19,570,101 2.55% 904
2017 610,000 2,920,000 14,683 525,318 6,720,000 5,568,827 186,866 3,131,370 19,677,064 2.38% 896
2018 310,000 2,855,000 13,671 544,810 5,040,000 22,340,000 174,811 2,028,635 33,306,927 3.78% 1,495
2019 - 2,785,000 12,659 1,511,222 3,325,000 22,100,000 162,757 1,730,829 31,627,467 3.45% 1,396
2020 - 14,465,000 1,007,127 1,207,732 3,250,000 20,860,000 150,700 1,415,018 42,355,577 N/A 1,829

Notes: See page 139 for personal income and population data. These ratios are calculated using personal income and population for the prior calendar year.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

General Bonded Debt Outstanding

RATIOS OF NET GENERAL BONDED DEBT OUTSTANDING
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Percentage of

Iltem 4.

General Actual Taxable
Fiscal Obligation Certificates of Value of Per
Year Bonds Obligations Total Property Capita
2011 - $ 2,185,000 $ 2,185,000 0.25% 125
2012 - 5,745,000 5,745,000 0.64% 314
2013 379,746 4,940,000 5,319,746 0.56% 275
2014 1,518,734 3,340,000 4,858,734 0.49% 250
2015 1,172,721 3,180,000 4,352,721 0.43% 223
2016 921,709 3,015,000 3,936,709 0.37% 182
2017 624,683 2,920,000 3,544,683 0.33% 161
2018 323,671 2,855,000 3,178,671 0.26% 143
2019 12,659 2,785,000 2,797,659 0.22% 123
2020 11,645 15,460,482 15,472,127 1.12% 668
Notes:

Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

See page 125 for property value data.

Population data can be found on page 139.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES DEBT
As of September 30, 2020 (Unaudited)

Iltem 4.

Estimated
Share of
Estimated Direct and
Debt Percentage Overlapping
Government Unit Outstanding Applicable Debt
Debt repaid with property taxes:
Overlapping
Stephenville Independent School District $ 81,715,333 70.91% 57,944,343
Erath County $ 2,330,000 37.77% 880,041
Subtotal, overlapping debt 58,824,384
Direct
City of Stephenville $ 16,679,859 100.00% 16,679,859
Total Direct and Overlapping Debt 75,504,243

Sources:

Assessed value data used to estimate applicable percentages provided by the Erath County
Appraisal District and Assessment Debt outstanding data provided by each governmental

unit.

Notes:

Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic
boundaries of the City. This schedule estimates the portion of the outstanding debt of
those overlapping governments that is borne by the residents and businesses of the City of
Stephenville. This process recognizes that, when considering the City's ability to issue and
repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and businesses should
be taken into account. However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident--and

therefore responsible for repaying the debt--of each overlapping government.

139

156




(This page intentionally left blank.)

140

Item 4.

157




City of Stephenville, Texas
LEGAL DEBT MARGIN INFORMATION

Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)
(amounts expressed in thousands)

Iltem 4.

Tax Year 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Fiscal year 2019-2020 2018-2019 2017-2018 2016-2017 2015-2016 2014-2015 2013-2014 2012-2013 2011-2012 2010-2011
Debt limit $ 157,749 $ 145,165 $ 135,754 $ 124,250 $ 122,554 $ 116,345 $ 116,885 $ 107,470 $ 98,743 $ 96,046
Total net debt applicable to limit 15,257 2,591 2,981 3,389 3,793 4,213 4,718 5,191 5,627 2,083
Legal debt margin $ 142,491 $ 142,574 $ 132,773 $ 120,861 $ 118,762 $ 112,132 $ 112,167 $ 102,279 $ 93,116 $ 93,963
Total net debt applicable to limit

asa percentage Of debt limit 1.78% 2.20% 2.73% 3.09% 362%) 404%) 4.83% 5.70% 217%)

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2020

Assessed value

$ 1,380,828

Add back: exempt real property 196,657
Total assessed value 1,577,486
Debt limit (10% of total assessed value) 157,749
Debt applicable to limit:

General obligation 15,472

Less: Amount set aside for repayment of

general obligation debt (215)

Total net debt applicable to limit 15,257

Legal debt margin $ 142,491

Note: There is no direct debt limitation in the City Charter or under state law. The City operates under a Home

Rule Charter (Article XI, Section 5, Texas Constitution), that limits the maximum tax rate, for all city purposes, to

$2.50 per $100 assessed valuation. Administratively, the Attorney General of the State of Texas will permit

allocation of $1.50 of the $2.50 maximum tax rate for general obligation debt service.

Source: City of Stephenville, TX and Erath County Appraisal District.
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City of Stephenville, Texas
PLEDGED-REVENUE COVERAGE

Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Water and Wastewater Revenue Bonds

Iltem 4.

Utility Less: Net
Fiscal Service Operating Available Debt Service
Year Charges Expenses Revenue Principal Interest Coverage
2011 $ 6,147,606 3,106,016 $ 3,041,590 $  1,668000 $ 865,248 1.20
2012 6,055,936 3,106,535 2,949,401 1,734,000 800,432 1.16
2013 6,443,151 3,282,484 3,160,667 1,810,000 613,073 1.30
2014 6,700,902 3,491,792 3,209,110 1,866,000 608,919 1.30
2015 6,485,177 3,631,614 2,853,563 1,986,000 459,292 1.17
2016 7,014,095 4,115,398 2,898,697 2,076,000 351,427 1.19
2017 7,264,479 4,095,335 3,169,144 1,911,000 319,806 1.42
2018 7,694,695 3,022,451 4,672,244 1,938,827 331,249 2.06
2019 7,962,268 3,917,609 4,044,659 1,955,000 424,112 1.70
2020 8,322,481 3,741,298 4,581,183 1,315,000 410,304 2.66
Notes: Operating expenses do not include interest, depreciation, or amortization expenses.
Source City CAFR.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Per Capita
Calendar Personal Personal School College  Unemployment

Year Population Income Income Enrollment Enrollment Rate

2011 17,480 $ 527,459,000 $ 30,175 3,584 9,575 6.5%
2012 18,290 561,832,220 30,718 3,702 10,227 5.2%
2013 19,320 605,469,480 31,339 3,731 10,903 5.5%
2014 19,410 672,265,350 34,635 3,656 11,681 4.7%
2015 19,560 681,626,880 34,848 3,702 12,396 3.8%
2016 21,640 767,938,680 35,487 3,614 12,333 4.7%
2017 21,950 827,668,650 37,707 3,671 13,052 3.9%
2018 22,280 881,664,160 39,572 3,711 13,019 3.2%
2019 22,660 916,868,920 40,462 3,842 13,226 3.1%
2020 23,160 n/a n/a 3,659 14,022 5.8%

Sources: Population estimate provided by the North Central Texas Council of Governments. Personal income

data provided by the U.S. Census Bureau of Economic Analysis. Unemployment rate data provided by

the Texas Workforce Commision. School enrollment data provided by the Stephenville Independent
School District and Tarleton State University.

Note: Per capita personal income was computed using Census Bureau midyear population estimates.

Estimates for 2010-2018 reflect county population estimates available as of March 2019. Personal

income is not available for 2019.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

Current and Nine Years Ago (Unaudited)

Iltem 4.

2020 2011

Percentage Percentage

of Total City of Total City

Employer Employees  Rank Employment Employees Rank Employmen
Tarleton State University 1,297 1 6.48% 1,166 1 6.54%
FMC Company 735 2 3.67% 790 2 4.43%
Scheiber Foods 500 3 2.50% 341 5 1.91%
Stephenville Independent School District 475 4 2.37% 236 7 1.32%
Saint Gobain Abrasives 470 5 2.35% 477 3 2.68%
Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. 350 6 1.75% 460 4 2.58%
Texas Health Harris Methodist Stephenville 232 7 1.16% 279 6 1.56%
Western Dairy Transport 225 8 1.12% 150 10 0.84%
Erath County 215 9 1.07% 174 8 0.98%
City of Stephenville 164 10 0.82% - - %
Tejas Tubular (Caporal Forging) - - % 165 9 0.93%
Bruner Motors - - % 150 11 0.84%
Subtotal 4,663 23.30% 4,388 24.61%
Remaining Employers (County) 15,350 76.70% 13,443 75.39%
Total 20,013 100.00% 17,831 100.00%

Source: City Human Resources Department. Total employee data is provided by the State Department of Commerce

and Labor.

Notes:

Total employee information is based on entire Erath County. Principal employers are only those that

operate from within the corporate city limits of Stephenville.
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City of Stephenville, Texas
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT CITY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Iltem 4.

Function/Program 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
General government
Management services 4 4 4 4 4 5 5 5 8 9
Finance 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 9 9
Planning 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3
Building 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Other 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 3 2 2
Police
Officers 38 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39 39
Civilians 12 12 12 16 16 15 17 17 19 19
Fire
Firefighters and
. 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31 31
officers
Civilians - - - 1 1 1 1 1
Parks and recreation 13 13 13 13 13 12 14 14 14 14
Library 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 4 4 4
Streets 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
Water 13 13 13 13 13 16 15 15 15 15
Wastewater 5 5 5 5 5 5 6 6 6 6
Landfill 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3
Total 140 142 142 146 147 150 155 157 163 164

Source: Various City departments

Notes: A full time employee is scheduled to work 2080 hours per year (including vacation and sick leave).
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City of Stephenville, Texas

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTIONS/PROGRAM
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)

Item 4.

Function/Program 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
General government
Building permits issued 148 96 113 90 93 146 127 197 205 220
Building permits value $29,365,010  $11,174,610  $49,204,311 $19,061,275 $10,829,426 $41,143,042 $22,331,535 $24,569,365 $71,952,765 $21,765,542
Building inspections conducted
Police
Calls for service 17,278 11,166 10,566 9,836 14,631 12,378 12,044 13,785 15,369 15,135
Physical arrests 717 882 1,123 846 806 643 696 742 687 487
Parking violations (1) 401 417 520 258 467 858 830 177 130 407
Traffic violations 4,639 2,035 5,357 7,338 5,665 3,816 3,470 3,767 3,207 2,571
Fire
Ambulance responses 1,524 1,517 1,555 1,592 1,733 1,897 1,767 1,842 1,876 1,787
Fires responses 282 229 276 251 294 303 313 385 479 421
Inspections 316 289 551 456 444 400 393 392 293 455
Refuse collection
Refuse collected (tons) 15,538 16,930 18,393 21,729 22,494 21,676 19,229 19,689 21,092 20,873
Recyclables collected (tons per day)
Other public works
Street resurfacing (miles) 0.90 1.30 1.32 - - 17.90 8.77 10.62 10.38 -
Library
Volumes in collection 33,709 32,504 33,316 35,171 36,759 37,416 38,685 40,041 40,167 39,636
Total volumes borrowed 132 161 25 6 12 37 199 138 111 113
Water
Active connections 5,698 5,920 6,181 6,000 6,442 6,495 6,625 6,813 6,435 6,519
Water main breaks 70 80 47 59 57 39 30 23 45 38
Average daily consumption 2,447,000 2,115,000 2,107,000 1,983,000 1,945,000 1,997,000 1,932,000 2,117,000 1,893,000 2,000,000
(thousands of gallons)
Peak daily consumption 4,765,000 3,937,000 3,937,000 3,176,000 3,505,000 3,872,000 2,985,000 3,703,000 3,352,000 3,493,000
(thousands of gallons)
Wastewater
Average daily sewage treatme 1,395,000 1,610,000 1,453,000 1,433,000 1,444,000 1,720,000 1,380,000 1,310,000 1,667,000 1,368,000
(thousands of gallons)
WW Peak 2,716,000 4,494,000 3,158,000 2,737,000 7,106,000 9,350,000 6,597,000 6,800,000 7,220,000 3,560,000
Airport
Landings 3,655 3,637 3,574 3,384 3,233 3,008 2,862 2,765 2,879 2,825
Take-offs 3,657 3,631 3,572 3,383 3,239 3,010 2,862 2,765 2,878 2,826
Municipal Court
New cases (2) - - - - - - - - - 1,226
Disposed cases - - - - - - - - - 741

(1) 2009 through 2017 represents the calls for parking violations, which could be significantly higher than actual citations issued. Due to new software, 2018 represents
the actual citations issued for parking violations.

(2) The City of Stephenville contracted with Erath County Justice of the Peace precinct 1, 3, 4 for Municipal Court services until 9/30/19. The new cases for 2020
include cases transferred from the Justice of the Peace.

Source: Various City departments
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City of Stephenville, Texas

CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM
Last Ten Fiscal Years (Unaudited)
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Function/Program 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Police

Stations 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Patrol units 10 10 10 10 10 10 11 11 11 12
Fire

Stations 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Other public works

Streets (miles) 92 92 92 92 92 93 93 93 91 95

Highways (miles) 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 25

Streetlights 1,121 1,125 1,127 1,139 1,145 1,149 1,156 1,164 1,168 1,160
Parks and recreation

Acreage 130 130 130 130 130 142 142 142 140 147

Playgrounds 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 7 6

Baseball/softball diamonds 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11

Soccer/football fields 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 -

Skate park 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Outdoor aquatic center 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Community centers 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Water

Water mains (miles) 126 126 126 126 126 126 128 131 131 135

Fire hydrants 788 798 798 798 798 801 816 816 820 863

Storage capacity 5,750,000 5,750,000 5,750,000 5,750,000 5,750,000 5,750,000 5,750,000 5,750,000 5,750,000 5,750,000

(thousands of gallons)

Wastewater

Sanitary sewers (miles) 116 116 116 116 116 116 116 117 117 117

Storm sewers (miles) 10.5 10.5 10.5 10.5 10.5 10.5 10.5 10.5 10.5 3.2

Treatment capacity 9,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000 9,000,000

(thousands of gallons)

Source: Various City departments

Note: No capital asset indicators are available for the general government or library function
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OVERALL
COMPLIANCE AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE
AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Honorable Mayor and
Members of the City Council
City of Stephenville, Texas:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City of Stephenville, Texas (the “City”) as of and for the year ended September
30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated May 28, 2021.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal
control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies,
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit
attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described
in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given
these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over

14950 Heathrow Forest Pkwy | Suite 530 | Houston, TX 77032 | Tel: 281.907.8788 | Fax: 888.875.0587 | www.BrooksWatsonCo.com
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financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may
exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompli ance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Byt |korc Ca.

BrooksWatson & Co., PLLC
Certified Public Accountants
Houston, Texas

May 28, 2021
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City of Stephenville, Texas

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RESPONSES
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

I. SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS:

Financial Statements

Type of auditor’s report issued:

The auditor’s report on the basic financial statements of the City expresses an unmodified opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting:

Are any material weaknesses identified? Yes _X_No

Are any significant deficiencies identified not

considered to be material weaknesses? Yes X_ None Reported

Is any noncompliance material to financial
statements noted? _ Yes X_No

II. FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS:

None.
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City of Stephenville, Texas

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

SUMMARY OF PRIOR YEAR AUDIT FINDINGS:

None.
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L.

City of Stephenville, Texas

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN:

Not applicable.
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STAFF REPORT CS. lephenville
TEXAS

SUBIJECT: Case No.: CP2021-001

Applicant Justin Willis is requesting a Conditional Use Permit, pursuant to Section
154.05.03.C(1), for a Home Occupation as defined in Section 154.03,for property located at
1422 Prairie Wind, Parcel R31592, of GOLF COUNTY ESTATES ADDITION, BLOCK 4, LOT 5, of
the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas.

DEPARTMENT: Development Services
STAFF CONTACT: Steve Killen
RECOMMENDATION:

The Planning and Zoning Commission convened on June 16, 2021, and by a vote of 6/1, recommended the City
Council approve the Conditional Use Permit request.

BACKGROUND:

The applicant was recently contacted by the Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms (ATF) Division of the Federal
Government. Agent Dee Robinson requested assistance from the City of Stephenville and upon an on-site
inspection at the consent of the applicant, Agent Robinson suspended Mr. Willis’ license for the following:

1. Per Agent Robinson, any transaction involving firearm transfers must occur at the locale listed on the
licensee’s application and;
2. The licensee must comply with all local ordinances and regulations

The Zoning Code, Section 154.03, defines home occupation and lists criteria for compliance. The generation of
traffic to the neighborhood and inventory for sale are the criteria that have resulted in the application for a
Conditional Use in order to be compliant with ATF regulations.

CURRENT ZONING:

R-1 - Single Family

FUTURE LAND USE:

Single Family
ZONING

Sec. 154.05.3. Single-family residential district (R-1) (7,500 ft2).

5.3.A Description. This residential district provides for a generally lesser density city neighborhood development. The
primary land use allows for single-family dwelling development appropriate to a city-style neighborhood. Other uses
within this district shall contribute to the nature of the neighborhood. Development within this district is intended to
be separate from and protected from the encroachment of land activities that do not contribute to the esthetic and
functional well being of the intended district environment.

5.3.B Permitted Uses.
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(4)
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Single-family detached dwelling, limited to occupancy by a family having no more than three
individuals who are unrelated by blood, legal adoption, marriage or conservatorship. The owner and
any agent of the owner shall be legally responsible for directly or indirectly allowing, permitting,
causing or failing to prohibit residential use of a dwelling in this district by more than three unrelated
individuals;

Accessory buildings;

Churches, temple, mosques and related facilities;
Community home;

Park or playground; and

SISD school—pubilic.

5.3.C Conditional Uses.

(1)

Home occupation;

HOME OCCUPATION

Sec. 154.03 - Definitions.

Home occupation. An occupation carried on in a dwelling unit, or in an accessory building to a dwelling unit, by a
resident of the premises, which occupation is clearly incidental and secondary to the use of the premises zoned for
residential purposes. A home occupation must comply with all the following specific criteria:

(1) Home occupations shall be allowed without the necessity of a conditional use permit, if such uses relate solely
to the use of home areas as further detailed herein by the resident of the premises, and such use does not
create on-street parking, significant neighborhood traffic, or other disruption to the residential character of the
property.

(2) The occupation shall produce no alterations or change in the character appearance of the principal building
from that of a dwelling and no signage or advertisement of the home occupation or property address is allowed
in the yellow pages advertisements in a telephone directory nor via electronic media, or classified
advertisements of the property where the home occupation is being conducted.

(3) The occupation shall not require or provide for the employment of more than one additional person other than
members of the household in which the home occupation occurs.

(4) Not more than two business-related vehicles shall be present at one time, and the proprietor shall provide
adequate, paved off-street parking for such vehicles and customer vehicles on the property where the use is
located.

(5)  Such use shall be incidental and secondary to the use of the premises for residential purposes and shall not
utilize an area exceeding 20% of combined gross floor area of the dwelling units and accessory building used for
the home occupation and no outdoor/exterior storage (related to the home occupation) will be allowed.

(6) The occupation shall not violate any other rules or regulations in the Code of Ordinances.

(7) The occupation shall not offer a ready inventory of any commaodity for sale on the premises.

FACTORS TO CONSIDER:

Sec. 154.20.3. Planning and zoning commission—Conditional use permit.

20.3.A Definition. A conditional use permit is defined in Section 154.03. The terms "Conditional Use Permit" and "Special
Use Permit" may be used interchangeably.

20.3.B Effective Date. A Conditional Use Permit shall be deemed effective upon the date approved by the City Council.
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20.3.C Termination of Conditional Use Permit. A Conditional Use Permit shall terminate and become null and void as
follows:

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

Failure to Commence the Use: Upon a finding by the City Manager that the conditional use for which the
Conditional Use Permit was issued has not commenced within 180 calendar days after the effective date of the
Conditional Use Permit or the date set forth in the Conditional Use Permit, whichever is applicable. For
purposes of this paragraph, the use shall be deemed to have commenced:

a. If no new construction or renovation of an existing building is required, when actual use for the purposes
described in the permit commences; or

b. If new construction or renovation of an existing building is required before the use can commence, when
a completed application for a building permit, all required construction drawings, and the applicable
permit fees have been delivered to the City Building Inspections Department;

Failure to Commence Actual Use Within Two Years of New Construction or Renovation: If new construction or
renovation of an existing building is required before the use can commence, upon a finding by the City Manager
that actual use of the property has not commenced within two (2) years after the effective date of the
Conditional Use Permit or the date set forth in the permit, whichever is applicable;

Cessation of Use Not Related to Destruction of Property: After commencement of the actual use of the property
for the purpose set forth in the permit, upon a finding by the City Manager that actual use of the property for
the purpose for which the Conditional Use Permit was approved:

a. Has not occurred for a period of 180 consecutive days after the commencement of the actual use for
which the Conditional Use Permit was approved; and

b.  That the conditional use ceased for reasons other than destruction of buildings due to fire, flood, or
windstorm;

Cessation of Use Related to Destruction of Property: After commencement of the actual use of the property for
the purpose set forth in the permit, upon a finding by the City Manager that actual use of the property for the
purpose for which the Conditional Use Permit was approved has not occurred for a period of two consecutive
years after the date of destruction by fire, flood, or windstorm of the buildings in which the use was occurring;

Upon a finding of the City Manager that the use of the property has not been or is not in compliance with the
provisions of the permit, the City Manager shall send written notice that the permit will be terminated fifteen
(15) days from the date of the receipt of the notice, said notice to be sent by certified mail, return receipt
requested to the owner of the property at the last known address indicated on the property rolls of the Erath
County Appraisal District, a copy of which notice shall also be placed on the property. Said notification shall
contain a summary of the findings by the City Manager citing the provisions of the permit or City Code which
have been violated.

20.3. D Appeals.

(1)

(2)

Appeal of Termination for Non-Compliance: The owner of the property may file a written appeal of the City
Manager's decision with the City Council by delivering to the City Secretary a summary of the property owner's
basis for appeal not later than ten (10) calendar days from receipt of the City Manager's notice. The appeal shall
be heard at the next regular City Council meeting which occurs on or after the tenth calendar day following the
receipt of the notice of appeal. The appeal to the City Council shall be conducted in accordance with procedures
adopted by the City Council.

On appeal, the City Council may:
a. Uphold the decision of the City Manager and terminate the permit;

b. Uphold the decision of the City Manager, but grant additional time for compliance, after which date the
permit shall terminate if the City Council determines that compliance has not been achieved during the
additional time; or

C. Overrule the decision of the City Manager. The decision of the City Council shall be final.

Failure to File an Appeal: If the owner of the property fails to file an appeal as set forth in Section 1, above, on
the fifteenth day following delivery of written notice to the owner of the property for which a Conditional Use
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Permit is issued that the City Manager has determined that violates the provisions of the permit, the conditional
use permit will be terminated.

(Ord. No. 2018-0-28 , 8-7-2018)

ALTERNATIVES

1) Accept the recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission and approve the Conditional Use
Permit request.

2) Over-rule the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and deny the Condtional Use Permit
request.
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PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

APPLICATION
1. APPLICANT/OWNER: JUSTIN WILLIS
First Name Last Name
ADDRESS: 1422 PRAIRIE WIND BLVD 254-413-5503
Street/P.O. Box Phone No
STEPHENVILLE TX 76401
City State Zip Code
2. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 1422 PRAIRIE WIND BLVD
Street Address
3.  LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 5 4 GOLF COUNTRY ESTATES ADDITION
Lot(s) Block(s) Addition
PARCEL R31592
4. PRESENT CODES: 154.05.03.C(1) Single Family Residential District Conditional Uses

Code of Ordinance Title
APPLICANTS REQUEST FOR AN APPLICATION PERTAINS TO THE FOLLOWING:
( ) FOR INTERPRETATION of the meaning or intent of the Zoning Ordinance.
( ) A WAIVER from the literal enforcement of the Sub-Division Ordinance.

(X) A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT.

5. APPLICANTS REQUEST IS AS FOLLOWS:

To receive a Conditional Use Permit for the purpose of painting firearms at my house as a hobby/part-time business. Even though firearm
transactions do occur, my business clientele is Iimited to family and close friends as I do not advertise or promote my business and it is not a full

tl C110D U1U U d U1l d PT d CuU Cd C d Ud 4 U Cd s U d d d CU d d C C dllUu Cdpp1ovdlr o

this license rests on the citv ordinance for not r‘nndnr‘ﬁng business at a residential address

(Attach an additional sheet if necessary).

QL-V@ WVU‘ 5/27/21

Signature of Applicant Date

Signature of City Official Received Date Received by
Dev. Services Dept.
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FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

CHECKLIST

Initial(s) Date

1. Application Received:

2. Application Reviewed as Follows:

a. General Description of Location (Street, address, or
“Northwest Corner of Avenue C and Avenue E”).

b. Legal Description of Property (Lot and Block
Number/Metes and bounds, Survey and Abstract).

c. Size of Tract by Dimensions and Area. (Shown on
Plat drawn to scale).

d. Present Zoning Classification

(8]

. Applicant’s Fee $ .___received.

B~

. Site Plan Attached.

9]

. Property owners of record within 200 feet notified by mail.

[*)

. Notice of public hearing posted.

-

. Notice of public hearing delivered to newspaper.

o0

. Application reviewed by city officials:
(Initial where applicable)

a. Community Development Dept.

b. Public Works Department

c. Fire Department

d. Police Department

e. Other Departments (Specify)

9. Agenda packet mailed to board members.
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To Whom it May Concern:

My name is Justin Willis and | am the owner/operator of Mild to Wild Gun Graphics. Mild to
Wild Gun Graphics is the business name for a hobby of mine that includes making gun holsters,
airbrushing firearm finishes, and some transfer of ownership on firearms. My transfer of ownership is
limited to family and close friends. | do not advertise, keep inventory, or sale firearms from my business
location.

Mild to Wild Gun Graphics started as airbrush painting which was a hobby of mine. My canvas
materials soon spread to firearms as there is a niche for camouflage finishes on hunting firearms. Most
of my work takes several days to complete. The ATF requires a Federal Firearms License if the firearm is
left in my possession overnight. | have retained a Federal Firearms License for over 9 years resulting in
only 129 transfers since start-up. | originally started this hobby when | lived outside the city limits of
Dublin, TX and | now reside inside the city limits of Stephenville. | have lived at my current address (1422
Prairie Wind Blvd. Stephenville, TX 76401) for over 3 years now. During this time, | have continued to
paint firearms unaware of the city’s regulations against operating a business at a residential address
inside the city limits. Now that this issue has been brought to my attention, | would like to pursue a path
that would allow me to continue with my hobby.

| have recently applied for a new Federal Firearms License that would allow me to buy gun parts,
assemble them, paint them, and then sell them to my family and friends. Again, my business is only a
hobby and | do not keep inventory, nor do | plan on selling these to the general public. My intentions for
selling would be strictly to family and friends as | do not advertise my business. The new company name
would be Whiskey Six Tactical, a new business name for a new chapter in my life.

As previously stated, this is more of a hobby than part time business, so there no set hours of
operation as the majority of my time utilized by this business is over the weekend and since my
transaction history is so low, | only see 2-3 people at my house per month. My full-time job does not
allow for any hours of operation during the normal work week. | do not have any employees that work
for me nor do | intend to have any in the future.

This hobby of mine does not require any specialized chemicals. All materials including paint,
cleaners and solvents can all be bought at the local hardware store and | do not have more than 2
gallons worth of paint and solvent on the property at any given time. | do not have any machinery for
manufacturing gun parts nor do | have any lead and gun powder for manufacturing ammunition. There
are no chemicals or machines that pose any risk to my neighbors or surrounding occupants. All activities
take place in my 400 square foot garage attached to the house where | store my golf cart and camper
trailer. | do keep a fire extinguisher on hand just a precaution.

Item 5.
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All activities associated with this hobby will not negatively affect the environment around me.
The air compressor that | use is hand held and not any louder than a house hold appliance. There are no
other byproducts other than fumes from painting which are contained in my garage during the process
and removed when the garage door is opened. The amount of paint that | go through on one project is
less than the size of a typical aerosol can that you would buy at the hardware store. This means that |
average one to two cans of spray paint per month.

All Firearm transactions that occur at my house are no different that what you would find at the
local gun store. A federal background check is required for all transactions relating to purchases or
transfers. | do not keep any inventory for sale but | do allow family and friends to purchase firearms
online and have them shipped to my residence. This allows them to have a more personable experience
when purchasing a firearm. Any online purchases of a firearm require that the item be shipped to
another licensed individual so they can perform the background check prior to the purchaser receiving
the firearm. | do require that all sellers receive permission from myself before shipping items that way |
can limit who, what and when an item is shipped to me as | do not do firearm transfers for people that |
do not know personally.

Thank you for your consideration,
Justin Willis

254-413-5503
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May 27, 2021

To Whom it May Concern:

My name is Shelbie (Simpson) Willis and | am the property owner of 1422 Prairie Wind Blvd in
Stephenville, TX 76401. | am granting permission to Justin Willis to conduct business as Whiskey Six
Tactical at the property mentioned above. Please accept this letter as me granting permission to Justin
for any paperwork and applications necessary regarding Whiskey Six Tactical.

Best Regards,
Tl W

Shelbie Willis

254.485.5384
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Parcel ID
R000031595
R000031594
R000031593
R000031556
R000031777
R000031590
R000022571
R000031591
R000031589
R000031592

R000031557

Parcel Address

1416 PRAIRIE WIND
1418 PRAIRIE WIND
1420 PRAIRIE WIND
1425 PRAIRIE WIND
137 BEN HOGAN DR

1426 PRAIRIE WIND

1631 PR1022 OFF FM2303

1424 PRAIRIE WIND

1428 PRAIRIE WIND

1422 PRAIRIE WIND

1431 PRAIRIE WIND

1422 Prairie Wind Addresses

Parcel Owner
BUTLER ANITA TERRILL
CLAYTON PAM
ELLIOTT CHARLES W
FIELDS SCOTT
GRAHAM JACK DODDS JR
GRANGER MARK & JEAN
GREAT SOUTHERN RANCH INC
GROVE THOMAS W
LEFFLER JAMES
SIMPSON SHELBIE

TOMLINSON BILLY J & MELODY A

Owner Address
1416 PRAIRIE WIND
1418 PRAIRIE WIND
1420 PRAIRIE WIND
1425 PRAIRIE WIND
4772 CR105
1426 PRAIRIE WIND BLVD
1841 W OVERHILL
1424 PRAIRIE WIND
1428 PRAIRIE WIND
1422 PRAIRIE WIND BLVD

1431 PRAIRIE WIND

City
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
HAMILTON
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE

STEPHENVILLE

X
TX
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

X

State

Item 5.

Zip Code
76401
76401
76401-0000
76401
76531
76401-5911
76401-2323
76401
76401
76401-5911

76401
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Case No CP2021.001

Item 5.

To: Steve Killen
Director Development Services
skillen@stephenvilletx.gov
+1 (254) 918-1222

Steve , my name is Scott Fields.

1 live at:
1425 Prairie Wind Blvd
Stephenville TX , 76401

I received your mail concerning the Justin Willis request for a Conditional
Use Permit. Unfortunately , |1 will be traveling on vacation then.

I am contacting you by email with a copy of this document inside a PDF file.

Justin Willis contacted me and explained what he is doing and the need for a
permit. | feel that Justin is and fair and accurate person, | believe that he is fully
capable of preforming the tasks associated his request. | further believe that the
permit(s) should be issued to him. In this day and age , | believe we should give
encouragement to help all others to succeed.

I strongly encourage you issue him the permit and wish him success in his
future endeavors.

Thank you.

Scott Fields

1425 Prairie Wind Blvd
Stephenville TX , 76401
cash_fields@yahoo.com
+1 (608) 201-0473

189




Steve Killen

From: Robison, Adeana A. <Adeana.A.Robison@usdoj.gov>
Sent: Wednesday, June 9, 2021 11:00 AM

To: Steve Killen

Subject: ATF Regulations and Home-based manufacturers/dealers
Steve

ATF Federal Firearms Requlations 27 CFR 478.58 states that no licensee has not right or privilege to conduct business or activity contrary to State and local laws.
Similarly, compliance with the provisions of any State or local laws affords no immunity under Federal law or requlations.

ATF Federal Firearms Requlations 27 CFR 478.00 states all business must be conducted at the licensed business location only. No transfers or sales may take
place anywhere other than the licensed business premises.

ATF does not prohibit home-based businesses, the business just has to be in compliance with local laws and ordinances. Stephenville's ordinance for home
occupations:

The occupation shall not offer a ready inventory of any commaodity for sale on the premises.

All sales of firearms, all manufacturing of firearms would have to take place on the premises.

Let me know if you need further information and if you need me to attend the meeting next week.

Dee Robison

ATF Senior Investigator
Fort Worth Area Office
817-239-4043
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STAFF REPORT CS. lephenville
TEHAS

SUBIJECT: Case No.: RZ2021-008

Applicant Tobiah and Mandy O’neal are requesting a rezone of property located at 1065 W.
Frey, Parcel R32261, of KIGHT SECOND ADDITION, BLOCK 5, LOT 2, of the City of Stephenville,
Erath County, Texas, from (R-1) Single Family Residential to (R-3) Multifamily.

DEPARTMENT: Development Services
STAFF CONTACT: Steve Killen
RECOMMENDATION:

The Planning and Zoning Commission convened on June 16, 2021, and by a vote of 6/1, recommended the City
Council deny the rezoning request.

BACKGROUND:

The applicant is requesting a rezone to multifamily, R-3, to allow for the highest and best land use per the
applicant.

CURRENT ZONING:

R-1 — Single Family

FUTURE LAND USE:

Single Family

WATER:

The property is currently served by water mains in Pecan, Ollie, Frey and Kight streets.
SEWER:

The property is currently served by sanitary sewer mains in Pecan, Ollie, Frey and Kight streets.
STREET:

The property is served by Pecan, Ollie, Frey and Kight Streets.

ZONING AND LAND USE:

Location Zoning Future Land Use
Subject Site R-1 — Single Family Single Family
North R-3, Multifamily Single Family
South R-1, Single Family Multifamily

East R-1 — Single Family Single Family
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West

Iltem 7.

R-3 Multifamily Commercial and Single Family

DESCRIPTION OF REQUESTED ZONING

Sec. 154.05.6. Multiple family residential district (R-3).

5.6.A Description. This residential district provides for medium to high-density city neighborhood development. The
primary land use allows for single-family dwellings, two-to-four family dwelling units, and multiple family housing
buildings and complexes. All R-3 zoning will be appropriate to a city-style neighborhood. Recreational, religious and
educational uses are also permitted so as to contribute to the natural elements of a convenient, balanced and
attractive neighborhood. Development within this district is intended to be protected from the encroachment of land
activities that do not contribute to the esthetic and functional well being of the intended district environment.

5.6.B Permitted Uses.

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)

Single-family detached dwelling, limited to occupancy by a family having no more than three individuals who
are unrelated by blood, legal adoption, marriage or conservatorship. The owner and any agent of the owner
shall be legally responsible for directly or indirectly allowing, permitting, causing, or failing to prohibit
residential use of a dwelling in this district by more than three unrelated individuals;

Two-to-four family dwellings, with each family limited as in division (1) above;
Townhouse dwellings, with each family limited as in division (1) above;
Condominium dwellings, with each family limited as in division (1) above;
Multiple family dwellings, with each family limited as in division (1) above;
Assisted living center;

Convalescent, nursing or long term-care facility;

Retirement housing complex;

Accessory buildings;

Churches, temples, mosques and related facilities;

Community home;

Park or playground;

SISD school—pubilic;

Bed and breakfast/boarding house;

Group day care home;

Registered family home;

Day care center; and

Fraternity or sorority house.

5.6.C Conditional Uses.

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Home occupation;

Common facilities as the principal use of one or more platted lots in a subdivision;
Adult and/or children's day care centers;

Foster group home; and

Residence hall.

5.6.D Height, Area, Yard and Lot Coverage Requirements.
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(A)  Single family dwelling.

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)
(10)

Minimum lot area: 5,000 ft2.

Minimum lot width and lot frontage: 50 feet.

Minimum lot depth: 100 feet.

Minimum depth of front setback: 25 feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: 25 feet.

Minimum width of side setback:

(a)
(b)

Internal lot: five feet.

Corner lot: 25 feet from intersecting side street.

Building size:

(a)
(b)

Maximum coverage as a percentage of lot area: 40%.

Single family dwelling: 1,000 ft?.

Accessory buildings:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

Maximum accessory buildings coverage of rear yard: 20%.
Maximum number of accessory buildings: one.

Minimum depth of side setback: five feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: five feet.

Minimum depth from the edge of the main building: 12 feet.

Maximum height of structures: 35 feet.

Public, semi-public or public service buildings, hospitals, institutions or schools may not exceed a height of
60 feet. Churches, temples and mosques may not exceed 75 feet, if the building is set back from each yard
line at least one foot for each two feet additional height above the height limit in this district.

| s
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Accessory T
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(2 Allowed) ard Maximunm

|
o
i
N
=z
N

Minimum Side Yard
Adjacent to Street

]
|
|
\ 1.000sq ft
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Floor Area

e
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\
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|
|
|
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-~ 25—

B
-

oleel Iy ol vvay
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25'
Minimum Front . )
Yard —— 50" Min. Lot Width ——

Street Right of Way
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5.6.E Parking Regulations. A Single-Family, R-3 District lot shall provide a minimum of two vehicle parking spaces per
dwelling unit, with a driveway connecting the parking spaces with a street or alley, and meet all the pertinent
requirements contained in this ordinance, Section 11, Parking Regulations of this ordinance.

(B)  Two-to-four family.

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)
(10)

Minimum lot area: 7,500 ft? for two dwelling units, plus 1,000 ft2 for each additional dwelling unit.
Minimum lot width and lot frontage: 75 feet.

Minimum lot depth: 100 feet.

Minimum depth of front setback: 25 feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: 25 feet.

Minimum width of side setback:

(a) Internal lot: six feet.

(b) Corner lot: 25 feet from intersecting side street.

Building size:

(a) Maximum coverage as a percentage of lot area: 40%.

(b)  Minimum area of each dwelling unit: 800 ft?.

Accessory buildings:

(a) Maximum accessory building coverage of rear yard: 20%.

(b) Maximum area of each accessory building: 200 ft2.

(c)  Maximum number of accessory buildings: one per unit.

(d) Minimum depth of side setback: five feet.

(e)  Minimum depth of rear setback: five feet.

(f)  Minimum depth from the edge of the main building: 12 feet.

Maximum height of structures: 35 feet.

Iltem 7.

Public, semi-public or public service buildings, hospitals, institutions or schools may not exceed a height of
60 feet. Churches, temples and mosques may not exceed 75 feet, if the building is set back from each yard

line at least one foot for each two feet additional height above the height limit in this district.
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A Two to Four-Family, R-3 District lot shall provide a minimum of two vehicle parking spaces per dwelling unit, with a
driveway connecting the parking spaces with a street or alley, and meet all the pertinent requirements contained in this

ordinance, Section 11, Parking Regulations of this ordinance.

(€)

Townhouse/Condominium.

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)
(10)

Minimum lot area: 3,000 ft? per unit.

Minimum average lot width and lot frontage: 30 feet.

Minimum lot depth: 100 feet.

Minimum depth of front setback: 25 feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: 15 feet.

Minimum width of side setback:

(a)
(b)

Building size:

(a)
(b)
(c)

Internal lot: five feet.

Corner lot: 25 feet from intersecting side street.

Minimum area of each Townhouse dwelling unit: 800 ft2.

Minimum area of each Condominium of each dwelling unit: 500 ft? for one bedroom or less, plus

125 ft2 of floor area for each additional bedroom.

Accessory buildings:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Maximum accessory building coverage of rear yard: 20%.

Maximum area of each accessory building: 200 ft2.

Maximum number of accessory buildings: one per unit.

Minimum depth of side setback: five feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: five feet.

Minimum depth from the edge of the main building: 12 feet.

Maximum height of structures: 35 feet.

Maximum building coverage as a percentage of lot area: 40%

Iltem 7.

Public, semi-public or public service buildings, hospitals, institutions or schools may not exceed a height of
60 feet. Churches, temples and mosques may not exceed 75 feet, if the building is set back from each yard

line at least one foot for each two feet additional height above the height limit in this district.

Street Right of Way
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A Townhouse/Condominium, R-3 District lot shall provide a minimum of two vehicle parking spaces per dwelling unit, with a

driveway connecting the parking spaces with a street or alley, and meet all the pertinent requirements contained in this

ordinance, Section 11, Parking Regulations of this Ordinance.

(D)

Multiple family dwellings.

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)

(7)
(8)

Minimum lot area: maximum density of 24 dwelling units per acre, which includes parking, access and all

other area improvements.

Minimum lot depth: 100 feet.

Minimum depth of front setback: 25 feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: 20 feet.

Minimum width of side setback:

(a) Internal lot: ten feet.

(b) Corner lot: 25 feet from intersecting side street.

Building size: Minimum area of each dwelling unit: 500 ft>for one bedroom or less plus 125 ft? of floor
area for each additional bedroom.

Maximum height of structures: 35 feet.

Public, semi-public or public service buildings, hospitals, institutions or schools may not exceed a height of
60 feet. Churches, temples and mosques may not exceed 75 feet, if the building is set back from each yard

line at least one foot for each two feet additional height above the height limit in this district.

Street Right o f Way
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Iltem 7.

A Multiple-Family, R-3 District lot shall provide a minimum of two vehicle parking spaces per dwelling unit, with a driveway
connecting the parking spaces with a street or alley, and meet all the pertinent requirements contained in this ordinance,
Section 11, Parking Regulations of this ordinance.

5.6.F Type of Construction.

(1)  The exterior walls of all new dwellings to the top plate, shall be constructed of at least 80% of the total exterior
walls of primary materials, excluding doors, windows, and porches. See Section 10.E(1): Exterior Building
Material Standard—Primary Materials.

(2)  Any remaining exterior walls of all new dwellings shall construct the remaining exterior walls of alternative
materials. See Section 10.E(2): Exterior Building Material Standard—Alternative Materials.

(3) Existing dwellings expanding the total square footage of the building 50% or less, or modifying the exterior
walls, may use the same exterior construction material as the existing primary building. If the material is not
available, similar material may be used if approved by the Community Development Director.

(4) Existing dwellings expanding the total square footage of the building more than 50%, or proposing to use a
material inconsistent with the primary structure for any expansion, must meet the 80% minimum primary
materials, Section 10.E: Exterior Building Material Standard, for the total exterior walls of the structure.

NEW CONSTRUCTION
Total Exterior Wall shall equal,
B0 of Primary Malesdals.
Any ramakning parcontage shall ba constructsd
of Afametve Matsdals.
el reindowe b Doom e oocided)

" EXISTING STRUCTURES

¢ 1. Expanding or modifying the loolege of e

> buliding 0% or less, may use Mhe sams
actarior materal as the exlsting primany
buliding. I ot avallabie, approval ls need
fram the Community Developmant
Dirmcion

2. Expancing or modifyng the foctage of the
buliding 0% or mora, must use 80%
Primuary Materiale and ery remalning
parcenlage shall ba constnacted of
Altamaliva Malodals

[[] primasy Maturiala

ey L1 e Materiale 3. ‘Windows and Doors sm exsiodnd,

(Am. Ord. 2007-24, passed 12-4-2007; Am. Ord. 2008-13, passed 7-1-2008; Ord. 2011-26, passed 12-6-2011)

ALTERNATIVES
1) Accept the recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission and deny the rezoning request.

2) Modify the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and approve the rezoning request
designating an alternate zoning classification.

3) Over-rule the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and approve the rezoning request.
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Item 7.

City of Stephenville

o 298 W. Washi ,
J WWI& Stephenvisf:, TR 76401 NO. 405‘0
YePlanning and Building (254) 918-1213 Rl Zoll B 069
ZONING AMENDMENT APPLICATION
CITY OF STEPHENVILLE
speLicantiowner: 1OBIAH & MANDY ONEAL
First Name Last Name
ADDRESS: 115 N GRAHAM SUITE 202 2ssies0
Street/P.0O. Box Phone No.
STEPHENVILLE TX 76401
City State Zip Code
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 1 065 FREY
Street Address
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 2 < —
Lot(s) Block(s) Addition

PRESENT ZONING: R-1
Zoning District Title

MATIFAG

PROPOSED ZONING: R-&2
Zoning District Title

APPLICANTS REQUEST FOR ZONING CHANGE IS AS FOLLOWS: 204” NG
THE  bipeck o (TS5 HIGHEST < Pesr  vse
bf a5\ BLE

i 3-21-2

Signature of Adplicant Date

, (o 4 acloy

Signature of City Official Received Date Received
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Parcel ID
R000032212
R000032211
R000030779
R000030780
R000032213
R000030790
R000032215
R000032210
R000032261
R000032260
R000030788
R000030789
R000032208
R000030781
R000032214

Parcel Address
965 KIGHT
1056 PECAN
1092 W FREY
1076 FREY
945 KIGHT
1084 W FREY
1037 FREY
1046 PECAN
1065 W FREY
1083 FREY
882 CLINTON
1010 FREY
1027 W FREY
1064 FREY
925 KIGHT

1065 W Frey Addresses

Parcel Owner
BRYANT JOHN CLANCY
COMMUNITY OUTREACH HOUSING
DOWELL JAMES DANIEL
GARRISON PROPERTIES LLC
GODWIN EDWARD
HARLOW JEREMY & MARIE
JRSR PROPERTIES LLC
LOWERY CLARENCE DAVID
ONEAL TOBIAH & MANDY
ONTADE LLC
SULT GREGORY R & KELLY M
TRIMBLE TOMMY WAYNE & REBECCA ANN
TUCKER LOIS LAVONNE
WARMERDAM BRADLEY STEPHEN & MELODY JILL
WILHELM DONNA

Owner Address
965 KIGHT
3436 LIVINGSTON
1092 W FREY
740 W COLLEGE
1804 DEEPWOOD DR
1084 W FREY
5303 COLLEYVILLE BLVD, SUITE A
410 E CLIFTON
1065 W FREY
115 N GRAHAM ST #202
882 N CLINTON
1010 FREY
1027 W FREY
3721 OAKBRIAR LANE
PO BOX 201

City
STEPHENVILLE
CARROLLTON
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
ROUND ROCK
STEPHENVILLE
COLLEYVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
COLLEYVILLE
BROWNWOOD

State

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
1S
X
X
LS

Iltem 7.

Zip Code
76401
75007
76401
76401
78681
76401-0000
76034
76401-4918
76401
76401
76401-0000
76401
76401
76034
76804
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Steve Killen

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Steve Killen

Wednesday, May 19, 2021 11:38 AM

'‘BS Warmer'

RE: Planning and Zoning Cases RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009

Received. | will provide this to the Commission.

Thank you.

Steve Killen

Direct

Development Services

P: (254) 918-1222 | C: (214) 677-8352
E: skillen@stephenvilletx.gov

or

Steonensite [ © O G

Subscribe to Meeting Notifications Here

This e-mail contains the thoughts and opinions of Steve Killen and does not
represent official City of Stephenville policy.

Note to elected officials: Please respond only to the sender of this message. Reply
to all may result in a violation of the Texas Open Meetings Act.

From: BS Warmer <bswarmer@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 10:13 AM

To: Stev
Subject:

e Killen <SKillen@stephenvilletx.gov>
Planning and Zoning Cases RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009

Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission,

This committee has the challenge of managing the inevitable (and welcomed) growth of Stephenville, while also safeguarding the city character. The Chandler
Mansion is an icon that you build around, not one to be rezoned to Multifamily. | am writing to express my strong opposition to the proposed rezoning of the
Chandler Mansion block (Cases RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009) . My opposition is based on a variety of factors:

1. Desire to maintain the character and charm of the neighborhood.

2. The area is already approaching saturation with multifamily dwellings. Based on a quick google map search - there are 15 apartment complexes
within 1 mile (most within .5 mile) of the Chandler Mansion. In addition to this, there are 5 college dorms and several duplexes (W Oak St, N Columbia,
N Belknap, etc.).

3. Uncertainty of the plans for the property. | had a good conversation with one of the owners. He is a genuine person that shares my desire to
maintain the charm of this property and the city. However, rezoning with no concrete plans equates to a blank check that | am not comfortable agreeing
to.

4. Property values are likely to be negatively impacted if we continue saturating the area with multi-family dwellings. MFDU’s are inconsistent with the
predominantly SFDU neighborhood.

5. Frey streetis already narrow / congested and adding multiple units concentrated on this property will make matters worse. Elevated traffic makes
the streets less pedestrian friendly. With Hook Elementary right around the corner — this is a real concern.

| urge you to disapprove the proposed rezoning, and from recent meetings / discussions with my neighbors, | know my opinions are shared by others who have
not managed to communicate these desires. Thank you for your continued service and support of our community.

Best regards,

Brad & Melody Warmerdam

1064 W

Frey St

817-629-4450



TO:

Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission & City Council
FROM:

Scott Hooper

849 N. Clinton

Stephenville, TX 76401
RE:

Chandler Mansion Block Re-zoning

To the committee members on the PZ commission and the City Council,

| was recently made aware of a plan to re-zone the Chandler Mansion block. While | am all for land
development and improvement, | am asking for the board to not approve this request for several
reasons:

e The Chandler Mansion is one of the iconic homes left in Stephenville. | am one of many people
in the area who own homes that we are working to rehab not for a quick buck or to flip and rent
on the cheap, but to restore the original beauty and charm of a property. My properties are
around the corner from this block and would hate to see it wasted.

e The multifamily units that | have seen on the north side of Frey in those neighborhoods are not
kept up and, in my opinion, have actually reduced the value of the homes close to it. A greater
value would be to build small homes along the back of the block to help raise the value of the
surrounding properties and continue regentrification.

e The trafficis already horrible and parking on Frey makes it hard for traffic flow as it is. The
amount of money it would take for the city to improve/ create safe access and egress (ie
driveways and turning lanes) could easily outweigh the benefit and the traffic would surely
overtax Ollie and Frey which is already one of the busiest intersections in Stephenville.

e The inevitable need for improved access to water, sewer and gas will also contribute to the
overall chaos of road issues and seems like it will divert tax dollars away from other things we
need to see worked on in Stephenville.

| ask that you please deny this request.

Thank you for working hard at what you do. It is difficult navigating the razor edge of making sure
Stephenville moves forward yet stays “hometown”.

Sincerely,
il

Iltem 7.
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Steve Killen

From: Ashley Ritchey <awinbourn@hotmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, June 16, 2021 3:10 PM

To: Steve Killen; Josh Ritchey; Ashley Ritchey

Subject: Planning and Zoning Cases RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009

Dear Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission,

As a neighbor of the Chandler Mansion located at 1083 Frey, we would like to express our opposition to the rezoning of this property to R3
multifamily. The following are just a few of our reasons:

1. We are a family of 5 with children at Stephenville ISD and Hook Elementary. This will bring increased traffic to the already busy streets of
Frey & Ollie which our children use to walk home from school and could jeopardize their safety.

2. There is uncertainty for plans with this property and rezoning without concrete plans is not something we or our city should be

comfortable with considering.

We desire to maintain the character and charm of the neighborhood.

4. Property values are likely to be negatively impacted when living within such close proximity to a multifamily complex.

w

| urge you to decline their request for rezoning to R-3 multifamily. Thank you for your consideration and continued support and service to
our community.

Sincerely,

Josh & Ashley Ritchey
990 N. Ollie
940.445.1290



Steve Killen

From: Rebecca <bosqueriverranch@aol.com>
Sent: Wednesday, June 16, 2021 2:59 PM
To: Steve Killen

Subject: Case RZ2021-008

Regarding case No: RZ2021-008
Toby & Mandy O'Neal

To the Planning and Zoning Commission: I respectfully request that you take time to read the letters that people have written to see the different points of view. Due to scheduling
conflicts, some neighbors were not able to attend in person.

We would like to request that you deny the R3 request for the rezoning of the entire block that includes the Chandler mansion and the O’Neill residence. The R3 will open
Pandora’s box for some out-of-town or out-of-state investor to come in and build a multi-apartment complex that could look like the Edge. While large complexes don’t seem out
of place in commercial zoning areas, they really reduce the charm and property values for homeowners and small residential areas.

I cannot imagine walking out my front door and seeing a three or five story apartment complex on that block.
Currently, I see two charming homes and large mature trees on the block; it feels quaint, it feels cozy, it feels nice and welcoming.

I am absolutely concerned about traffic when school is in session. The pick-up line reduces Frey Street to only a one lane street, and it’s very difficult for cars to see around school
traffic lines.

When picking out a home to buy in Stephenville it’s never on someone’s wish list to hopefully live across from an apartment complex, so please protect our quaint neighborhood
and protect our home values, protect the look and feel of this neighborhood we love so much.

Sincerely,
Rebecca Trimble
1010 W Frey St
Stephenville



June 16, 2021
Re: Case RZ2021-008, 009

Dear Planning and Zoning Commission,

My name is Wayne Trimble. My wife and I live at 1010 W Frey Street with our
2 children, directly across the street from the properties in this application. We
moved to this neighborhood 2 years ago, but have resided in Erath County for
the past 20 years.

We are strongly opposed to the rezone of this property to R3, and here 1s why:

1) Since the properties were recently listed for sale for $2.1 million, an R3
would pave the way for the sale of this property to an investor who would
need to fill the entire block with high-density, multi-family, multi-level
apartment complexes just to recoup their initial $2.1 million investment.
Certainly, R3 would raise the monetary value of the property itself, but it
would not bring more value to the neighborhood, its neighbors, and would
likely negatively impact our property values long term.

2) Ifrezoned, R3 multi-family apartment complexes would lead to more
traffic on an already busy Frey Street, which, on school days, sees a line
of cars backed up from Hook Elementary blocks away, wrapping all the
way around Frey in between our houses. I would suggest a study on
traffic impact on our already narrow and congested streets before
considering a rezoning to allow apartment complexes.

3) Last month we heard this commission’s desire to protect the Chandler
mansion, calling it one of the “iconic properties of the city.” We couldn’t
agree more. Our house at 1010 Frey Street is also known as the “Wolfe
house,” or to younger generations as the “stained glass” house. [ would
consider it “iconic” too, in its own way. In fact, I can’t think of 2 more
iconic residential homes in such close proximity to one another in our
town than the Wolfe house and the Chandler mansion - which makes the
need of preserving the neighborhood around these two properties, and the
other unique and charming homes around them, even more crucial.

Iltem 7.
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4) The original application mentions rezoning for the “highest and best use
possible.” and in my opinion, the highest and best use is not large
apartment complexes, but developing the raw land behind the 2 houses
with more single family homes for the young families of this
neighborhood, and here’s why: Stephenville has a shortage of single-
family residences, and this block is within 3/10ths of a mile from not one,
but 2 elementary schools - schools with children of families that no doubt
want to live the American dream and own their own homes. I believe the
highest and best use of this property is for single family residences that
will revitalize this neighborhood and preserve it for the generations to
come.

Finally, let me conclude by pointing out that Tarleton’s master plan stops short
of this block and this neighborhood, and the City of Stephenville has designated
current and future use for this block as single-family R1. I respectfully ask you
to adhere to long-term vision of both of these plans, which is in the best interest
of our neighborhood, our school children, our young families, and the city we
all love so much. Thank you.

Sincerely,

Wayne & Rebecca Trimble
1010 W Frey Street
Stephenville, TX 76401
254-485-6537

Iltem 7.
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TO:

Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission & City Council
FROM:

Scott Hooper

849 N. Clinton

Stephenville, TX 76401
RE:

Chandler Mansion Block Re-zoning
To the committee members on the PZ commission and the City Council,

This is my second letter regarding a plan to re-zone the Chandler Mansion block. Without knowing for
sure, it appears that the owners are seeking to capitalize on gaining a per-square-foot pricing on the
block. Again, while | am all for capitalism, land development and improvement, | am asking for the
board to not approve this request for several reasons:

e |t's not improvement. The Chandler Mansion is one of the iconic homes left in Stephenville. |
am one of many people in the area who own homes that we are rehabilitating not for a quick
buck or to flip and rent on the cheap, but to restore the original beauty and charm of a property.
My properties are around the corner from this block and would hate to see my effort wasted.

e The multifamily units that | have seen on the north side of Frey in those neighborhoods are not
that old, few are kept up and, in my opinion, have actually reduced the value of the homes close
to it. A greater value would be to build small starter homes which would help raise the value of
the surrounding properties and continue regentrification.

e According to https://www.stephenvilletx.gov/administration/page/core-values-mission-vision
“Stephenville’s vision is to create a community that is ready for what the future holds. It will
be innovative, financially stable, safe, and attractive. Stephenville will remain the family-
oriented Cowboy Capital of the World and the City of Champions.” While this is a relatively
generic vision and open for much interpretation, apartments and multifamily housing rarely
ever does anything but become dated and reduce land value over time. THEY USUALLY DO NOT
REMAIN SAFE AND ATTRACTIVE. What will this area look like in the next 80-100 years? | believe
the Chandler mansion, two of my homes, the Wolfe house, the Victorian on the corner and
many other homes surrounding this block are this age. Very few apartments that | know of are
more than slums after 40 years let alone 60-80 years. This has long-term effects.

e The trafficis already horrible and parking on Frey makes it hard for traffic flow as it is. The
amount of money it would take for the city to improve/ create safe access and egress (ie
driveways and turning lanes) could easily outweigh the benefit and the traffic would surely
overtax Ollie and Frey which is already one of the busiest intersections in Stephenville.

e The inevitable need for improved access to water, sewer and gas will also contribute to the
overall chaos of road issues AND will most likely divert tax dollars away from other things we
need to see worked on in Stephenville.

| ask that you please deny this request. Thank you for working hard at what you do. Please continue to
guard Stephenville—a champion community that’s safe and attractive for everyone.

Sincerely,
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June 15, 2021

To: Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission and Stephenville City Council

From: Greg and Kelly Sult
882 N Clinton
Stephenville, TX 76401

Re: Case No. RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009 Rezoning requests - Chandler Mansion Block
We are writing to express our opposition to the rezoning request of this property very near to us.

We have been fortunate enough to live in the stately Victorian Scott house, or some know it as the old
Malloy house, for the past 23 years and we have loved the history of our home and have always been
happy to be a part of Stephenville’s legacy and that of our neighborhood which includes the historical
Chandler mansion. We are also excited to celebrate with the city council the selection of Stephenville to
the Texas Main Street program. With this in mind, | find it inconceivable that the commission would
consider allowing such a wonderful property to be torn down. It seems at this very time we should be
preserving our wonderful history!

It has been brought to our attention that the current owners want to sell the entire block, firstly
obtaining a re-zone of R3, so that they may then sell to a more-than-likely out of town or out of state
developer who would then tear down the lovely mansion and erect very profitable (for them)
apartments. | can’t even image looking out my front door and staring at a huge concrete and brick
structure.

In addition to the possibility of apartments just not being attractive, there are some very real concerns
with an over-abundance of people living on that corner. The traffic is already bottle-necked on that
corner, the streets certainly not wide enough for the huge amount of influx that would come from an
apartment complex. If you have every travelled down Frey street in that area around school drop off or
pick up times, you certainly will understand this point.

As property owners in this area for many years, of course we have concerns about a project such as this
lowering the property values of all of those beautiful homes in the neighborhood. We understand
progress and growth and know that Stephenville must cater to Tarleton and the needs of the students,
but we just strongly feel that this corner is not the appropriate location for a zoning of R3.

Thank you very much for your consideration of our request.

Regards,

Greg and Kelly Sult

Iltem 7.
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Item 9.

STAFF REPORT CS. lephenville
TEHAS

SUBIJECT: Case No.: RZ2021-009

Applicant Tobiah O’Neal, representing Ontade LLC, is requesting a rezone of property located
at 1083 Frey, Parcel R32260, of KIGHT SECOND ADDITION, BLOCK 5, LOT 1, of the City of
Stephenville, Erath County, Texas, from (R-1) Single Family Residential to (R-3) Multifamily.

DEPARTMENT: Development Services
STAFF CONTACT: Steve Killen
RECOMMENDATION:

The Planning and Zoning Commission convened on June 16, 2021, and by a vote of 6/1, recommended the City
Council deny the rezoning request.

BACKGROUND:

The applicant is requesting a rezone to multifamily, R-3, to allow for the highest and best land use per the
applicant.

CURRENT ZONING:

R-1 — Single Family

FUTURE LAND USE:

Single Family

WATER:

The property is currently served by water mains in Pecan, Ollie, Frey and Kight streets.
SEWER:

The property is currently served by sanitary sewer mains in Pecan, Ollie, Frey and Kight streets.
STREET:

The property is served by Pecan, Ollie, Frey and Kight Streets.

ZONING AND LAND USE:

Location Zoning Future Land Use
Subject Site R-1 — Single Family Single Family
North R-3, Multifamily Single Family
South R-1, Single Family Multifamily

East R-1 — Single Family Single Family
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West

Item 9.

R-3 Multifamily Commercial and Single Family

DESCRIPTION OF REQUESTED ZONING

Sec. 154.05.6. Multiple family residential district (R-3).

5.6.A Description. This residential district provides for medium to high-density city neighborhood development. The
primary land use allows for single-family dwellings, two-to-four family dwelling units, and multiple family housing
buildings and complexes. All R-3 zoning will be appropriate to a city-style neighborhood. Recreational, religious and
educational uses are also permitted so as to contribute to the natural elements of a convenient, balanced and
attractive neighborhood. Development within this district is intended to be protected from the encroachment of land
activities that do not contribute to the esthetic and functional well being of the intended district environment.

5.6.B Permitted Uses.

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)
(11)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)

Single-family detached dwelling, limited to occupancy by a family having no more than three individuals who
are unrelated by blood, legal adoption, marriage or conservatorship. The owner and any agent of the owner
shall be legally responsible for directly or indirectly allowing, permitting, causing, or failing to prohibit
residential use of a dwelling in this district by more than three unrelated individuals;

Two-to-four family dwellings, with each family limited as in division (1) above;
Townhouse dwellings, with each family limited as in division (1) above;
Condominium dwellings, with each family limited as in division (1) above;
Multiple family dwellings, with each family limited as in division (1) above;
Assisted living center;

Convalescent, nursing or long term-care facility;

Retirement housing complex;

Accessory buildings;

Churches, temples, mosques and related facilities;

Community home;

Park or playground;

SISD school—public;

Bed and breakfast/boarding house;

Group day care home;

Registered family home;

Day care center; and

Fraternity or sorority house.

5.6.C Conditional Uses.

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Home occupation;

Common facilities as the principal use of one or more platted lots in a subdivision;
Adult and/or children's day care centers;

Foster group home; and

Residence hall.
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5.6.D Height, Area, Yard and Lot Coverage Requirements.

(A)  Single family dwelling.

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)
(10)

Minimum lot area: 5,000 ft.

Minimum lot width and lot frontage: 50 feet.

Minimum lot depth: 100 feet.

Minimum depth of front setback: 25 feet.
Minimum depth of rear setback: 25 feet.
Minimum width of side setback:

(a) Internal lot: five feet.

(b)  Corner lot: 25 feet from intersecting si

Building size:

de street.

(a) Maximum coverage as a percentage of lot area: 40%.

(b)  Single family dwelling: 1,000 ft?.

Accessory buildings:

(a) Maximum accessory buildings coverage of rear yard: 20%.

(b)  Maximum number of accessory buildings: one.

(c)  Minimum depth of side setback: five feet.

(d) Minimum depth of rear setback: five feet.

(e)  Minimum depth from the edge of the

Maximum height of structures: 35 feet.

main building: 12 feet.

Item 9.

Public, semi-public or public service buildings, hospitals, institutions or schools may not exceed a height of
60 feet. Churches, temples and mosques may not exceed 75 feet, if the building is set back from each yard

line at least one foot for each two feet additional height above the height limit in this district.
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5.6.E Parking Regulations. A Single-Family, R-3 District lot shall provide a minimum of two vehicle parking spaces per
dwelling unit, with a driveway connecting the parking spaces with a street or alley, and meet all the pertinent
requirements contained in this ordinance, Section 11, Parking Regulations of this ordinance.

(B)  Two-to-four family.

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)
(10)

Minimum lot area: 7,500 ft? for two dwelling units, plus 1,000 ft2 for each additional dwelling unit.
Minimum lot width and lot frontage: 75 feet.

Minimum lot depth: 100 feet.

Minimum depth of front setback: 25 feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: 25 feet.

Minimum width of side setback:

(a) Internal lot: six feet.

(b) Corner lot: 25 feet from intersecting side street.

Building size:

(a) Maximum coverage as a percentage of lot area: 40%.

(b)  Minimum area of each dwelling unit: 800 ft?.

Accessory buildings:

(a) Maximum accessory building coverage of rear yard: 20%.

(b) Maximum area of each accessory building: 200 ft2.

(c)  Maximum number of accessory buildings: one per unit.

(d) Minimum depth of side setback: five feet.

(e)  Minimum depth of rear setback: five feet.

(f)  Minimum depth from the edge of the main building: 12 feet.

Maximum height of structures: 35 feet.

Item 9.

Public, semi-public or public service buildings, hospitals, institutions or schools may not exceed a height of
60 feet. Churches, temples and mosques may not exceed 75 feet, if the building is set back from each yard

line at least one foot for each two feet additional height above the height limit in this district.
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A Two to Four-Family, R-3 District lot shall provide a minimum of two vehicle parking spaces per dwelling unit, with a
driveway connecting the parking spaces with a street or alley, and meet all the pertinent requirements contained in this

ordinance, Section 11, Parking Regulations of this ordinance.

(€)

Townhouse/Condominium.

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)
(10)

Minimum lot area: 3,000 ft? per unit.

Minimum average lot width and lot frontage: 30 feet.

Minimum lot depth: 100 feet.

Minimum depth of front setback: 25 feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: 15 feet.

Minimum width of side setback:

(a)
(b)

Internal lot: five feet.

Building size:

(a)
(b)
(c)

Corner lot: 25 feet from intersecting side street.

Maximum building coverage as a percentage of lot area: 40%

Minimum area of each Townhouse dwelling unit: 800 ft2.

Minimum area of each Condominium of each dwelling unit: 500 ft2for one bedroom or less, plus

125 ft2 of floor area for each additional bedroom.

Accessory buildings:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Maximum accessory building coverage of rear yard: 20%.

Maximum area of each accessory building: 200 ft2.

Maximum number of accessory buildings: one per unit.

Minimum depth of side setback: five feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: five feet.

Minimum depth from the edge of the main building: 12 feet.

Maximum height of structures: 35 feet.

Item 9.

Public, semi-public or public service buildings, hospitals, institutions or schools may not exceed a height of
60 feet. Churches, temples and mosques may not exceed 75 feet, if the building is set back from each yard

line at least one foot for each two feet additional height above the height limit in this district.
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Item 9.

A Townhouse/Condominium, R-3 District lot shall provide a minimum of two vehicle parking spaces per dwelling unit, with a

driveway connecting the parking spaces with a street or alley, and meet all the pertinent requirements contained in this

ordinance, Section 11, Parking Regulations of this Ordinance.

(D)

Multiple family dwellings.

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)

(7)
(8)

Minimum lot area: maximum density of 24 dwelling units per acre, which includes parking, access and all

other area improvements.

Minimum lot depth: 100 feet.

Minimum depth of front setback: 25 feet.

Minimum depth of rear setback: 20 feet.

Minimum width of side setback:

(a) Internal lot: ten feet.

(b) Corner lot: 25 feet from intersecting side street.

Building size: Minimum area of each dwelling unit: 500 ft>for one bedroom or less plus 125 ft? of floor
area for each additional bedroom.

Maximum height of structures: 35 feet.

Public, semi-public or public service buildings, hospitals, institutions or schools may not exceed a height of
60 feet. Churches, temples and mosques may not exceed 75 feet, if the building is set back from each yard

line at least one foot for each two feet additional height above the height limit in this district.
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Item 9.

A Multiple-Family, R-3 District lot shall provide a minimum of two vehicle parking spaces per dwelling unit, with a driveway
connecting the parking spaces with a street or alley, and meet all the pertinent requirements contained in this ordinance,
Section 11, Parking Regulations of this ordinance.

5.6.F Type of Construction.

(1)  The exterior walls of all new dwellings to the top plate, shall be constructed of at least 80% of the total exterior
walls of primary materials, excluding doors, windows, and porches. See Section 10.E(1): Exterior Building
Material Standard—Primary Materials.

(2)  Any remaining exterior walls of all new dwellings shall construct the remaining exterior walls of alternative
materials. See Section 10.E(2): Exterior Building Material Standard—Alternative Materials.

(3) Existing dwellings expanding the total square footage of the building 50% or less, or modifying the exterior
walls, may use the same exterior construction material as the existing primary building. If the material is not
available, similar material may be used if approved by the Community Development Director.

(4) Existing dwellings expanding the total square footage of the building more than 50%, or proposing to use a
material inconsistent with the primary structure for any expansion, must meet the 80% minimum primary
materials, Section 10.E: Exterior Building Material Standard, for the total exterior walls of the structure.

NEW CONSTRUCTION
Total Exterior Wall shall equal,
B0 of Primary Malesdals.
Any ramakning parcontage shall ba constructsd
- of Afamartve Mabedals.
~ & reindowe b Doom e oocided)
i EXISTING STRUCTURES

1. Expanding or modifying the loolege of e
- buliding 0% or less, may use he sama
actarior materal as the exlsting primany
buliding. I ot avallabie, approval ls need
fram the Community Developmant
Diracior.

2. Expancing or modifyng the foctage of the
buliding 0% or mora, must use 80%
Primuary Materiale and ery remalning
parcenlage shall ba constnacted of
Altamaliva Malodals

[[] primasy Maturiala

ey L1 e Materiale 3. ‘Windows and Doors sm exsiodnd,

(Am. Ord. 2007-24, passed 12-4-2007; Am. Ord. 2008-13, passed 7-1-2008; Ord. 2011-26, passed 12-6-2011)

ALTERNATIVES

1) Accept the recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission and deny the rezoning
request.

2) Modify the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and approve the rezoning
request designating an alternate zoning classification.

3) Over-rule the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and approve the rezoning
request.
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Item 9.

City of Stephenville

298 W. Washingt
o ashington - }\7]05']

Stephenville, TX 76401

YPlanning and Building 254) 918-1213 -
( Rz 2021-009
ZONING AMENDMENT APPLICATION
CITY OF STEPHENVILLE
APPLICANT/OWNER: ONTADE LLC
First Name Last Name
ADDRESS: 115 N GRAHAM SUITE 202 2544124950
Street/P.O. Box Phone No.
STEPHENVILLE TX 76401
City State Zip Code
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 1083 FREY
Street Address
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: | 5 E—
Lot(s) Block(s) Addition
PRESENT ZONING: R-1 waern
Zoning District Title
e
PROPOSED ZONING: R-&> s
Zoning District Title

APPLICANTS REQUEST FOR ZONING CHANGE IS AS FOLLOWS:_C o~ 1N 6
THE  Pocx  For /TS HierrsT &  Besr UOSE
%CS\@’LE .

N

(Attach pradditi 3 eet j¥necesgary)
W 3-31-2

Sié;ﬁture Kpplicam Date
\%LCM Haglas

Signature of City Official Received Date Received
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Parcel ID
R000032229
R000032263
R000032262
R000032268
R000032212
R000032228
R000032211
R000030779
R000032269
R000030780
R000032213
R000030790
R000032271
R000032273
R000032250
R000032215
R000032915
R000073953
R000032210
R000032248
R000030759
R000032230
R000032255
R000032261
R000032260
R000030752
R000030791
R000032253
R000032272
R000032254
R000032914
R000032913
R000032249
R000032270
R000030758
R000032912
R000030789
R000032208
R000032209
R000030781
R000032214
R000032252

Parcel Address
1055 W PECAN
940 OLLIE
930 OLLIE
1133 FREY
965 KIGHT
1019 KIGHT
1056 PECAN
1092 W FREY
1121 FREY
1076 FREY
945 KIGHT
1084 W FREY
950 OLLIE
1150 PECAN
1075 PECAN
1037 FREY
1030 OLLIE
1031 OLLIE
1046 PECAN
1020 KIGHT
1130 FREY
1045 PECAN
1085 PECAN
1065 W FREY
1083 FREY
874 OLLIE
867 OLLIE
1011 OLLIE
990 N OLLIE
1015 OLLIE
1020 OLLIE
1111 PECAN
1030 KIGHT
1111 W FREY
1120 W FREY
1010 OLLIE
1010 FREY
1027 W FREY
1040 PECAN
1064 FREY
925 KIGHT
1065 PECAN

1065 W Frey Addresses

Owner Name
BABKOWSKI MICHAEL JAMES
BEGGS DIXIE EARLENE & LARRY DON
BEUKE EMMA
BLACK CYNTHIA K
BRYANT JOHN CLANCY
CHAVEZ MARIA E
COMMUNITY OUTREACH HOUSING
DOWELL JAMES DANIEL
FRAGA MIGUEL A
GARRISON PROPERTIES LLC
GODWIN EDWARD
HARLOW JEREMY & MARIE
HARRIS DALE & DEBBY
HAYES BRAD
IRBY DAVID
JRSR PROPERTIES LLC
KING RICKY
KING RICKY
LOWERY CLARENCE DAVID

MARTIN AARON BYRON & JAYCE NOLAN MARTIN

MASON MICHAEL

MILOTTE JOSEPH R

MULBARGER TODD

ONEAL TOBIAH & MANDY

ONTADE LLC

ORDUNA JAIME ANGEL

RENFIELD LLC

RICHARDSON RANDAL & KARA M RICHARDSON
RITCHEY JOSHUA RAY & ASHLEY VICTORIA
SHOCKLEY JONATHAN J & HAROLD J
SILHAVEY MARK S & LISA

SIMPER CHAD

SINCLAIR SMV LLC

SLAYDEN MARK & ANN

STOVER THOMAS EDWARD

TOUCHSTONE RANCH LAND LLC

TRIMBLE TOMMY WAYNE & REBECCA ANN
TUCKER LOIS LAVONNE

WAGERS PAMELA

WARMERDAM BRADLEY STEPHEN & MELODY JILL

WILHELM DONNA
WOOLEY WILLIS W

Owner Address
1055 W PECAN
509 HILLTOP
930 N OLLIE
1133 W FREY
965 KIGHT
1019 N KIGHT
3436 LIVINGSTON
1092 W FREY
1121 W FREY ST
740 W COLLEGE
1804 DEEPWOOD DR
1084 W FREY
102 WILLOW LANE
1150 FM2303
3314 CALHOUN ST

5303 COLLEYVILLE BLVD, SUITE A

PO BOX 3304

PO BOX 3304

410 E CLIFTON

412 BLUEBONNET

1130 WEST FREY

3913 CR801

153 VALLEY OAK PLACE
1065 W FREY

115 N GRAHAM ST #202
765 W SHIRLEY ST

115 N GRAHAM ST #202
1409 SUNSA LANE

990 N OLLIE

1015 N OLLIE

505 CLUE COURT

5905 WATERFORD LANE
3725 HAMILTON AVE
1111 W FREY ST

1120 W FREY

PO BOX 2476

1010 FREY

1027 W FREY

1040 W PECAN ST

3721 OAKBRIAR LANE
PO BOX 201

1065 W PECAN

City
STEPHENVILLE
TROY
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
CARROLLTON
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
ROUND ROCK
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
GRANBURY
COLLEYVILLE
EARLY
EARLY
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
CLEBURNE
WOODBRIDGE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
CARROLLTON
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
AZLE
MCKINNEY
FORT WORTH
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
COLLEYVILLE
BROWNWOOD
STEPHENVILLE

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
CA
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

State

Item 9.

Zip Code
76401
76579
76401
76401
76401
76401
75007
76401
76401
76401
78681
76401-0000
76401
76401-7641
76048-4224
76034
76803-3304
76802
76401-4918
76401
76401
76031
95258
76401
76401
76401
76401
75007
76401
76401
76020
75071
76107
76401
76401
76401
76401
76401
76401
76034
76804
76401
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Steve Killen

From:
Sent:
To:
Subject:

Steve Killen

Wednesday, May 19, 2021 11:38 AM

'‘BS Warmer'

RE: Planning and Zoning Cases RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009

Received. | will provide this to the Commission.

Thank you.

Steve Killen

Direct

Development Services

P: (254) 918-1222 | C: (214) 677-8352
E: skillen@stephenvilletx.gov

or

Steonensite [ © O G

Subscribe to Meeting Notifications Here

This e-mail contains the thoughts and opinions of Steve Killen and does not
represent official City of Stephenville policy.

Note to elected officials: Please respond only to the sender of this message. Reply
to all may result in a violation of the Texas Open Meetings Act.

From: BS Warmer <bswarmer@gmail.com>
Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 10:13 AM

To: Stev
Subject:

e Killen <SKillen@stephenvilletx.gov>
Planning and Zoning Cases RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009

Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission,

This committee has the challenge of managing the inevitable (and welcomed) growth of Stephenville, while also safeguarding the city character. The Chandler
Mansion is an icon that you build around, not one to be rezoned to Multifamily. | am writing to express my strong opposition to the proposed rezoning of the
Chandler Mansion block (Cases RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009) . My opposition is based on a variety of factors:

1. Desire to maintain the character and charm of the neighborhood.

2. The area is already approaching saturation with multifamily dwellings. Based on a quick google map search - there are 15 apartment complexes
within 1 mile (most within .5 mile) of the Chandler Mansion. In addition to this, there are 5 college dorms and several duplexes (W Oak St, N Columbia,
N Belknap, etc.).

3. Uncertainty of the plans for the property. | had a good conversation with one of the owners. He is a genuine person that shares my desire to
maintain the charm of this property and the city. However, rezoning with no concrete plans equates to a blank check that | am not comfortable agreeing
to.

4. Property values are likely to be negatively impacted if we continue saturating the area with multi-family dwellings. MFDU’s are inconsistent with the
predominantly SFDU neighborhood.

5. Frey streetis already narrow / congested and adding multiple units concentrated on this property will make matters worse. Elevated traffic makes
the streets less pedestrian friendly. With Hook Elementary right around the corner — this is a real concern.

| urge you to disapprove the proposed rezoning, and from recent meetings / discussions with my neighbors, | know my opinions are shared by others who have
not managed to communicate these desires. Thank you for your continued service and support of our community.

Best regards,

Brad & Melody Warmerdam

1064 W

Frey St

817-629-4450



TO:

Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission & City Council
FROM:

Scott Hooper

849 N. Clinton

Stephenville, TX 76401
RE:

Chandler Mansion Block Re-zoning

To the committee members on the PZ commission and the City Council,

| was recently made aware of a plan to re-zone the Chandler Mansion block. While | am all for land
development and improvement, | am asking for the board to not approve this request for several
reasons:

e The Chandler Mansion is one of the iconic homes left in Stephenville. | am one of many people
in the area who own homes that we are working to rehab not for a quick buck or to flip and rent
on the cheap, but to restore the original beauty and charm of a property. My properties are
around the corner from this block and would hate to see it wasted.

e The multifamily units that | have seen on the north side of Frey in those neighborhoods are not
kept up and, in my opinion, have actually reduced the value of the homes close to it. A greater
value would be to build small homes along the back of the block to help raise the value of the
surrounding properties and continue regentrification.

e The trafficis already horrible and parking on Frey makes it hard for traffic flow as it is. The
amount of money it would take for the city to improve/ create safe access and egress (ie
driveways and turning lanes) could easily outweigh the benefit and the traffic would surely
overtax Ollie and Frey which is already one of the busiest intersections in Stephenville.

e The inevitable need for improved access to water, sewer and gas will also contribute to the
overall chaos of road issues and seems like it will divert tax dollars away from other things we
need to see worked on in Stephenville.

| ask that you please deny this request.

Thank you for working hard at what you do. It is difficult navigating the razor edge of making sure
Stephenville moves forward yet stays “hometown”.

Sincerely,
il

Item 9.
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Steve Killen

From: Ashley Ritchey <awinbourn@hotmail.com>

Sent: Wednesday, June 16, 2021 3:10 PM

To: Steve Killen; Josh Ritchey; Ashley Ritchey

Subject: Planning and Zoning Cases RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009

Dear Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission,

As a neighbor of the Chandler Mansion located at 1083 Frey, we would like to express our opposition to the rezoning of this property to R3
multifamily. The following are just a few of our reasons:

1. We are a family of 5 with children at Stephenville ISD and Hook Elementary. This will bring increased traffic to the already busy streets of
Frey & Ollie which our children use to walk home from school and could jeopardize their safety.

2. There is uncertainty for plans with this property and rezoning without concrete plans is not something we or our city should be

comfortable with considering.

We desire to maintain the character and charm of the neighborhood.

4. Property values are likely to be negatively impacted when living within such close proximity to a multifamily complex.

w

| urge you to decline their request for rezoning to R-3 multifamily. Thank you for your consideration and continued support and service to
our community.

Sincerely,

Josh & Ashley Ritchey
990 N. Ollie
940.445.1290



June 16, 2021
Re: Case RZ2021-008, 009

Dear Planning and Zoning Commission,

My name is Wayne Trimble. My wife and I live at 1010 W Frey Street with our
2 children, directly across the street from the properties in this application. We
moved to this neighborhood 2 years ago, but have resided in Erath County for
the past 20 years.

We are strongly opposed to the rezone of this property to R3, and here 1s why:

1) Since the properties were recently listed for sale for $2.1 million, an R3
would pave the way for the sale of this property to an investor who would
need to fill the entire block with high-density, multi-family, multi-level
apartment complexes just to recoup their initial $2.1 million investment.
Certainly, R3 would raise the monetary value of the property itself, but it
would not bring more value to the neighborhood, its neighbors, and would
likely negatively impact our property values long term.

2) Ifrezoned, R3 multi-family apartment complexes would lead to more
traffic on an already busy Frey Street, which, on school days, sees a line
of cars backed up from Hook Elementary blocks away, wrapping all the
way around Frey in between our houses. I would suggest a study on
traffic impact on our already narrow and congested streets before
considering a rezoning to allow apartment complexes.

3) Last month we heard this commission’s desire to protect the Chandler
mansion, calling it one of the “iconic properties of the city.” We couldn’t
agree more. Our house at 1010 Frey Street is also known as the “Wolfe
house,” or to younger generations as the “stained glass” house. [ would
consider it “iconic” too, in its own way. In fact, I can’t think of 2 more
iconic residential homes in such close proximity to one another in our
town than the Wolfe house and the Chandler mansion - which makes the
need of preserving the neighborhood around these two properties, and the
other unique and charming homes around them, even more crucial.

Item 9.
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4) The original application mentions rezoning for the “highest and best use
possible.” and in my opinion, the highest and best use is not large
apartment complexes, but developing the raw land behind the 2 houses
with more single family homes for the young families of this
neighborhood, and here’s why: Stephenville has a shortage of single-
family residences, and this block is within 3/10ths of a mile from not one,
but 2 elementary schools - schools with children of families that no doubt
want to live the American dream and own their own homes. I believe the
highest and best use of this property is for single family residences that
will revitalize this neighborhood and preserve it for the generations to
come.

Finally, let me conclude by pointing out that Tarleton’s master plan stops short
of this block and this neighborhood, and the City of Stephenville has designated
current and future use for this block as single-family R1. I respectfully ask you
to adhere to long-term vision of both of these plans, which is in the best interest
of our neighborhood, our school children, our young families, and the city we
all love so much. Thank you.

Sincerely,

Wayne & Rebecca Trimble
1010 W Frey Street
Stephenville, TX 76401
254-485-6537

Item 9.
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TO:

Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission & City Council
FROM:

Scott Hooper

849 N. Clinton

Stephenville, TX 76401
RE:

Chandler Mansion Block Re-zoning
To the committee members on the PZ commission and the City Council,

This is my second letter regarding a plan to re-zone the Chandler Mansion block. Without knowing for
sure, it appears that the owners are seeking to capitalize on gaining a per-square-foot pricing on the
block. Again, while | am all for capitalism, land development and improvement, | am asking for the
board to not approve this request for several reasons:

e |t's not improvement. The Chandler Mansion is one of the iconic homes left in Stephenville. |
am one of many people in the area who own homes that we are rehabilitating not for a quick
buck or to flip and rent on the cheap, but to restore the original beauty and charm of a property.
My properties are around the corner from this block and would hate to see my effort wasted.

e The multifamily units that | have seen on the north side of Frey in those neighborhoods are not
that old, few are kept up and, in my opinion, have actually reduced the value of the homes close
to it. A greater value would be to build small starter homes which would help raise the value of
the surrounding properties and continue regentrification.

e According to https://www.stephenvilletx.gov/administration/page/core-values-mission-vision
“Stephenville’s vision is to create a community that is ready for what the future holds. It will
be innovative, financially stable, safe, and attractive. Stephenville will remain the family-
oriented Cowboy Capital of the World and the City of Champions.” While this is a relatively
generic vision and open for much interpretation, apartments and multifamily housing rarely
ever does anything but become dated and reduce land value over time. THEY USUALLY DO NOT
REMAIN SAFE AND ATTRACTIVE. What will this area look like in the next 80-100 years? | believe
the Chandler mansion, two of my homes, the Wolfe house, the Victorian on the corner and
many other homes surrounding this block are this age. Very few apartments that | know of are
more than slums after 40 years let alone 60-80 years. This has long-term effects.

e The trafficis already horrible and parking on Frey makes it hard for traffic flow as it is. The
amount of money it would take for the city to improve/ create safe access and egress (ie
driveways and turning lanes) could easily outweigh the benefit and the traffic would surely
overtax Ollie and Frey which is already one of the busiest intersections in Stephenville.

e The inevitable need for improved access to water, sewer and gas will also contribute to the
overall chaos of road issues AND will most likely divert tax dollars away from other things we
need to see worked on in Stephenville.

| ask that you please deny this request. Thank you for working hard at what you do. Please continue to
guard Stephenville—a champion community that’s safe and attractive for everyone.

Sincerely,
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June 15, 2021

To: Stephenville Planning and Zoning Commission and Stephenville City Council

From: Greg and Kelly Sult
882 N Clinton
Stephenville, TX 76401

Re: Case No. RZ2021-008 & RZ2021-009 Rezoning requests - Chandler Mansion Block
We are writing to express our opposition to the rezoning request of this property very near to us.

We have been fortunate enough to live in the stately Victorian Scott house, or some know it as the old
Malloy house, for the past 23 years and we have loved the history of our home and have always been
happy to be a part of Stephenville’s legacy and that of our neighborhood which includes the historical
Chandler mansion. We are also excited to celebrate with the city council the selection of Stephenville to
the Texas Main Street program. With this in mind, | find it inconceivable that the commission would
consider allowing such a wonderful property to be torn down. It seems at this very time we should be
preserving our wonderful history!

It has been brought to our attention that the current owners want to sell the entire block, firstly
obtaining a re-zone of R3, so that they may then sell to a more-than-likely out of town or out of state
developer who would then tear down the lovely mansion and erect very profitable (for them)
apartments. | can’t even image looking out my front door and staring at a huge concrete and brick
structure.

In addition to the possibility of apartments just not being attractive, there are some very real concerns
with an over-abundance of people living on that corner. The traffic is already bottle-necked on that
corner, the streets certainly not wide enough for the huge amount of influx that would come from an
apartment complex. If you have every travelled down Frey street in that area around school drop off or
pick up times, you certainly will understand this point.

As property owners in this area for many years, of course we have concerns about a project such as this
lowering the property values of all of those beautiful homes in the neighborhood. We understand
progress and growth and know that Stephenville must cater to Tarleton and the needs of the students,
but we just strongly feel that this corner is not the appropriate location for a zoning of R3.

Thank you very much for your consideration of our request.

Regards,

Greg and Kelly Sult

Item 9.
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Item 11.

STAFF REPORT CS. lephenville
TEHAS

SUBIJECT: Case No.: RZ2021-011

Applicant Erath County Habitat for Humanity, is requesting a rezone of property located at
750 Sloan, Parcel R32729, of PARK PLACE ADDITION, BLOCK 4, LOT 4, of the City of
Stephenville, Erath County, Texas from (R-3) Multi-Family to (B-2) Retail and Commercial
Business.

DEPARTMENT: Development Services
STAFF CONTACT: Steve Killen
RECOMMENDATION:

The Planning and Zoning Commission convened on June 16, 2021, and by a unanimous vote of 7/0, recommended
the City Council approve the rezoning request.

BACKGROUND:

Ms. Staci Morrison, representing Erath County Habitat for Humanity, is requesting a rezone to B-2, Retail and
Commercial Business, to allow for the construction of administrative offices and connecting storage space for the
Habitat of Humanity. Assuming the rezone is approved, the applicant will submit a replat to combine this parcel
with 754 Sloan.

CURRENT ZONING:

R-3 — Multifamily

FUTURE LAND USE:

Multifamily

WATER:

The property is currently served by a 1” water main in Sloan.
SEWER:

The property is currently served by a 4" sanitary sewer main in Sloan.
STREET:

The property is served by Sloan St.

ZONING AND LAND USE:

Location Zoning Future Land Use
Subject Site R-3 — Multifamily Multifamily

North CTS, City, Tarleton, School City, Tarleton, School
South B-2, Retail and Commercial Multifamily
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Item 11.

East R-3, Multifamily Multifamily

West B-2, Retail and Commercial Multifamily

DESCRIPTION OF REQUESTED ZONING

Sec. 154.06.2. Retail and commercial business district (B-2).

6.2.A Description. The Retail and Commercial Business District provides areas for the grouping of retail shops and stores
offering goods and services for the residents in general. These shopping areas will generally be more densely
concentrated and more traffic intensive than allowed in the Neighborhood Business Districts.

6.2.B Permitted Uses.
(1) Animal grooming;
(2) Antique shop/art gallery—sales in building;
(3) Assisted living center;
(4) Athletic field;
(5) Automobile service station and car care center;
(6) Auto parking lot or building (commercial);
(7) Auto parts sales;
(8) Auto repair/mechanic garage;
(9) Auto sales;
(10) Automobile rental,
(11) Bail bond service;
(12) Bakery and confectionery—retail sales only;
(13) Bakery and confectionery;
(14) Banks or other financial institutions;
(15) Boat sales;
(16) Bottling works (wholesale);
(17) Building material sales;
(18) Cabinet and upholstery shop;
(19) Car wash;
(20) Care facility for narcotic, alcoholic or psychiatric patients;
(21) Cemetery/mausoleum;
(22) Church, temple or mosque;
(23) Civic/lcommunity center;
(24) Cleaning and pressing—small shop, pickup and delivery;
(25) Clinic;
(26) College or university;
(27) Commercial amusement (indoor);
(28) Commercial amusement (outdoor);

(29) Convalescent, nursing or long term care facility;
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(30) Convenience/grocery store (without pumps) convenience store (with pumps);
(31) Construction equipment rental and sales;

(32) Construction yard (temporary);

(33) Contractor shop and storage yard,;

(34) Department store;

(35) Discount warehouse store;

(36) Drapery, needlework or weaving shop;

(37) Farmers Market;

(38) Feed, seed and fertilizer store—no bulk storage;

(39) Field office (temporary);

(40) Florist;

(41) Fraternal organization, lodge or civic club;

(42) Furniture or appliance store;

(43) Golf course or country club, driving range;

(44) Greenhouse or nursery for retail plant sales with outside storage;
(45) Handcraft shop;

(46) Health club, weight and aerobic center;

(47) Home improvement center;

(48) Hospital—general acute care (human);

(49) Hotels and motels;

(50) Household appliance service and repair;

(51) Kennel;

(52) Kiosk;

(53) Laboratory (medical);

(54) Landscaping service;

(55) Laundry and cleaning (self service);

(56) Lawn equipment and small engine sales and services;
(57) Micro brewery;

(58) Mini storage/warehouses;

(59) Monument retail sales (outside storage);

(60) Mortuary or funeral home;

(61) Moving company;

(62) Neighborhood grocery store (no fuel service);

(63) Office—professional and general administration;

(64) Park, playground, public community recreation center;
(65) Pawn shop;

(66) Personal service shop (beauty, barber and the like);
(67) Pet shop—small animals within building;

(68) Plumbing shop;

Item 11.
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Item 11.

(69) Portable building sales;
(70) Printing;
(71) Produce stand;
(72) Psychic/Tarot card reader;
(73) Recreational vehicle sales;
(74) Recycling kiosk;
(75) Research lab (non-hazardous);
(76) Restaurant (drive-in type);
(77) Restaurant or cafeteria—without drive-in service;
(78) Retall shops and stores other than listed;
(79) Roofing and siding supply;
(80) Schools—public, private and parochial;
(81) Shopping center;
(82) Storage or repair of furniture and appliances (display inside of building);
(83) Studio (photographer, musician, artist);
(84) Studio for radio and television;
(85) Taxidermy;
(86) Theater—indoor;
(87) Tobacco shop;
(88) Tool and equipment rental shop;
(89) Trailer rental and sales;
(90) Veterinary clinic or hospital; and
(91) Veterinary services.
(92) Restaurant with alcoholic beverage service.

6.2.C Conditional Uses (Special Use Permit required).
(1) Day care center—12 or more children;
(2) Flea market;
(3) Frozen foods locker;
(4) Scientific and research laboratories;
(5) Theater (drive-in); and
(6) Trade and commercial schools.

6.2.D Height, Area, Yard and Lot Coverage Requirements.
(1) Maximum density: There is no maximum density requirement.
(2) Minimum lot area: There is no minimum area requirement.
(3) Minimum lot width: There is no minimum width requirement.
(4) Minimum lot depth: There is no minimum depth requirement.
(5) Minimum depth of front setback: 20 feet.

(6) Minimum depth of rear setback: There is no minimum rear setback requirement unless the lot abuts
upon a Residential District, then a minimum ten feet is required.
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(7) Minimum width of side setback:

(@) Internal lot: There is no minimum side setback requirement unless the lot abuts upon a
Residential District, then a minimum five feet is required.

(b) Corner lot: 20 feet.
(8) Building size: There are no minimum size regulations.
(9) Maximum height of structures: 35 feet.

(10) Public, semi-public or public service buildings, hospitals, institutions or schools may not exceed a
height of 60 feet. Churches, temples and mosques may not exceed 75 feet, if the building is set back
from each yard line at least one foot for each two feet additional height above the height limit in this

district.
No Min. Rear Yard

T o

S8

g0

02
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Z 38 Main Building & Main Building o
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o = =L K .
£ 75 =
2 c =
© = o
£ =20 = 2 =
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T No Minimum
: Lot Size
20
Minimum Front .
Yard ~—— No Min. Width —

N

Note: No rear or side yard except when the lot abuts upon a Residential District, then the minimum setback for rear yard is
10 feet and side yard is five feet.

Street Right of Way

6.2.E Parking Regulations. All uses permitted in the B-2 District: See Section 11 Parking Regulations.
6.2.F Sign Regulation. See Section 12 for Sign Regulations.
6.2.G Exceptions to Use, Height and Area Regulations. See Section 10.

6.2.H Garbage Regulations. Retail and Commercial District businesses will provide a serviceable area specifically for refuse
collection designed for refuse canisters. Each designated canister area will be nine feet wide and eight feet deep (72
square feet), with a cement slab base. If the location of the cement slab is adjacent to a residential district, the slab
must be at least five feet from the property line. The refuse area will be enclosed on three sides by a privacy fence.
Approach areas will meet the requirements of Subsection 6.2.1.

6.2.1 Loading and Unloading Regulations. All loading, unloading and maneuvering of vehicles connected with the activity
must be on the premises and will not be permitted in any street. Loading and unloading areas must be paved with a
sealed surface pavement and maintained in such a manner that no dust will be produced.
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(Am. Ord. 2008-07, passed 5-6-2008; Am. Ord. 2009-23, passed 12-1-2009; Am. Ord. No. 2018-0-25, § 1, 8-7-2018)

FACTORS TO CONSIDER:

e Compliance with Comprehensive Plan?

¢ Is application consistent with Plan?

¢ If not, have conditions changed or new information been offered to support change?

¢ Surrounding Zoning and Land Use

¢ Infrastructure Impacts

¢ Size and Location of Parcel - is land large enough and in proper location for proposed use?
¢ Reasonable Use of Property - does proposed change provide reasonable use of property?

¢ Zoning has great discretion - deny if applicant has not proven it is in the best interest of City to rezone

ALTERNATIVES

1) Accept the recommendation from the Planning and Zoning Commission and approve the rezoning request.

2) Modify the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and approve the rezoning request
designating an alternate zoning classification.

3) Over-rule the recommendation of the Planning and Zoning Commission and deny the rezoning request.
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City of Stephenville
298 W. Washi
JM Stephenville, '1552(“;2401 NO. ‘ L_Z ;D'Z‘I - l '
% Planming and Building ;
Fwwrﬁ( w4708

(254)918-1213

ZONING AMENDMENT APPLICATION

Item 11.

CITY OF STEPHENVILLE
APPLICANT/OWNER: C vzt (‘ D / ‘nlalu /l/’ Q/ /f{(/mz e /r/
First Name Name
ADDRESS: p ) ﬂ)&.'\& 05~ Y43 fﬁé'r
Strect/P.0. Box e W32- le3)- HPPQ pa
5Lﬂlwm/ [ TnYof
City State " Zip Code
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION: 71 (1) {/ pan
Street Address )
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: __ L} Y [avic
Lot(s) Block(s) Addition
l/[(l(L ‘Urt Lui 4 5Yup
PRESENT ZONING:
Zoning District Title
PROPOSED ZONING:
Zoning District Title

APPLICANTS REQUEST FOR ZONING CHANGE IS AS FOLLOWS:

Erom (2‘\ A 4’!: h-1 b makl He Zmu’w C -

He at{mm:m: Lot ot 759 1 Sleon ] A-2. FCHH Ows

,E:&L\_Pﬂ’@;hfs £ 05 ﬂlannuwl h /JW/:/ An f/jrc./ Sﬁudj;,;_,
L‘lll"l

(Altach an additional sheet if necessary)

Oy 514 - 201

Signatlirt of Applicant Date

O-

Date Received

ignature of City Official Recdfived
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Parcel ID
R000029572
R000032740
R000030182
R000032741
R000030181
R000032728

R000032729

R000014966
R000032736
R000032727
R000032739
R000032726
R0O00032734
R000032738
R000032730
R000032733
R000032732
R000029571
R0O00032737

R000032735

Parcel Address
712 TARLETON
775 TARLETON
786 TARLETON
500 N PADDOCK
770 TARLETON
754 W SLOAN

750 SLOAN

0 N PADDOCK & VANDERBILT

719 TARLETON
760 SLOAN
751 TARLETON
759 W TARLETON
468 PADDOCK
739 TARLETON
746 SLOAN
716 SLOAN
486 PADDOCK
744 TARLETON
729 TARLETON

707 W TARLETON

Parcel R32729 Addresses

Owner Name
6+ 6 HOUSING CORPORATION
BRANDON COLBY LEE & LACEY JO CROSS
BURDICK TERESA
CITY OF STEPHENVILLE
CLARK WILLIAM & MONICA
ERATH COUNTY HABITAT FOR HUMANITY

ERATH COUNTY HABITAT FOR HUMANITY

FORT WORTH & WESTERN RAILROAD
GODWIN LEONOR ELENA
HERNANDEZ HECTOR SR

LEWIS PERRY M

MCCOMBS FAMILY TRUST

MOORE JOHN M & CHARLE
OLIVER MARGRET LEIGH
RODRIGUEZ JOSE A

TOUCHON BARBARA & CALE DAVIS
TOUCHON BARBARA LIVELY
VANNOY DALE E & LUCINDA

W TARLETON PROPERTIES

YOUNG RYAN

Owner Address
PO BOX 15173
775 TARLETON
PO BOX 607
298 W WASHINGTON
623 CR2635
PO BOX 505

PO BOX 505

6300 RIDGLEA PLACE STE 1200
575 N CHARLOTTE
6118 FM2214

2814 METZ DR

507 INDIAN CREEK DR
24520 N US281

739 W TARLETON
2591 DENMAN ST

486 N PADDOCK

486 N PADDOCK

1011 OVERLOOK BEND
PO BOX 159

707 W TARLETON

City
SAN ANTONIO
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
WALNUT SPRINGS
STEPHENVILLE

STEPHENVILLE

FORT WORTH
STEPHENVILLE
DESDEMONA
MIDLAND
COMANCHE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
STEPHENVILLE
LEANDER
GRANBURY

STEPHENVILLE

X
X
X
X
X
X

X

X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X
X

State

Item 11.

Zip Code
78212
76401
76401
76401-4257
76690
76401

76401

76116-5738
76401
76445
79705
76442-2928
76401-6310
76401-0000
76401
76401
76401
78641
76048
76401
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COMMITTEE REPORT CS. lephenville
TEXAS

REPORT TYPE: Development Services Committee Report

MEETING: Council Committee
Present: Brandon Huckabee, Chairman, Gerald Cook, Ricky Thurman and Daron Trussell
Absent: None

DEPARTMENT: Development Services
STAFF CONTACT: Steve Killen
HEADER TITLE 1:

The Development Services Committee convened on June 18 at 5:30 PM to consider a waiver request submitted
by Ms. Stacy Morrison on behalf of Habitat for Humanity.

Chairman Huckabee provided an overview of the request and invited staff to discuss in greater detail. Staff
reported that the non-profit organization was requesting assistance in development fees associated with their
new building with an estimated construction value of S55K. Further, based on the fee schedule and the
understanding of the project at this current time, staff estimated that the city fees would be as follows:

ERATH COUNTY HABITAT FOR HUMANITY ESTIMATED COSTS

Rezone: $310.00
Replat: $420.00
Plan Review: $387.59
Water Tap: $660.00
Sewer Tap: $450.00
Building Permit: $1,062.00
Electric Permit: $48.00
Sign Permit: $26.00
Certificate of Occupancy: $26.00
Total Amount: $3,389.59

The Committee voted unanimously to recommend that the City Council deny the fee waiver request.
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CITY OF STEPHENVILLE
ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF STEPHENVILLE, TEXAS REGARDING
THE PRESERVATION AND RESTORATION OF CERTAIN BRICK
STREETS PRESENTLY EXISTING IN THE CITY LIMITS OF THE CITY OF
STEPHENVILLE, TEXAS.

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Stephenville, Texas has determined
that the preservation and restoration of certain brick streets within the city limits of
the City of Stephenville, Texas are historic landmarks in the city which are worthy
of protection and conservation for future generations; and

WHEREAS, this ordinance shall repeal Resolution No. 2019-R-04 previously adopted
by the City Council of the City of Stephenville, Texas on the 5 day of February 2019
and replace said prior resolution regarding Brick Streets

WHEREAS, immediate action to protect and preserve the brick streets is necessary
to prevent the further deterioration of the historic brick streets; and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Stephenville, Texas has determined the
terms of the following Ordinance are necessary to protect and preserve the historic
brick streets.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE
CITY OF STEPHENVILLE, TEXAS:

SECTION 1: DESIGNATION OF BRICK STREET DISTRICT AND POLICY
FOR PRESERVATION AND PROTECTION OF BRICK STREETS

A) Attached to this ordinance is Exhibit A, a map of the Thurber Brick
Streets of Stephenville, Texas. Exhibit A is fully incorporated into this
ordinance for all purposes identifying the designated "Brick Street
District" of the City of Stephenville, Texas

B) It shall be the policy of the City of Stephenville, Texas to preserve and protect
and restore existing historic brick streets and streets designated as future
brick streets located in the "Brick Street District" as now established or
hereafter extended.

C) If previously unidentified, covered brick streets are identified in the future,
the City of Stephenville City Council will be notified and convened to discuss
the possible amendment to the Brick Street District.

Item 16.
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SECTION 2: AVAILABLE BRICK

Brick streets shall be repaired and restored exclusively by City of
Stephenville employees, contractors, or personnel directly hired and/or under the
direction and supervision of the City of Stephenville. Should the City of
Stephenville not have historic bricks available, the restoration process shall replace
bricks with substantially equivalent brick of the same color, size, and grade that meet
the specifications described in the City of Stephenville Engineering Standards Manual
as approved from time to time by the Public Works Director and the City Council.

SECTION 3: POLICY AND PLAN FOR REPAIR OF DAMAGE TO EXISTING

BRICK STREETS

A) Prior to the effective date of this ordinance, several brick streets located in the
City of Stephenville, Texas have been repaired by patching the brick streets
with asphalt and other materials.

B) A capital improvement plan shall be presented each fiscal year identifying
projects to improve brick streets and an annual report specific to
improvements to brick streets shall be made to the city council at the end of
each fiscal year. Further, it shall be the policy of the City of Stephenville to
address all pavement patches in Brick Street District streets as quickly and as
efficiently as possible to maintain the brick streets with historic brick and not
with asphalt or other street paving materials.

C) No provision of this ordinance shall prohibit the repair and restoration of other
brick streets located outside the Brick Street District.

SECTION 4: REQUIRED NOTICE FOR DAMAGE AND REPAIRS TO BRICK
STREETS

Prior to removing any bricks or asphalt patching of brick streets from any city
street, the individual, business entity or public utility shall give advance written notice
to the Public Works Director of the City of Stephenville of the need for work on or
under the street. Before commencing construction, the Public Works Director must
authorize in writing the work to be performed on any bricks or asphalt patches and
arrangements shall be made with the Public Works Director for paying the costs for
repair or restoration with brick. It is understood that from time to time emergency
repairs will be required on public utilities located under Brick Street District streets, in
which case the City of Stephenville will affect repairs to the brick streets efficiently and
effectively in accordance with this ordinance. An emergency is defined as a situation
presenting an imminent or actual hazard to personal or public health, safety, or property.

2
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SECTION 5: PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES

After the effective date of this ordinance, it shall be the policy of the City of
Stephenville, Texas to prohibit the following activities regarding brick streets located
in the Brick Street District of the city, to wit:

1. COVERING OF BRICK STREETS: No brick streets located in the Brick
Street District of the City of Stephenville, Texas shall have applied to it asphalt
or any other materials which covers or partially covers the surface of any brick
streets located in the Brick Street District.

2. REMOVING OR PERMANENTLY DAMAGING BRICK STREETS:
No individual or business entity may remove bricks from any brick street or
conduct any activity which would permanently damage any brick street located
in the Brick Street District except in accordance with the terms of this
ordinance.

SECTION 6: REPAIR AND RESTORATION

DAMAGE TO EXISTING BRICK STREETS: The city, as well as all
individuals, business entities, or public utility companies that shall remove or cause
the removal of any existing brick streets or asphalt patches on brick streets located
within the designated Brick Street District, by this Ordinance, shall pay the costs of
repairs and restoration of the brick street in accordance with the specifications as
approved and adopted by the City Council of the City of Stephenville, Texas
identified in the City of Stephenville Engineering Standards Manual and approved in
writing by the Public Works Director of the City of Stephenville, Texas. The costs of
the repair shall be the actual costs incurred by the city in making the repair or
restoration as determined by the Public Works Director.

SECTION 7: PRIORITY OF ORDINANCE

The terms of this ordinance shall take priority over the terms of any conflicting
or ambiguous ordinances or manuals adopted by the City of Stephenville, Texas,
including City of Stephenville Engineering Standards Manual as now existing or
hereafter changed unless said ordinance specifically addresses the name and specific
terms of the this ordinance.

Item 16.
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SECTION 8: ENFORCEMENT

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR: The Public Works Director of the City of
Stephenville, Texas or his designee(s) shall have the duty and obligation to enforce the
terms of this Ordinance by such reasonable means and methods as said Director may
determine appropriate. Any decision by the Director may be appealed to the City
Manager by an affected party within thirty (30) days after the Director's decision has
been communicated to the affected party.

PENALTY FOR NON-COMPLIANCE: In addition to any other remedy
available at law, including injunctive relief, any person, firm, or corporation
violating any provision of this Ordinance shall be guilty of a misdemeanor. Upon
conviction, the guilty party who has violated this Ordinance shall be punished by a
fine not to exceed $200.00 per day for each violation. Each day a violation continues
after passageof sixty (60) days from the date of the filing of the initial written notice
of violation by the city shall constitute a separate and distinct offense.

SECTION 9: EFFECTIVE DATE
This Ordinance shall be effective ten (10) days following passage.
PASSED AND APPROVED by the City Council of the City of

Stephenville, Texas  this day of
2021.

Item 16.

Doug Svien, Mayor

ATTEST:

, City Secretary

248




e = =

et

Brick Streets

mmmmmm Covered

e Exposed

Brick Street District

: T | gea The City of Stephenville makes every effort to ensure this map is free of errors but does not warrant the map or its features.
—+—— Railroad | B e T e RS s ik e
The City of Stephenville provides this map without any warranty of any kind whatsoever, either expressed or implied.




5.5 BRICK PAVEMENT DESIGN
This section shall govern the installation of new brick pavement and the repair of existing brick
pavement on city streets.
a. Brick Pavement Repair
1. Repair of existing brick streets shall be performed in accordance with the enclosed
standard details.

b. New Brick Pavement
1. New Brick Paving, installed by contractors, shall conform to the standard Brick Unit Paving
specification below assembled for specific projects.

Item 17.

BRICK UNIT PAVING
PART 1- GENERAL SECTION Page 1 of 8
1.1 SUMMARY BRICK UNIT PAVING
A. Section Includes:

1. All labor, materials and equipment necessary to install brick pavers, set in mortar on reinforced
concrete base for:
a. New brick paving
b.Brick paving repair
B. Deviations from this City of Stephenville Standard Specification

1. Concrete base for Brick Unit Paving ahall be measured and paid for under separate Concrete
Paving Section.

2. Existing brick pavers may be reused only if approved by the Engineer. Existing bricks that do not
meet the required specifications for re-use shall be delivered to the City of Stephenville stockpile
located at the city’s Municipal Service Center at 1201 Glen Rose Road.

C. Related Specification Sections include, but may not be limited to:

1. Division 0 - Bidding Requirements, Contract Forms, and Conditions of the Contract

2. Division 1- General Requirements

3. Section - Concrete Paving

1.2 PRICE AND PAYMENT PROCEDURES
A. Measurement and Payment
1. New Brick Paving
a.Measurement
1) Measurement for this Item shall be by the square yard of Brick Paving.
b.Payment
1) The work performed and materials furnished in accordance with this Item and
measured as provided under "Measurement" will be paid for at the unit price bid per
square yard of Brick Paving completed and accepted in its final position per Drawings
C. The price bid shall include:
1) Sample panels
2) Shaping and fine grading the roadbed
3) Furnishing and applying all water required
4) Furnishing, loading and unloading, storing, hauling, handling, mixing, placing, finishing
and curing all concrete ingredients for concrete base material
5) Furnishing and installing all reinforcing steel for concrete base
6) Furnishing, mixing and placing all setting materials including mortar
1. setting bed, wet mortar joint filler and high bond mortar mix
7) Furnishing and setting all brick unit pavers
8) Sealing joints

CITY OF STEPHENVILLE

STANDARD CONSTRUCTION SPECIFICATION DOCUMENTS

Standard Brick Pavement Rehabilitation Specification

250




Item 17.

BRICK UNIT PAVING
Page 2 of 8
2. Existing Brick Paving Repair
a. Measurement
1) Measurement for this Item shall be by the square yard of Brick Paving repaired.
b. Payment
1) The work performed and materials furnished in accordance with this Iltem and measured as
provided under "Measurement" will be paid for at the unit price bid per square yard of Brick
Paving Repair completed and accepted in its final position per Drawings.
C. The price shall include
1) Sample panels

2) Shaping and fine grading the roadbed
3) Furnishing and applying all water required
4) Furnishing, mixing and placing all setting materials including mortar setting bed, wet mortar

joint filler and high bond mortar mix
5) Furnishing and setting all brick unit pavers
6) Sealing joints

1.3 REFERENCES
A. Reference Standards
1. Reference standards cited in this Specification refer to the current reference standard published
at the time of the latest revision date logged at the end of thisSpecification, unless a date is
specifically cited.
2. ASTM International (ASTM):
a. (67, Test Methods of Sampling and Testing Brick and Structural Clay Tile
C144, Aggregate for Masonry Mortar
C150, Portland Cement
C207, Specification for Hydrated Lime for Masonry Purposes
€902, Specification for Pedestrian and Light Traffic Paving Brick
C1602, Standard Specification for Mixing Water Used in the Production of
Hydraulic Cement Concrete
3. The Brick Industry Association, Technical Notes
a. No. 1, Coldand Hot Weather Construction

+ho o 0o

1.4 ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS

A. Permitting
1. Obtain Street Use Permit to make utility cuts in the street from the appropriate city Department
in conformance with current ordinances.
2. The Public Works Department will inspect paving repair after construction

1.5 SUBMITTALS
A. Product Data: Submit manufacturer's technical data for each manufactured product, including
certification that each product complies with specified requirements.
B. Samples
1. For material verification purposes submithte following:
a. Manufacturer’s testing certification conforming to ASTM C67 testing methods for:
1) Compressive strength, pounds per square inch
2)Absorption, 5 hour and 24 hour submersion in cold water
3)Maximum saturation coefficient
4)Initial rate of absorption (suction)
5)Abrasion index
6)Freeze-thaw
7)Efforesence
b. Masonry paving unit samples for each type of masonry paving required. Include in each
set the full rance of exposed color and texture to be expected in the completed work.

CITY OF STEPHENVILLE Standard Brick Pavement Rehabilitation Specification
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Item 17.

BRICK UNIT PAVING
Page 3 of 8

1.6 ACTION SUBMITTALS/INFORMATIONAL SUBMITTALS [NOT USED]
1.7 CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS [NOT USED]-

1.8 MAINTENANCE MATERIAL SUBMITTALS [NOT USED]

1.9 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Installer: If pavers are installed by a contractor and not installed by City, brick paver and any subcontractors
shall have experience in brick paving and previous work will be reviewed by the City prior to start of work.

B. Sample Panel: Prior to installation of masonry paving work, fabricate sample panel using materials, pattern
and joint treatment indicated for project work, including special features for expansion joints and contiguous

work.
1. Include color range, size, texture, bond, expansion jointing, pattern, finish, and workmanship.
2. Make 6 feet x 6 feet minimum.
3. Provide range of color, texture and workmanship to be expected in the completed work.
4. Sample panel shall be inspected by the City. If the sample is not acceptable, construct additional panels

at no cost to the City until an acceptable panel is constructed.

Obtain City's acceptance of visual qualities of the panel before start of masonry paving work.

6. Maintain the sample panel as the standard of minimal quality for approval of all proposed brick
pavement work required for the project. Locate sample panel near the pavement work to facilitate
comparison.

7. Do not change source of brands for masonry units, setting materials, or grout during progress of work.
8. Remove sample panel from the site at completion of project.

u

1.10 DELIVERY, STORAGE, AND HANDLING
A. Delivery: Brick pavers and associated installation materials shall be delivered to thejob adequately protected
from damage during transit.
1. Brick paver shall be carefully packed by the supplier for shipment with name of manufacturer and
identification of contents.
2. Pavers damaged in any manner will be rejected and replaced with new materials at no additional cost
to the City.
B. Storage: Protect grout and mortar materials during storage and construction against wetting by rain, snow
or ground water and against soilage or intermixture with earth or other types of materials.
1. Protect grout and mortar materials from deterioration by moisture and temperature.
2. Storein a dry location or in waterproof container.
3. Keep containers tightly closed and away from open flame. Protect liquid components from freezing.

1.11 FIELD CONDITIONS
A. Ambient Conditions
1. Normal construction: temperatures between 40 degrees and 100 degrees Fahrenheit.
2. Cold Weather Construction: temperatures below 40 degrees Fahrenheit.
a. Comply with requirements for masonry construction in cold weather from the BIA Technical Notes
on Brick Construction, No. 1, Cold and Hot Weather Construction, Table No. 1 as summarized in the
following table:

CITY OF STEPHENVILLE Standard Brick Pavement Rehabilitation
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BRICK UNIT PAVING
Page 4 of 8

COLD WEATHER CONSTRUCTION — BELOW 40°F

Preparation Requirements

Construction
Requirements

Protection
Requirements

1.12

Templ (Prior to Work) {Work in Progress) (After Masonry is Placed)
Do not lay masonry units having either
a temperaturebelow 20 degrees F or Heat mixing water or sand to
containing frozen moisture, visible ice, | produce mortar between 40 °F
or snow on their surface. - 120 °F.
o Completely cover newly
Remove visible ice and snow from top Do not heat water or .
o . . . constructed masonry with a
40 °F surface of existing foundations and aggregates used in mortar or -
. . weather-resistive membrane
to masonry to receive new construction. grout above 140 °F. f .
R ) or 24 hr afterconstruction.
32°F Heat these surfaces above freezing,
using methods that do notresult in Heat grout materials when their
damage. temperature is below 32°F.
Comply with cold weather
requirements above.
Maintain mortar temperature
above freezing until used in .
32°F ) masgnr Comply with cold weather
to Comply with cold weather \& requirementsabove.
25 F requirements above.
Heat grout materials so grout is
at a temperature between 70°
and 120 °F during mixing and
placed at a temperature
above 70°F.
Comply_W|th cct)Id \gleather Completely cover newly
requirements above. constructed masonry with
25 oF weather-resistive insulating
to Heat masjonry surfa;:es under blankets or equal protection for
20°F Comply with cold weather c.onstructlon to 40°F and use 24 hrafter completion of work.
requirements above. wind br.eaks or e.nclosures when Extend time period to 48hr for
the wind velocity exceeds 15 grouted masonry, unless the
mph. only cement in the grout is
. Type Ill Portland cement.
Heat masonry to a minimum
of 40 °F prior to grouting.
Maintain newly constructed
masonry temperature above 32
degrees F for at least 24 hr after
being completed by using heated
enclosures, electric heating
blankets, infraredlamps, or other
. . tabl thods.
20°F Comply with cold weather Comply with cold weather accep avle rTwe 0es
. . Extend time period to 48hr for
and requirements above. requirements above.
Below grouted masonry, unless the
only cement in the grout is
Type Ill Portland cement.
1. Preparation and Construction requirements are based on ambient temperatures.
2. Protection requirements, after masonry is placed, are based on mean daily temperatures.

WARRANTY [NOT USED]

CITY OF STEPHENVILLE
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Item 17.

BRICK UNIT PAVING
Page 5 of 8

3. Hot Weather Construction: temperatures above 100 degrees Fahrenheit.
a. Comply with requirements for masonry construction in hot weather from the BIA
Technical Notes on Brick Construction, No 1., Cold and Hot Weather Construction,

Table No. 1 as summarized in the following table:

HOT WEATHER CONSTRUCTION — ABOVE 100°F

1

Preparation
Requirements
(Prior to Work)

Construction Requirements

{Work in Progress)

Protection Requirements
(After Masonry is Placed)

Temp

Above

115 °F or 105 °F
with a wind
velocity over 8
mph

Shade materials and
mixingequipment from

direct sunlight.

Comply with hot weather
requirements. below.

Use cool mixing water for mortar and

grout. Ice must be melted or removed
before water is added to other mortar
or grout materials.

Comply with hot weatherrequirements
below.

Maintain mortar and grout at a

Comply with hot weather
requirements below.

Above

100 °F or
90 °F with
8 mph wind

Provide necessary

conditions and equipment
toproduce mortar having a
temperature below 120 °F.

Maintain sand piles in

adamp, loose
condition.

temperature below 120 °F.

Flush mixer, mortar transport
container, and mortar boardswith cool
water before they come into contact
with mortaringredients or mortar.

Maintain mortar consistency by
retempering with cool water.

Use mortar within 2 hr of initialmixing.

Fog spray newly constructed
masonry untildamp, at least 3
times a day until the masonry is 3
days old.

1.
2.

CITY OF STEPHENVILLE

Preparation and Construction requirements are based on ambient temperatures.
Protection requirements, after masonry is placed, are based on mean daily temperatures.

Standard Brick Pavement Rehabilitation
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BRICK UNIT PAVING
Page 6 of 8

PART 2- PRODUCTS

2.1 OWNER-FURNISHED PRODUCTS
A. Historic Thruber Brick shall be used for new brick paving, if available, as directed by the City.

2.2 MATERIALS
A. Rigid Concrete Base: See Section
B. Reinforcing Steel: Section .
C. Paving Brick for Heavy Vehicular Traffic: Standard Solid (uncored) Paving Brick of modular size, 2-1/4
inches x 3-5/8 inches x 7-5/8 inches except as indicated, as per ASTM C1272, Type R, Application PX.
D. Setting Materials
1.The mortar setting bed shall consist of:
a. 1 part Portland cement -ASTM CI 50, Type 1
b. 1/4 part hydrated lime by volume -ASTM C207, Type 5
c. 3 parts damp sand-ASTM C144 (for high-bond mortar, gradation in accordance with additive
manufacturer's recommendations).
d. Add water to obtain stiff mix -ASTM C1602.

2.The wet mortar joint filler shall consist of:
a. 1 part Portland cement -AS1M CI50, Type 1
b. 3 partsdrysand-ASTM C144.
c. Add water to obtain a wet mix - ASTM C1602

3. High bond mortar mix shall consist of:
a. 1sack Portland cement - ASIM C150, Type 1
b. 50 pounds workability additive -"A" Marble Dust by Armco Steel Corporation, Piqua Quarries,
or Ute Dolomite Limestone by U.S. Lime Division of Flintkote Corporation, or Micro Fill No. 2
by Pure Stone Company, Marble Falls, Texas or city-approved equal
3-1/4 cubic feet of sand -ASTM C144
d. 4 gallons of high bond additive -Sarabond Liquid Mortar Additive by the Dow Chemical
Corporation or approved equal
e. Mix with water in accordance with High Bond Additive manufacturer's recommendations.

o

2.3 ACCESSORIES [NOT USED]

2.4 SOURCE QUALITY CONTROL [NOT USED]
PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.1  INSTALLERS [NOT USED]

3.2 EXAMINATION [NOT USED]

3.3 PREPARATION [NOT USED]

CITY OF STEPHENVILLE Standard Brick Pavement Rehabilitation
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Item 17.

BRICK UNIT PAVING
Page 7 of 8
3.4 INSTALLATION

A. Place 10-inch reinforced concrete base under proposed brick pavement for Arterial Streets.
1. Concrete base: See applicable Rigid Concrete Base Section.
a. Design concrete mix design for a minimum compressive strength of 3,000 pounds per square
inch at the age of 2 days for either type | or type Ill cement
2. Reinforcing Steel: Section .
a. No. 4 bars at 18-inches on center both directions
3. Keep concrete surfaces to receive pavers dry, clean, free of oily or waxy films and level.
B. Protect adjacent finished surfaces from soiling, staining, and other damage during construction. Clean and
restore any damage or stains to adjacent surfaces to equal or better than original condition.
C. Spread and screed setting bed mixture to a true plane and limit bed mixture to an amount that can be
covered with pavers before initial set.
Set pavers in the patterns shown in the field with uniform tight joints (1/4-inch).
Do not use pavers with chips, cracks, or voids.
Set paver in 1-inch layer of neat cement paste over setting bed.
Tolerances: Tolerances shall be checked continuously as work progresses so that nonconforming areas
can be corrected before mortar sets.
1. Alignment tolerances: maximum 1/4 inch in 20 feet; 1/2 inch in 40 feet
2. Surface tolerance: maximum plus or minus 1/8 inch in 8 feet noncumulative

G mmo

3. surface tolerances will be checked and enforced. The Contractor shall make provisions that brick
pavers can meet these tolerances as they are supplied. Imperfections in the brick dimensions
and surfaces will not constitute as reasons to accept inferior paving and the work will be rejected.

H. Tamp pavers into full contact with the mortar bed to a level plane. Do not set large areas of pavers
for later leveling.

I.  After pavers are set and cleaned free of mortar, fill joints with mortar, completely filling voids.

J.  Remove excess dry joint filler mixture and fog surface with fine water spray.

K. Cut pavers with motor driven masonry saw with a sharp diamond blade. Exposed broken edges will
not be allowed.

L. A7daydamp cureis required. Employ barricades to restrict traffic during the 7 day cure period. After
the 7 day damp cure period, clean the surface with stiff brush and brick manufacturer's recommended
cleaning solution in increments not exceeding 100 square feet, leaving surface clean and free of
mortar and grout stains.

M. At the end of each day, spray paved areas with a fine mist of water. Fill joints within three (3) days
after the pavers are set. Spray paved areas until the joints are filled.

N. Sweep and keep brick surfaces clean at all times in order to avoid penetration of cement into the brick
surface.

3.5 REPAIR
A. General

1. Remove and replace masonry paving units as directed by the City that are loose, chipped, broken,
stained or otherwise damaged, or if units do not match adjoining units as intended.

2. Provide new units to match adjoining units and install in same manner as original units, with same
joint treatment to eliminate evidence of replacement.

3. Pointing: during tooling of joints, enlarge voids or holes and completely fill with mortar or grout.
Point-up joints at sealant type joints to provide a neat, uniform appearance, properly prepared to
application of sealant.

CITY OF STEPHENVILLE Standard Brick Pavement Rehabilitation
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Item 17.

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13

3.14

BRICK UNIT PAVING
Page 8 of 8

4. Cleaning: Remove excess mortar/grout from exposed brick surfaces, wash and scrub clean.

5. Protect masonry paving installations from deterioration, discoloration

or damage during

subsequent constructions and until acceptance of work, in compliance with recommendations of

installer and paving unit manufacturer.
B. Trench Repair
1. Preparation

a. Replace a continuous section if multiple repairs are closer than 10 feet apart from edge of one repair

to the edge of a second repair.
b.Surface Preparation: mark pavement cut repairs for approval by the CITY.
2. Removal
a. Use care in removing brick pavers to be repaired to prevent damage to
3. Installation: See Article 3.4.

RE-INSTALLATION [NOT USED]

FIELD QUALITY CONTROL [NOT USED]
SYSTEM STARTUP [NOT USED]
ADJUSTING [NOT USED]

CLEANING [NOT USED]

CLOSEOUT ACTIVITIES [NOT USED]
PROTECTION [NOT USED]
MAINTENANCE [NOT USED]

ATTACHMENTS [NOT USED]

END OF SECTION

Revision
Log

DATE NAME SUMMARY OF CHANGE

CITY OF STEPHENVILLE Standard Brick Pavement Rehabilitation
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Item 17.

ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE IN ACCORDNCE
WITH CITY OF STEPHENVILLE STANDARDS BRICK STREET REPAIRS FOR

EXISTING CURB AND
GUTTER

NOTES

STREETS WITH CONCRETE BASE

CONSTRUCTION JOINT WITH
CITY-APPROVED SILICONE
SEALANT (TYP) |

DONEL= EXISTING CURS
EXISTING BRICK | & GUTTER
PAVEMENT —SEE NOTE #1 — SEE NOTE 46

— MORTAR BED

EXISTING BASE (IF ANY)

AT

e TRENCH WALL

#4 BARS @ 18” O.C.E.W.

BACKFILL MATERIAL

1. REINFORCED CONCRETE BASE SHALL BE REPLACED TO A MINIMUM DEPTH OF 9-INCHES FOR RESIDENTIAL STREETS OR 11-INCHES FOR
ARTERIAL AND INDUSTRIAL STREETS.

2. CONCRETE SHALL BE 4,000 PSI AT 28 DAYS PER CITY OF STEPHENVILLE STANDARDS.

3. FLOWABLE FILL IS REQUIRED TO BACKFILL ALL TRENCHES IN DOWNTOWN STREETS, AND OPTIONAL IN OTHER AREAS. BACKFILL SHALL MEET
STANDARD SPECIFICATION.

4. EXISTING BRICK SHALL BE REMOVED CAREFULLY TO AVOID DAMAGE. DAMAGED BRICK IS TO BE REPLACED WITH UNDAMAGED BRICK TO
MATCH ADJACENT BRICK.

5. MORTAR BED AND WET MORTAR JOINT FILLER PER CITY-APPROVED SPECIFICATION.

6. FOR RESIDENTIAL STREETS, USE #4X18-INCH LONG PREFORMED BARS, DOWELED AND EPOXYED A MIN. 6-INCHES INTO EXISTING PAVEMENT|

AT 18-INCHES ON CENTER AND 12-INCHES ON CENTER FOR ATERIAL AND HEAVY LOAD STREETS (TYP).
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BRICK STREET REPAIRS FOR

STREETS WITH FLEXIBLE BASE

SET REPLACEMENT BRICKS TO MATCH
EXISTING BRICK BOND PATTERN
MATCH EXISTING
BRICK BOND PATTERN

1

.‘ .::‘: ,:‘

—_

APPROVED FLEXBASE FOR ASPHALT/GRAVEL PAVEMENT

OR CEMENT STABILIZED BACKFILL FOR CONCRETE PAVEMENT
MECHANICALLY COMPACTED TO 95% STANDARD

PROCTOR DENSITY (ASTM D698)

12" MIN.

3> MIN FOR NEW
WATER LINE APPROVED SELECT OR GRANULAR FILL MATERIAL

N
VARIES ; BACKFILLED IN 6" LIFTS
INSTALLATION MECHANICALLY COMPACTED TO 90% STANDARD
PROCTOR DENSITY (ASTM D698)

10 GAUGE SOLID COPPER TRACER WIRE
(BLUE FOR WATER)
[ (GREEN FOR WASTEWATER AND STORMWATER)
(RED FOR POWER)
(YELLOW FOR GAS)
(ORANGE FOR COMMUNICATION)
CONNECT TRACER WIRE SPLICES WITH WEATHER PROOF,
SILICONE FILLED WIRE NUTS

GRANULAR MATERIAL FOR WATER
P NCTCOG STANDARD SPECIFICATION 504.2.2.2

% TO 1 % INCH COARSE CRUSHED STONE FOR WASTEWATER
& STORMWATER

\ UTILITY PIPELINE

6" MIN.
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COMMITTEE REPORT CS. lephenville
TEXAS

REPORT TYPE: Nominations Committee Report

MEETING: June 15, 2021
Present: Gerald Cook, chair; Justin Haschke, Alan Nix
Absent: LeAnn Durfey

DEPARTMENT: Administration
STAFF CONTACT: Staci L. King
CITIZEN BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

The Nominations Committee met to discuss appointments to the Main Street Advisory Board, Senior Citizen
Advisory Board, Planning and Zoning Commission, and Electrical Board.

Motion by Alan Nix, second by Justin Haschke, to recommend appointing Kelly Sult to the Main Street Advisory
Board. Motion carried by unanimous vote.

Motion by Justin Haschke, second by Alan Nix, to recommend appointing Donna Wesson to the Senior Citizen
Advisory Board. Motion carried by unanimous vote.

Motion Alan Nix, second by Justin Haschke, to recommend appointing Tom Hines as Alternate 1 on the Planning
and Zoning Commission. Motion carried by unanimous vote.

Motion by Justin Haschke, Alan Nix, to recommend appointing Jerrod Hancock to the Electrical Board. Motion
carried by unanimous vote.
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COMMITTEE REPORT CS. [eplwfwdfe
TEWAS

REPORT TYPE: Personnel Committee Report

MEETING: June 15, 2021
Present: Ricky Thurman Chair, Daron Trussell Pl 3, Gerald Cook PI 7
Absent: LeAnn Durfey PI 1

DEPARTMENT: Finance
STAFF CONTACT: Monica Harris
BUDGET DISCUSSION OF SALARIES AND BENEFITS FOR FY 2021-2022:

Staff presented CPl indexes for potential inclusion in the FY 2021-2022 pay plan. Cost of living and ad-hoc cost of
living (for retirees only) changes to the TMRS plan were discussed. Staff had requested change of plan calculations
from TMRS, which were not yet available. This information will be provided upon receiving the information from
TMRS. No action was taken.
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STAFF REPORT CS. lephenville
TEKAS

SUBJECT: Monthly Budget Report for the period Ending May 31, 2021

DEPARTMENT:  Finance

STAFF CONTACT: Monica Harris

BACKGROUND:

In reviewing the financial statements ending May 31, 2021, the financial indicators are better than
anticipated.

Property Tax

We received $95K in property taxes in the month of May, resulting in $216K or 3.42% increase over
funds collected through last May. The $6.57 million collected fiscal year to date is 98.83% of budget,
which is slightly more than the 98.76% anticipated.

Sales Tax

We received $707K in sales tax in May, resulting in $771K or 18.06% more than the funds collected
through last May. The S5 million collected fiscal year to date is 80.79% of the $6.24 million
budgeted, which is higher than the 65.85% anticipated.

HOT Funds

Lodging establishments have reported $284K in Hotel Occupancy Taxes through May, as compared
to the $242K through last May. We have received S55K of sports venue tax through May. We
spent $329K in Hotel Occupancy Tax funds through fiscal year to date as compared to $119K last
year due to the Day Tripper contract, gateway planning, and Moo-la fest.

Revenue (Budgetary comparison)
The target budget for operating revenue is $20.7 million. We received $21.2 million in revenue fiscal
year to date, resulting in S588K over the target budget due to sales taxes and service charges.

Expenditures (Budgetary comparison)
The target budget for operating expenditures is $13.8 million. We expended $13.3 million fiscal
year to date, resulting in $476K under the target budget.

Revenue (Prior year comparison)
Operating revenue received last year was $20.4 million as compared to the current year's $21.2
million, resulting in an $S850K increase due to property tax, sales taxes, and service charges.

Expenditures (Prior year comparison)

Operating expenditures last year were $12.6 million as compared to the current year's $13.3 million,
resulting in a $714K increase due to costs associated with COVID-19 prevention, stimulus grant to
reduce the impact of COVID-19, damage claims, wages, advertising and gateway planning.
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City of Stephenville

Property Tax Collections
2 year 12 month rolling comparison
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Month ~ General Fund Debt Svc Total Month  General Fund  Debt Svc Total
Jun-19 23,002 1,994 24,996 Jun-20 79,259 3,379 82,637
Jul-19 28,289 2,374 30,664 Jul-20 39,473 2,238 41,712
Aug-19 7,613 695 8,308 Aug-20 11,762 824 12,585
Sep-19 7,943 635 8,578 Sep-20 9,137 385 9,522
Oct-19 281,652 11,982 293,634 Oct-20 325,732 13,700 339,432
Nov-19 265,777 11,255 277,032 Nov-20 304,970 12,804 317,774
Dec-19 2,337,593 98,214 2,435,807 Dec-20 2,421,750 100,945 2,522,695
Jan-20 2,928,631 122,287 3,050,918 Jan-21 2,973,159 123,936 3,097,096
Feb-20 133,573 5,889 139,461 Feb-21 78,158 3,268 81,427
Mar-20 36,684 1,632 38,315 Mar-21 90,202 3,822 94,024
Apr-20 4,688 163 4,851 Apr-21 24,696 1,064 25,760
May-20 112,150 4,518 116,668 May-21 90,794 3,893 94,687
12 month total 6,429,232 12 month total 6,719,350
Oct 2019 - May 2020 6,356,686 Oct 2020 - May 2021 6,572,894
FY 2019-2020 Total 6,501,308 FY 2020-2021 Budget 6,650,644
Collection to date as percentage of fiscal year total 97.78% Collection to date as percentage of fiscal year budget

Item 21.

98.83%
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Sales and Use Tax
2 year 12 month rolling comparison
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Month General 4B Total Month General 4B Total % Change =/-
Jun-19 457,429 41,584 499,014 Jun-20 401,495 36,500 437,994 -12.23%
Jul-19 438,349 39,850 478,199 Jul-20 458,003 41,637 499,639 4.48%
Aug-19 641,868 58,352 700,220 Aug-20 542,275 49,298 591,573 -15.52%
Sep-19 481,902 43,809 525,711 Sep-20 469,140 42,649 511,790 -2.65%
Oct-19 501,862 45,624 547,485 Oct-20 576,942 52,449 629,391 14.96%
Nov-19 556,777 50,616 607,393 Nov-20 636,149 57,832 693,981 14.26%
Dec-19 480,875 43,716 524,591 Dec-20 497,048 45,186 542,234 3.36%
Jan-20 453,492 41,227 494,719 Jan-21 484,228 44,021 528,249 6.78%
Feb-20 574,600 52,236 626,836 Feb-21 865,761 78,706 944,466 50.67%
Mar-20 461,845 41,986 503,831 Mar-21 509,621 46,329 555,950 10.34%
Apr-20 409,098 37,191 446,289 Apr-21 404,427 36,766 441,193 -1.14%
May-20 476,944 43,359 520,302 May-21 648,372 58,943 707,314 35.94%
12 month total 6,474,589 12 month total 7,083,774 9.41%
Oct 2019 - May 2020 4,271,446 Oct 2020 - May 2021 5,042,778 18.06%
FY 2019-2020 Total 6,312,441 FY 2020-2021 Budget 6,241,679
Collection to date as percentage of fiscal year total 67.67% Collection to date as percentage of fiscal year budget 80.79%
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City of Stephenville
Budget vs. YTD Actual

Item 21.

May 31, 2021
Date Prepared: July 5, 2021
Approved 05/31/21 Dollar
Budget Target Current Variance Percent
Source of Funds 2020-20201 Budget YTD Actual Positive(Negative) Variance Notes

Property Taxes 6,674,946 $ 6,579,794 $ 6,579,056 $ (738) (0.01%) Immaterial
Sales Taxes 6,241,679 4,113,561 5,042,778 929,217 22.59% Back to school, audit collections,stimulus checks
Other Taxes 2,099,361 1,660,881 1,574,226 (86,655) (5.22%) Hotel Occupancy, franchise, & mixed drink taxes
Licenses and permits 331,562 230,961 301,499 70,538 30.54% Building & food service permits, plan reviews
Fines and forfeitures 129,250 86,164 80,406 (5,758) (6.68%) Citation & Collection Dependent
Service charges 11,204,096 6,810,046 7,421,739 611,693 8.98% Water, Sewer, & Landfill charges
Interest on investments 37,947 25,569 17,651 (7,917) (30.97%)  Fluctuates with cash flows
Other Income 1,746,433 1,148,513.94 226,576 (921,938) (80.27%)  Project driven funds

Total Operating Revenue 28,465,274 20,655,488 21,243,931 588,442 2.85%
Intergovernmental grants 2,692,576 1,712,387 1,387,646 (324,742) (18.96%) Reimbursement based/project driven revenue
Debt Proceeds 0 0 0 0 0.00%

Total Revenue 31,157,850 22,367,876 22,631,577 263,701 1.18%
Transfers-In 2,519,638 $ 2,519,638 $ 1,846,159 $ (673,479) (26.73%)  Transfers to TIF Fund not processed yet
Transfers-Out (2,519,638) (2,519,638) (1,846,159) 673,479 26.73%  Transfers to TIF Fund not processed yet

Expenditures

General Fund 14,619,046 $ 9,912,668 $ 9,602,476 $ 310,192 3.13%
Utility Fund 4,296,155 2,877,700 2,742,064 135,636 4.71%
Landfill Fund 406,236 277,798 286,291 (8,493) (3.06%) Maintenance
Airport Fund 81,095 55,951 43,100 12,850 22.97%
Storm Water Drainage Fund 75,268 50,208 19,964 30,244 60.24%
Special Revenue Funds 463,223 299,344 329,404 (30,059) (10.04%) Moo-la fest
Stephenville Economic Dev Authority 519,311 346,986 321,078 25,909 7.47%

Total Operating Expenditures 20,460,334 13,820,655 13,344,377 476,278 3.45%
Capital 32,917,098 21,936,226 5,758,664 16,177,562 73.75%
Debt Service 3,231,058 2,539,757 2,431,546 108,211 4.26%

Total Expenditures 56,608,490 38,296,638 21,534,587 16,762,051 43.77%

266




City of Stephenville

Prior YTD Actual vs Current YTD Actual

Item 21.

May 31, 2021
Date Prepared: July 5, 2021
Prior Current Variance % Variance
YTD YTD Positive Positive
Source of Funds Actual Actual (Negative) (Negative) Notes

Property Taxes 6,375,467 $ 6,579,056 $ 203,589 3.19% Increased assessments.
Sales Taxes 4,271,446 5,042,778 771,332 18.06% Back to school, audit collections,stimulus checks
Other Taxes 1,598,539 1,574,226 (24,313) (1.52%)  Franchise, & mixed drink taxes
Licenses and permits 208,517 301,499 92,982 44.59% Building & food service permits, plan reviews
Fines and forfeitures 59,900 80,406 20,506 34.23%  Warrants issued
Service charges 7,101,944 7,421,739 319,795 4.50% Water and Sewer charges
Interest on investments 268,038 17,651 (250,387) (93.41%) Rates have declined.
Other Income 509,952 226,576 (283,376) (55.57%)  Prior year - insurance proceeds, credit card fees

Total Operating Revenue 20,393,803 21,243,931 850,128 4.17%
Intergovernmental grants 502,908 1,387,646 884,738 175.92%  Grants differ from year to year.
Debt Proceeds 12,881,005 0 (12,881,005) (100.00%) Debt issued in prior year - 2020 Certificate of Obligation

Total Revenue 33,777,716 22,631,577 (11,146,140) (33.00%)
Transfers-In - $ 1,846,159 $ 1,846,159 0.00%  Transfers and timing differ from year to year
Transfers-Out - $ (1,846,159) $ (1,846,159) 0.00%  Transfers and timing differ from year to year

Expenditures

General Fund 9,078,999 $ 9,602,476 523,477 5.77% Damage Claims, COVID/Vaccination Cntr Supplies, Stimulus Grants
Utility Fund 2,778,225 $ 2,742,064 (36,161) (1.30%)
Landfill Fund 277,686 $ 286,291 8,606 3.10% Personnel - P/T employee changed to F/T
Airport Fund 41,455 $ 43,100 1,646 3.97% Damage claims
Storm Water Drainage Fund 41,921 $ 19,964 (21,957) (52.38%)
Special Revenue Funds 128,401 $ 329,404 201,003 156.54% Day Tripper Advertising, Gateway planning, Moo-la fest
Stephenville Economic Dev Authority 283,132 $ 321,078 37,946 13.40% Wages, Fagade grants, Outside Professionals

Total Operating Expenditures 12,629,818 13,344,377 714,560 5.66%
Capital 6,824,130 5,758,664 (1,065,467) (15.61%) Capital differs from year to year
Debt Service 2,542,445 2,431,546 (110,899) (4.36%) Debt Service differs from year to year

Total Expenditures 21,996,393 21,534,587 (461,806) (2.10%)
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Budget Variance
As Of: 05/31/2021

oS lephensill

Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND

CURRENT MONTH YEAR TO DATE ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %
REVENUE SUMMARY
TAXES 779,504.06 597,712.83 181,791.23 12,238,179.84 11,464,714.46 773,465.38 89 13,809,417.00 (1,571,237.16) 11
LICENSES AND PERMITS 46,345.59 23,267.87 23,077.72 297,196.86 211,635.29 85,561.57 98 302,562.00 (5,365.14) 2
FINES AND FORFEITURES 8,035.33 9,820.81 (1,785.48) 75,840.34 78,566.48 (2,726.14) 64 117,850.00 (42,009.66) 36
INTERGOVERNMENTAL 51,113.54 52,264.66 (1,151.12) 930,395.35 468,117.28 462,278.07 112 827,176.00 103,219.35 -12
CHARGES FOR SERVICES 95,847.27 93,606.72 2,240.55 620,650.56 659,207.30 (38,556.74) 54 1,156,137.00 (535,486.44) 46
OTHER REVENUE 1,848.55 3,750.23 (1,901.68) 214,976.59 30,198.82 184,777.77 445 48,278.00 166,698.59  -345
TRANSFER 0.00 0.00 0.00 683,841.00 683,841.00 0.00 100 683,841.00 0.00 0
TOTAL REVENUE 982,694.34 780,423.12 202,271.22 15,061,080.54 13,596,280.63 1,464,799.91 89 16,945,261.00 (1,884,180.46) 11
EXPENSE SUMMARY
CITY COUNCIL 20,822.05 10,335.29 (10,486.76) 257,254.22 99,415.32 (157,838.90) 183 140,757.00 116,497.22 -83
CITY MANAGER 33,952.82 34,970.39 1,017.57 283,660.20 288,338.12 4,677.92 66 428,220.00 (144,559.80) 34
CITY SECRETARY 7,814.87 8,796.21 981.34 119,779.22 94,502.68 (25,276.54) 92 129,688.00 (9,908.78) 8
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 121.15 1,733.49 1,612.34 15,351.50 13,867.92 (1,483.58) 74 20,802.00 (5,450.50) 26
MUNICIPAL BUILDING 5,439.47 7,713.94 2,274.47 60,989.98 64,435.52 3,44554 o4 95,292.00 (34,302.02) 36
MUNICIPAL SERVICES CTR 16,207.73 7,616.31 (8,591.42) 68,891.89 64,567.48 (4,324.41) 72 95,033.00 (26,141.11) 28
HUMAN RESOURCES 14,539.31 14,227.38 (311.93) 128,036.28 130,889.04 2,852.76 68 187,799.00 (59,762.72) 32
DOWNTOWN 3,556.60 4,890.97 1,334.37 17,064.37 39,567.76 22,503.39 29 59,132.00 (42,067.63) 71
FINANCE 33,972.50 40,112.95 6,140.45 311,176.53 351,171.60 39,995.07 61 511,624.00 (200,447.47) 39
INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 16,057.23 25,772.95 9,715.72 176,485.97 209,479.60 32,993.63 56 312,572.00 (136,086.03) 44
TAX 39,781.52 14,169.24 (25,612.28) 166,405.28 113,353.92 (53,051.36) 98 170,031.00 (3,625.72) 2
LEGAL COUNSEL 10,340.58 9,975.40 (365.18) 61,591.04 79,940.20 18,349.16 51 119,842.00 (58,250.96) 49
MUNICIPAL COURT 8,246.54 9,103.87 857.33 72,286.68 77,800.96 551428 63 114,217.00 (41,930.32) 37
STREET MAINTENANCE 34,481.25 79,288.67 44,807.42 521,507.79 661,531.36 140,023.57 53 978,687.00 (457,179.21) 47
PARKS & LEISURE ADM 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
7/5/2021 5:28:24 PM P 4
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Budget Variance Report
Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %

PARKS & RECREATION 224,157.34 206,883.19 (17,274.15) 1,5676,391.49 1,694,364.52 117,973.03 63 2,521,899.00 (945,507.51) 37
PARK MAINTENANCE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

LIBRARY 11,855.89 19,997.01 8,141.12 142,581.22 170,208.08 27,626.86 57 250,197.00 (107,615.78) 43
SENIOR CENTER 7,463.91 11,379.15 3,915.24 67,407.57 95,592.20 28,184.63 48 141,110.00 (73,702.43) 52
AQUATIC CENTER 29,072.02 20,763.01 (8,309.01) 55,005.44 171,806.08 116,800.64 22 254,859.00 (199,853.56) 78
FIRE DEPARTMENT 260,342.27 279,317.27 18,975.00 2,525,810.66 2,353,362.16 (172,448.50) 73 3,470,633.00 (944,822.34) 27
POLICE DEPARTMENT 382,483.69 430,462.64 47,978.95 3,875,496.16 3,609,726.12 (265,770.04) 73 5,331,578.00 (1,456,081.84) 27
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 47,273.68 50,682.00 3,408.32 327,321.55 421,550.00 94,228.45 52 624,279.00 (296,957.45) 48
TRANSFERS 0.00 (0.01) (0.01) 1,127,565.00 1,373,267.92 245,702.92 82 1,373,268.00 (245,703.00) 18
NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL EXPENSE 1,207,982.42 1,288,191.32 80,208.90 11,958,060.04 12,178,738.56 220,678.52 69 17,331,519.00 5,373,458.96 31
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE (225,288.08) (507,768.20) 282,480.12 3,103,020.50 1,417,542.07 1,685,478.43 (386,258.00) (7,257,639.42)
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Budget Variance Report

Fund: 02 - WATER AND WASTEWATER FUND

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %

REVENUE SUMMARY

LICENSES AND PERMITS 9.01 749.70 (740.69) 345.73 5,997.60 (5,651.87) 4 9,000.00 (8,654.27) 96
INTERGOVERNMENTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
CHARGES FOR SERVICES 737,751.09 714,968.57 22,782.52 5,648,822.63 5,129,406.24 519,416.39 68 8,330,765.00 (2,681,942.37) 32
OTHER REVENUE 3,633.92 928.39 2,705.53 21,661.11 13,262.72 8,398.39 56 38,671.00 (17,009.89) 44
TRANSFER 0.00 0.00 0.00 34,753.00 34,753.00 0.00 100 34,753.00 0.00 0
TOTAL REVENUE 741,394.02 716,646.66 24,747.36 5,705,582.47 5,183,419.56 522,162.91 68 8,413,189.00 (2,707,606.53) 32
EXPENSE SUMMARY

UTILITIES ADMINISTRATION 33,066.83 52,155.08 19,088.25 205,498.85 424,705.64 219,206.79 32 633,577.00 (428,078.15) 68
WATER PRODUCTION 61,804.78 123,341.35 61,536.57 856,779.41 1,005,417.80 148,638.39 57 1,499,376.00 (642,596.59) 43
WATER DISTRIBUTION 134,550.60 126,902.35 (7,648.25) 679,757.51 1,022,851.80 343,094.29 44 1,531,071.00 (851,313.49) 56
CUSTOMER SERVICE 21,410.23 19,886.32 (1,523.91) 167,787.81 164,797.56 (2,990.25) 69 244,439.00 (76,651.19) 31
WASTEWATER COLLECTION 38,505.25 1,027,269.37 988,764.12 378,529.48 8,228,954.96 7,850,425.48 3 12,342,966.00 (11,964,436.52) 97
WASTEWATER TREATMENT 68,687.63 96,293.29 27,605.66 655,521.99 776,854.32 121,332.33 56 1,162,490.00 (506,968.01) 44
BILLING & COLLECTION 20,571.42 21,700.96 1,129.54 219,655.43 197,840.68 (21,814.75) 77 284,748.00 (65,092.57) 23
NON-DEPARTMENTAL 0.00 32,474.29 32,474.29 2,045,865.97 2,289,694.15 243,828.18 75 2,727,662.00 (681,796.03) 25
TOTAL EXPENSE 378,596.74 1,500,023.01 1,121,426.27 5,209,396.45 14,111,116.91 8,901,720.46 26 20,426,329.00 15,216,932.55 74
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 362,797.28 (783,376.35) 1,146,173.63 496,186.02 (8,927,697.35) 9,423,883.37 (12,013,140.00) (17,924,539.08)
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Budget Variance Report
Fund: 03 - SANITARY LANDFILL FUND

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %

REVENUE SUMMARY

CHARGES FOR SERVICES 88,049.40 64,530.00 23,519.40 627,070.85 477,090.00 149,980.85 70 900,000.00 (272,929.15) 30
OTHER REVENUE 9.68 135.53 (125.85) 887.32 1,840.58 (953.26) 26 3,440.00 (2,552.68) 74
TRANSFER 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL REVENUE 88,059.08 64,665.53 23,393.55 627,958.17 478,930.58 149,027.59 70 903,440.00 (275,481.83) 30
EXPENSE SUMMARY

LANDFILL 27,243.85 32,070.77 4,826.92 315,054.23 306,561.16 (8,493.07) 72 434,999.00 (119,944.77) 28
TOTAL EXPENSE 27,243.85 32,070.77 4,826.92 315,054.23 306,561.16 (8,493.07) 72 434,999.00 119,944.77 28
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 60,815.23 32,594.76 28,220.47 312,903.94 172,369.42 140,534.52 468,441.00 (395,426.60)
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Budget Variance Report
Fund: 04 - AIRPORT FUND

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %

REVENUE SUMMARY

INTERGOVERNMENTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
CHARGES FOR SERVICES 9,281.36 9,073.25 208.11 75,018.37 72,555.40 2,462.97 69 109,380.00 (34,361.63) 31
OTHER REVENUE 0.00 140,568.75 (140,568.75) 0.00 1,124,550.00 (1,124,550.00) 0 1,687,500.00 (1,687,500.00) 100
TRANSFER 0.00 0.00 0.00 160,000.00 160,000.00 0.00 100 160,000.00 0.00 0
TOTAL REVENUE 9,281.36 149,642.00 (140,360.64) 235,018.37 1,357,105.40 (1,122,087.03) 12 1,956,880.00 (1,721,861.63) 88
EXPENSE SUMMARY

AIRPORT 2,657.03 162,465.96 159,808.93 43,100.47 1,305,450.68 1,262,350.21 2 1,956,095.00 (1,912,994.53) 98
TOTAL EXPENSE 2,657.03 162,465.96 159,808.93 43,100.47 1,305,450.68 1,262,350.21 2 1,956,095.00 1,912,994.53 98
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 6,624.33 (12,823.96) 19,448.29 191,917.90 51,654.72 140,263.18 785.00 (3,634,856.16)
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Budget Variance Report
Fund: 05 - STORM WATER DRAINAGE FUND
CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %

REVENUE SUMMARY

LICENSES AND PERMITS 90.17 1,666.00 (1,575.83) 1,450.18 13,328.00 (11,877.82) 7 20,000.00 (18,549.82) 93
INTERGOVERNMENTAL 372,443.65 155,096.27 217,347.38 420,043.65 1,240,770.16 (820,726.51) 23 1,861,900.00 (1,441,856.35) 77
CHARGES FOR SERVICES 54,586.29 54,249.90 336.39 434,576.82 433,551.46 1,025.36 67 650,438.00 (215,861.18) 33
OTHER REVENUE 3.44 166.86 (163.42) 378.31 1,441.14 (1,062.83) 18 2,060.00 (1,681.69) 82
TOTAL REVENUE 427,123.55 211,179.03 215,944.52 856,448.96 1,689,090.76 (832,641.80) 34 2,534,398.00 (1,677,949.04) 66
EXPENSE SUMMARY

STORM WATER DRAINAGE 169,007.23 196,276.28 27,269.05 1,586,736.21 2,244,787.24 658,051.03 51 3,120,371.00 (1,533,634.79) 49
TOTAL EXPENSE 169,007.23 196,276.28 27,269.05 1,586,736.21 2,244,787.24 658,051.03 51 3,120,371.00 1,5633,634.79 49
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 258,116.32 14,902.75 243,213.57 (730,287.25) (555,696.48) (174,590.77) (585,973.00) (3,211,583.83)
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Budget Variance Report
Fund: 07 - HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX FUND

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %

REVENUE SUMMARY

TAXES 83,560.22 33,998.72 49,561.50 272,505.34 271,989.76 51558 67 408,148.00 (135,642.66) 33
INTERGOVERNMENTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
CHARGES FOR SERVICES 7,600.00 3,498.60 4,101.40 15,600.00 27,988.80 (12,388.80) 37 42,000.00 (26,400.00) 63
OTHER REVENUE 2.81 78.54 (75.73) 124.90 436.15 (311.25) 19 660.00 (535.10) 81
TRANSFER 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

TOTAL REVENUE 91,163.03 37,575.86 53,687.17 288,230.24 300,414.71 (12,184.47) 64 450,808.00 (162,577.76) 36
EXPENSE SUMMARY

TOURISM 91,123.53 34,843.52 (56,280.01) 329,403.79 290,681.16 (38,722.63) 73 450,223.00 (120,819.21) 27
TOTAL EXPENSE 91,123.53 34,843.52 (56,280.01) 329,403.79 290,681.16 (38,722.63) 73 450,223.00 120,819.21 27
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 39.50 2,732.34 (2,692.84) (41,173.55) 9,733.55 (50,907.10) 585.00 (283,396.97)
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Budget Variance Report
Fund: 08 - DEBT SERVICE FUND

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %

REVENUE SUMMARY

TAXES 4,371.62 2,088.48 2,283.14 265,143.14 261,820.09 3,323.05 100 265,289.00 (145.86) 0
OTHER REVENUE 1.62 25.00 (23.38) 79.88 226.29 (146.41) 26 311.00 (231.12) 74
TRANSFER 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 343,650.00 (343,650.00) 0 343,650.00 (343,650.00) 100
TOTAL REVENUE 4,373.24 2,113.48 2,259.76 265,223.02 605,696.38 (340,473.36) 44 609,250.00 (344,026.98) 56
EXPENSE SUMMARY

DEBT SERVICE 0.00 24.99 24.99 401,200.00 401,099.92 (100.08) 66 609,250.00 (208,050.00) 34
TOTAL EXPENSE 0.00 24.99 24.99 401,200.00 401,099.92 (100.08) 66 609,250.00 208,050.00 34
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 4,373.24 2,088.49 2,284.75 (135,976.98) 204,596.46 (340,573.44) 0.00 (552,076.98)
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Budget Variance Report

Fund: 10 - CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE TOTAL REMAINING %
REVENUE SUMMARY
LICENSES AND PERMITS 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,506.25 0.00 2,506.25 0.00 2,506.25
INTERGOVERNMENTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
CHARGES FOR SERVICES 0.00 1,280.82 (1,280.82) 0.00 10,246.56 (10,246.56) 15,376.00 (15,376.00) 100
OTHER REVENUE 96.10 162.36 (66.26) 5,654.00 671.28 4,982.72 1,200.00 4,454.00 -371
TRANSFER 0.00 0.00 0.00 967,565.00 967,565.00 0.00 967,565.00 0.00 0
TOTAL REVENUE 96.10 1,443.18 (1,347.08) 975,725.25 978,482.84 (2,757.59) 984,141.00 (8,415.75) 1
EXPENSE SUMMARY
STREET MAINTENANCE 291,288.89 1,159,817.63 868,528.74 3,216,717.32 9,278,541.04 6,061,823.72 13,923,381.00  (10,706,663.68) 77
PARKS & RECREATION 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
FIRE DEPARTMENT 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
TOTAL EXPENSE 291,288.89 1,159,817.63 868,528.74 3,216,717.32 9,278,541.04 6,061,823.72 13,923,381.00 10,706,663.68 77
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE (291,192.79)  (1,158,374.45) 867,181.66 (2,240,992.07)  (8,300,058.20) 6,059,066.13 (12,939,240.00)  (10,715,079.43)
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Item 21.

Budget Variance Report As Q 1
Fund: 11 - CHILD SAFETY FUND
CURRENT MONTH YEAR TO DATE ANNUAL BUDGET
ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %
REVENUE SUMMARY
FINES AND FORFEITURES 85.04 208.33 (123.29) 1,623.31 1,666.64 (43.33) 65 2,500.00 (876.69) 35
OTHER REVENUE 0.00 0.24 (0.24) 1.39 1.92 (0.53) 46 3.00 (1.61) 54
TRANSFER 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
TOTAL REVENUE 85.04 208.57 (123.53) 1,624.70 1,668.56 (43.86) 65 2,503.00 (878.30) 35
EXPENSE SUMMARY
CHILD SAFETY 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
TOTAL EXPENSE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 85.04 208.57 (123.53) 1,624.70 1,668.56 (43.86) 2,503.00 (878.30)

7/5/2021 5:28:24 PM
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Item 21.

Budget Variance Report As Q 1
Fund: 12 - COURT TECHNOLOGY FUND
CURRENT MONTH YEAR TO DATE ANNUAL BUDGET
ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %
REVENUE SUMMARY
FINES AND FORFEITURES 239.63 741.37 (501.74) 2,942.09 5,930.96 (2,988.87) 33 8,900.00 (5,957.91) 67
OTHER REVENUE 0.00 1.91 (1.91) 2.62 15.28 (12.66) 11 23.00 (20.38) 89
TOTAL REVENUE 239.63 743.28 (503.65) 2,944.71 5,946.24 (3,001.53) 33 8,923.00 (5,978.29) 67
EXPENSE SUMMARY
COURT TECHNOLOGY 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
TOTAL EXPENSE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 239.63 743.28 (503.65) 2,944.71 5,946.24 (3,001.53) 8,923.00 (5,978.29)
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Budget Variance Report
Fund: 13 - PUBLIC SAFETY FUND

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %
REVENUE SUMMARY
FINES AND FORFEITURES 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
INTERGOVERNMENTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,206.87 3,500.00 (293.13) 92 3,500.00 (293.13) 8
OTHER REVENUE 0.62 6.66 (6.04) 30.67 53.28 (22.61) 38 80.00 (49.33) 62
TOTAL REVENUE 0.62 6.66 (6.04) 3,237.54 3,553.28 (315.74) 90 3,580.00 (342.46) 10
EXPENSE SUMMARY
PUBLIC SAFETY 0.00 1,082.90 1,082.90 0.00 8,663.20 8,663.20 0 13,000.00 (13,000.00) 100
TOTAL EXPENSE 0.00 1,082.90 1,082.90 0.00 8,663.20 8,663.20 0 13,000.00 13,000.00 100
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 0.62 (1,076.24) 1,076.86 3,237.54 (5,109.92) 8,347.46 (9,420.00) (13,342.46)

7/5/2021 5:28:24 PM

Pa

279




Budget Variance Report
Fund: 20 - TAX INCREMENT FINANCING FUND

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %

REVENUE SUMMARY

TAXES 0.00 38.21 (38.21) 0.00 13,744.58 (13,744.58) 0 13,821.00 (13,821.00) 100
OTHER REVENUE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
TRANSFER 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 329,829.00 (329,829.00) 0 329,829.00 (329,829.00) 100
TOTAL REVENUE 0.00 38.21 (38.21) 0.00 343,573.58 (343,573.58) 0 343,650.00 (343,650.00) 100
EXPENSE SUMMARY

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 343,650.00 343,650.00 0 343,650.00 (343,650.00) 100
TOTAL EXPENSE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 343,650.00 343,650.00 0 343,650.00 343,650.00 100
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 0.00 38.21 (38.21) 0.00 (76.42) 76.42 0.00 (687,300.00)
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Budget Variance Report
Fund: 79 - SEDA

CURRENT MONTH

YEAR TO DATE

As Q

Item 21.

ANNUAL BUDGET

ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE ACTUAL BUDGETED VARIANCE % TOTAL REMAINING %

REVENUE SUMMARY

TAXES 58,942.87 43,154.74 15,788.13 420,231.50 341,966.27 78,265.23 81 519,311.00 (99,079.50) 19
INTERGOVERNMENTAL 34,000.00 0.00 34,000.00 34,000.00 0.00 34,000.00 0.00 34,000.00
OTHER REVENUE 8.74 197.09 (188.35) 394.89 1,384.98 (990.09) 18 2,154.00 (1,759.11) 82
TOTAL REVENUE 92,951.61 43,351.83 49,599.78 454,626.39 343,351.25 111,275.14 87 521,465.00 (66,838.61) 13
EXPENSE SUMMARY

SEDA 64,166.64 43,029.53 (21,137.11) 321,077.52 346,986.24 25,908.72 62 519,311.00 (198,233.48) 38
TOTAL EXPENSE 64,166.64 43,029.53 (21,137.11) 321,077.52 346,986.24 25,908.72 62 519,311.00 198,233.48 38
REVENUE OVER/(UNDER) EXPENDITURE 28,784.97 322.30 28,462.67 133,548.87 (3,634.99) 137,183.86 2,154.00 (265,072.09)

7/5/2021 5:28:24 PM

Pa

281




oS lephensill

Categor...

Fund: 01 - GENERAL FUND

Revenue

40 - TAXES
41 - LICENSES AND PERMITS
42 - FINES AND FORFEITURES
43 - INTERGOVERNMENTAL
44 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES
45 - OTHER REVENUE
49 - TRANSFER

Revenue Total:

Expense
Department: 101 - CITY COUNCIL
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
58 - GRANT DISBURSEMENTS

Department 101 - CITY COUNCIL Total:

Department: 102 - CITY MANAGER
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES

Department 102 - CITY MANAGER Total:

Department: 103 - CITY SECRETARY
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Department 103 - CITY SECRETARY Total:

Department: 104 - EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT
52 - CONTRACTUAL
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

Department 104 - EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT Total:

Item 21.

Prior-Year Comparative Income State

Group Summary

For the Period Ending 05/31/2021

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
669,469.96 779,504.06 110,034.10 16.44% 11,423,702.64 12,238,179.84 814,477.20 7.13%
11,982.35 46,345.59 34,363.24 286.78% 208,516.97 297,196.86 88,679.89 42.53%
8,962.06 8,035.33 -926.73 -10.34% 57,773.05 75,840.34 18,067.29 31.27%
243,027.48 51,113.54 -191,913.94 -78.97% 368,368.10 930,395.35 562,027.25 152.57%
107,740.04 95,847.27 -11,892.77 -11.04% 629,021.63 620,650.56 -8,371.07 -1.33%
254,245.51 1,848.55 -252,396.96 -99.27% 521,674.64 214,976.59 -306,698.05 -58.79%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 683,841.00 683,841.00 0.00%
1,295,427.40 982,694.34 -312,733.06 -24.14%  13,209,057.03  15,061,080.54 1,852,023.51 14.02%
2,153.00 2,045.35 107.65 5.00% 16,506.00 15,854.07 651.93 3.95%
4,292.33 18,525.76 -14,233.43 -331.60% 47,978.31 153,714.47 -105,736.16 -220.38%
144.12 250.94 -106.82 -74.12% 10,923.39 2,824.57 8,098.82 74.14%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 10,533.33 10,113.00 420.33 3.99%
22,096.49 0.00 22,096.49 100.00% 22,096.49 74,748.11 -52,651.62 -238.28%
28,685.94 20,822.05 7,863.89 27.41% 108,037.52 257,254.22 -149,216.70 -138.12%
36,221.51 32,389.65 3,831.86 10.58% 192,174.51 269,299.99 -77,125.48 -40.13%
0.57 1,481.28 -1,480.71-259,773.68% 18,423.24 9,315.17 9,108.07 49.44%
0.00 81.89 -81.89 0.00% 2,405.63 5,045.04 -2,639.41 -109.72%
36,222.08 33,952.82 2,269.26 6.26% 213,003.38 283,660.20 -70,656.82 -33.17%
9,677.50 7,102.21 2,575.29 26.61% 56,726.76 57,861.42 -1,134.66 -2.00%
8.09 714.94 -706.85 -8,737.33% 21,790.22 12,695.19 9,095.03 41.74%
0.00 -2.28 2.28 0.00% 818.38 325.28 493.10 60.25%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 13,972.05 28,397.33 -14,425.28 -103.24%
3,561.57 0.00 3,561.57 100.00% 3,561.57 20,500.00 -16,938.43 -475.59%
13,247.16 7,814.87 5,432.29 41.01% 96,868.98 119,779.22 -22,910.24 -23.65%
147.21 121.15 26.06 17.70% 15,361.26 13,806.50 1,554.76 10.12%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 1,545.00 -1,545.00 0.00%
147.21 121.15 26.06 17.70% 15,361.26 15,351.50 9.76 0.06%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Department: 105 - MUNICIPAL BUILDING
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Department 105 - MUNICIPAL BUILDING Total:

Department: 106 - MUNICIPAL SERVICES CTR
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

Department 106 - MUNICIPAL SERVICES CTR Total:

Department: 107 - HUMAN RESOURCES
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Department 107 - HUMAN RESOURCES Total:

Department: 108 - DOWNTOWN
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES

Department 108 - DOWNTOWN Total:

Department: 201 - FINANCE
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
56 - BANK CHARGES

Department 201 - FINANCE Total:

Department: 203 - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

Department 203 - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY Total:

Department: 204 - TAX
52 - CONTRACTUAL

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
3,613.68 1,101.64 2,512.04 69.51% 19,344.42 8,578.98 10,765.44 55.65%
3,053.99 2,517.06 536.93 17.58% 22,523.25 23,005.90 -482.65 -2.14%
2,113.24 1,436.03 677.21 32.05% 12,841.69 10,486.29 2,355.40 18.34%

29.67 384.74 -355.07 -1,196.73% 24,929.43 18,049.69 6,879.74 27.60%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 9,181.20 869.12 8,312.08 90.53%
8,810.58 5,439.47 3,371.11 38.26% 88,819.99 60,989.98 27,830.01 31.33%
4,121.70 3,432.76 688.94 16.71% 24,431.60 17,836.47 6,595.13 26.99%
1,950.18 998.92 951.26 48.78% 19,919.78 19,520.58 399.20 2.00%
3,673.68 11,461.05 -7,787.37 -211.98% 14,494.26 29,542.52 -15,048.26 -103.82%
64.06 315.00 -250.94 -391.73% 1,018.96 1,992.32 -973.36 -95.52%
9,809.62 16,207.73 -6,398.11 -65.22% 59,864.60 68,891.89 -9,027.29 -15.08%
8,335.86 7,716.91 618.95 7.43% 52,911.05 59,508.95 -6,597.90 -12.47%
584.02 6,707.91 -6,123.89  -1,048.58% 50,833.71 51,957.50 -1,123.79 -2.21%
89.18 114.49 -25.31 -28.38% 597.79 1,570.83 -973.04 -162.77%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 14,999.00 -14,999.00 0.00%

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 14,999.00 0.00 14,999.00 100.00%
9,009.06 14,539.31 -5,530.25 -61.39% 119,341.55 128,036.28 -8,694.73 -7.29%
0.00 3,515.90 -3,515.90 0.00% 0.00 13,960.46 -13,960.46 0.00%

0.00 40.70 -40.70 0.00% 0.00 942.44 -942.44 0.00%

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 2,161.47 -2,161.47 0.00%

0.00 3,556.60 -3,556.60 0.00% 0.00 17,064.37 -17,064.37 0.00%
38,588.17 27,568.17 11,020.00 28.56% 227,355.80 226,670.07 685.73 0.30%
10,583.74 6,087.38 4,496.36 42.48% 71,424.34 62,201.78 9,222.56 12.91%
1,076.70 196.95 879.75 81.71% 2,248.94 1,665.65 583.29 25.94%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 46,818.96 18,875.82 27,943.14 59.68%
100.48 120.00 -19.52 -19.43% 1,814.16 1,763.21 50.95 2.81%
50,349.09 33,972.50 16,376.59 32.53% 349,662.20 311,176.53 38,485.67 11.01%
23,384.90 14,803.06 8,581.84 36.70% 141,324.42 133,787.74 7,536.68 5.33%
3.55 10.15 -6.60 -185.92% 5,715.86 604.31 5,111.55 89.43%
255.74 574.02 -318.28 -124.45% 2,556.55 1,709.87 846.68 33.12%
7,387.16 670.00 6,717.16 90.93% 45,710.21 40,384.05 5,326.16 11.65%
31,031.35 16,057.23 14,974.12 48.25% 195,307.04 176,485.97 18,821.07 9.64%
40,922.32 39,781.52 1,140.80 2.79% 167,330.72 166,405.28 925.44 0.55%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...

Department 204 - TAX Total:

Department: 301 - LEGAL COUNSEL
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL

Department 301 - LEGAL COUNSEL Total:

Department: 302 - MUNICIPAL COURT
51 - PERSONNEL

52 - CONTRACTUAL

53 - GENERAL SERVICES

54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Department 302 - MUNICIPAL COURT Total:

Department: 402 - STREET MAINTENANCE
51 - PERSONNEL

52 - CONTRACTUAL

53 - GENERAL SERVICES

54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Department 402 - STREET MAINTENANCE Total:

Department: 501 - PARKS & RECREATION
51 - PERSONNEL

52 - CONTRACTUAL

53 - GENERAL SERVICES

54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

56 - BANK CHARGES

Department 501 - PARKS & RECREATION Total:

Department: 502 - PARK MAINTENANCE
52 - CONTRACTUAL
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Department 502 - PARK MAINTENANCE Total:

Department: 504 - LIBRARY

51 - PERSONNEL

52 - CONTRACTUAL

53 - GENERAL SERVICES

54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
56 - BANK CHARGES

Department 504 - LIBRARY Total:

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
40,922.32 39,781.52 1,140.80 2.79% 167,330.72 166,405.28 925.44 0.55%
9,872.94 10,340.58 -467.64 -4.74% 68,775.19 61,446.75 7,328.44 10.66%
50.00 0.00 50.00 100.00% 1,779.74 144.29 1,635.45 91.89%
9,922.94 10,340.58 -417.64 -4.21% 70,554.93 61,591.04 8,963.89 12.70%
5,662.42 4,350.91 1,311.51 23.16% 37,379.79 34,433.65 2,946.14 7.88%
4,058.07 3,622.12 435.95 10.74% 29,210.73 30,796.23 -1,585.50 -5.43%
104.99 273.51 -168.52 -160.51% 1,307.75 2,669.30 -1,361.55 -104.11%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 4,250.00 4,387.50 -137.50 -3.24%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 14,563.52 0.00 14,563.52 100.00%
9,825.48 8,246.54 1,578.94 16.07% 86,711.79 72,286.68 14,425.11 16.64%
44,289.23 28,980.22 15,309.01 34.57% 291,152.01 266,686.93 24,465.08 8.40%
14,235.14 423.91 13,811.23 97.02% 108,877.07 153,036.95 -44,159.88 -40.56%
891.02 1,321.57 -430.55 -48.32% 17,305.10 13,349.21 3,955.89 22.86%
4,904.67 3,755.55 1,149.12 23.43% 99,041.10 44,587.70 54,453.40 54.98%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 13,500.00 43,847.00 -30,347.00 -224.79%
64,320.06 34,481.25 29,838.81 46.39% 529,875.28 521,507.79 8,367.49 1.58%
81,776.67 70,783.13 10,993.54 13.44% 580,508.17 533,048.03 47,460.14 8.18%
22,072.07 48,961.36 -26,889.29 -121.82% 163,911.49 335,009.14 -171,097.65 -104.38%
4,167.01 7,743.58 -3,576.57 -85.83% 68,600.99 75,954.83 -7,353.84 -10.72%
7,057.63 3,695.87 3,361.76 47.63% 77,245.34 36,445.33 40,800.01 52.82%
6,003.03 92,973.40 -86,970.37 -1,448.77% 173,217.73 595,934.16 -422,716.43 -244.04%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 2.55 0.00 2.55 100.00%
121,076.41 224,157.34 -103,080.93 -85.14% 1,063,486.27 1,576,391.49 -512,905.22 -48.23%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%
20,862.04 9,090.33 11,771.71 56.43% 126,169.12 119,016.44 7,152.68 5.67%
1,083.72 940.25 143.47 13.24% 10,476.53 9,405.16 1,071.37 10.23%
284.71 1,762.65 -1,477.94 -519.10% 10,906.32 8,273.11 2,633.21 24.14%
6,440.77 62.66 6,378.11 99.03% 12,684.74 5,886.51 6,798.23 53.59%
0.16 0.00 0.16 100.00% 0.29 0.00 0.29 100.00%
28,671.40 11,855.89 16,815.51 58.65% 160,237.00 142,581.22 17,655.78 11.02%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Department: 505 - STREET MAINTENANCE
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

Department 505 - STREET MAINTENANCE Total:

Department: 506 - SENIOR CENTER
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

Department 506 - SENIOR CENTER Total:

Department: 507 - AQUATIC CENTER
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

Department 507 - AQUATIC CENTER Total:

Department: 601 - FIRE DEPARTMENT
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY
56 - BANK CHARGES
57 - DEBT SERVICE

Department 601 - FIRE DEPARTMENT Total:

Department: 701 - POLICE DEPARTMENT
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY
56 - BANK CHARGES
57 - DEBT SERVICE

Department 701 - POLICE DEPARTMENT Total:

Department: 801 - DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY
56 - BANK CHARGES

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00%
8,282.14 5,017.19 3,264.95 39.42% 49,929.52 43,092.16 6,837.36 13.69%
672.44 1,150.76 -478.32 -71.13% 20,999.28 9,602.59 11,396.69 54.27%
67.84 906.44 -838.60 -1,236.14% 9,909.05 7,823.40 2,085.65 21.05%
0.00 389.52 -389.52 0.00% 3,531.01 6,889.42 -3,358.41 -95.11%
9,022.42 7,463.91 1,558.51 17.27% 84,368.86 67,407.57 16,961.29 20.10%
1,608.28 5,351.49 -3,743.21 -232.75% 9,536.57 7,566.44 1,970.13 20.66%
1,536.80 1,875.83 -339.03 -22.06% 19,419.53 19,048.18 371.35 1.91%
3,434.58 8,169.57 -4,734.99 -137.86% 5,319.58 12,059.33 -6,739.75 -126.70%
36.61 13,675.13 -13,638.52 -37,253.54% 43,359.17 16,331.49 27,027.68 62.33%
6,616.27 29,072.02 -22,455.75 -339.40% 77,634.85 55,005.44 22,629.41 29.15%
275,950.64 231,956.69 43,993.95 15.94% 1,830,498.27 1,955,266.00 -124,767.73 -6.82%
6,726.80 6,574.66 152.14 2.26% 121,660.72 79,521.39 42,139.33 34.64%
6,051.53 18,460.55 -12,409.02 -205.06% 72,428.01 173,428.45 -101,000.44 -139.45%
5,433.64 3,350.37 2,083.27 38.34% 44,637.19 65,008.28 -20,371.09 -45.64%
-32.72 0.00 -32.72 -100.00% 314,784.08 20,462.11 294,321.97 93.50%
1.90 0.00 1.90 100.00% 2.25 0.42 1.83 81.33%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 231,825.49 232,124.01 -298.52 -0.13%
294,131.79 260,342.27 33,789.52 11.49% 2,615,836.01 2,525,810.66 90,025.35 3.44%
455,641.65 321,806.39 133,835.26 29.37% 2,880,800.28 2,793,851.73 86,948.55 3.02%
9,786.69 18,740.10 -8,953.41 -91.49% 334,321.91 525,273.63 -190,951.72 -57.12%
9,820.63 11,013.22 -1,192.59 -12.14% 110,080.79 126,463.30 -16,382.51 -14.88%
1,726.43 2,253.90 -527.47 -30.55% 123,043.55 115,624.71 7,418.84 6.03%
164,448.29 28,670.08 135,778.21 82.57% 457,853.70 226,933.57 230,920.13 50.44%
3.15 0.00 3.15 100.00% 4.89 0.07 4.82 98.57%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 122,131.01 87,349.15 34,781.86 28.48%
641,426.84 382,483.69 258,943.15 40.37% 4,028,236.13 3,875,496.16 152,739.97 3.79%
49,217.30 29,653.21 19,564.09 39.75% 201,856.79 247,023.60 -45,166.81 -22.38%
3,805.91 14,432.78 -10,626.87 -279.22% 88,060.25 58,121.26 29,938.99 34.00%
634.03 703.36 -69.33 -10.93% 4,123.85 4,357.63 -233.78 -5.67%
160.85 274.85 -114.00 -70.87% 10,006.56 10,609.58 -603.02 -6.03%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 73,853.00 0.00 73,853.00 100.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 30.22 0.00 30.22 100.00%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
58 - GRANT DISBURSEMENTS
Department 801 - DEVELOPMENT SERVICES Total:

Department: 900 - TRANSFERS
59 - TRANSFER
Department 900 - TRANSFERS Total:

Expense Total:
Total Revenues

Fund 01 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
0.00 2,209.48 -2,209.48 0.00% 0.00 7,209.48 -7,209.48 0.00%
53,818.09 47,273.68 6,544.41 12.16% 377,930.67 327,321.55 50,609.12 13.39%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 1,127,565.00 -1,127,565.00 0.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 1,127,565.00 -1,127,565.00 0.00%
1,467,066.11 1,207,982.42 259,083.69 17.66%  10,508,469.03  11,958,060.04 -1,449,591.01 -13.79%
1,295,427.40 982,694.34 -312,733.06 -24.14%  13,209,057.03  15,061,080.54 1,852,023.51 14.02%
-171,638.71 -225,288.08 -53,649.37 -31.26% 2,700,588.00 3,103,020.50 402,432.50 14.90%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 02 - WATER AND WASTEWATER FUND
Revenue
41 - LICENSES AND PERMITS
43 - INTERGOVERNMENTAL
44 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES
45 - OTHER REVENUE
49 - TRANSFER

Expense
Department: 000 - UTILITIES ADMINISTRATION
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Department 000 - UTILITIES ADMINISTRATION Total:

Department: 001 - WATER PRODUCTION
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Department 001 - WATER PRODUCTION Total:

Department: 002 - WATER DISTRIBUTION
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Department 002 - WATER DISTRIBUTION Total:

Department: 003 - CUSTOMER SERVICE
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

Department 003 - CUSTOMER SERVICE Total:

Department: 011 - WASTEWATER COLLECTION
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES

Revenue Total:

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
0.00 9.01 9.01 0.00% 0.00 345.73 345.73 0.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 103,802.18 0.00 -103,802.18 -100.00%
624,989.80 737,751.09 112,761.29 18.04% 5,270,815.01 5,648,822.63 378,007.62 7.17%
9,108.50 3,633.92 -5,474.58 -60.10% 212,118.18 21,661.11 -190,457.07 -89.79%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 34,753.00 34,753.00 0.00%
634,098.30 741,394.02 107,295.72 16.92% 5,586,735.37 5,705,582.47 118,847.10 2.13%
42,327.22 20,608.09 21,719.13 51.31% 237,565.61 161,477.38 76,088.23 32.03%
1,318.05 12,395.30 -11,077.25 -840.43% 6,993.78 39,898.86 -32,905.08 -470.49%
82.75 63.44 19.31 23.34% 554.55 4,012.61 -3,458.06 -623.58%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 24.67 110.00 -85.33 -345.89%
57,687.95 0.00 57,687.95 100.00% 512,735.42 0.00 512,735.42 100.00%
101,415.97 33,066.83 68,349.14 67.39% 757,874.03 205,498.85 552,375.18 72.88%
28,376.01 19,388.92 8,987.09 31.67% 157,227.18 153,481.76 3,745.42 2.38%
25,118.27 27,603.57 -2,485.30 -9.89% 376,152.81 417,505.94 -41,353.13 -10.99%
298.76 723.80 -425.04 -142.27% 5,789.09 4,553.94 1,235.15 21.34%
11,113.20 14,088.49 -2,975.29 -26.77% 127,437.19 149,937.77 -22,500.58 -17.66%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 37,007.00 131,300.00 -94,293.00 -254.80%
64,906.24 61,804.78 3,101.46 4.78% 703,613.27 856,779.41 -153,166.14 -21.77%
20,113.93 15,492.20 4,621.73 22.98% 127,839.25 133,027.11 -5,187.86 -4.06%
7,254.67 16,201.74 -8,947.07 -123.33% 106,315.97 93,658.27 12,657.70 11.91%
553.40 757.76 -204.36 -36.93% 15,206.31 17,836.79 -2,630.48 -17.30%
1,448.04 10,208.90 -8,760.86 -605.02% 65,694.75 66,610.36 -915.61 -1.39%
0.00 91,890.00 -91,890.00 0.00% 800,000.00 368,624.98 431,375.02 53.92%
29,370.04 134,550.60 -105,180.56 -358.12% 1,115,056.28 679,757.51 435,298.77 39.04%
19,645.43 13,794.32 5,851.11 29.78% 123,619.24 117,158.19 6,461.05 5.23%
455.46 127.88 327.58 71.92% 4,415.84 3,996.72 419.12 9.49%
143.32 367.55 -224.23 -156.45% 5,445.62 4,202.29 1,243.33 22.83%
1,186.03 7,120.48 -5,934.45 -500.36% 35,496.61 42,430.61 -6,934.00 -19.53%
21,430.24 21,410.23 20.01 0.09% 168,977.31 167,787.81 1,189.50 0.70%
24,050.56 15,458.55 8,592.01 35.72% 177,969.58 127,503.41 50,466.17 28.36%
3,655.55 5,049.03 -1,393.48 -38.12% 56,325.57 44,658.89 11,666.68 20.71%
285.25 896.97 -611.72 -214.45% 9,844.44 9,215.52 628.92 6.39%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY
Department 011 - WASTEWATER COLLECTION Total:

Department: 012 - WASTEWATER TREATMENT
52 - CONTRACTUAL
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY
Department 012 - WASTEWATER TREATMENT Total:

Department: 020 - BILLING & COLLECTION
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
Department 020 - BILLING & COLLECTION Total:

Department: 901 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL
56 - BANK CHARGES
57 - DEBT SERVICE
59 - TRANSFER
Department 901 - NON-DEPARTMENTAL Total:

Expense Total:
Total Revenues

Fund 02 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
1,034.72 4,060.70 -3,025.98 -292.44% 26,557.44 21,450.48 5,106.96 19.23%
302,205.10 13,040.00 289,165.10 95.69% 3,497,492.81 175,701.18 3,321,791.63 94.98%
331,231.18 38,505.25 292,725.93 88.38% 3,768,189.84 378,529.48 3,389,660.36 89.95%
77,110.14 68,687.63 8,422.51 10.92% 641,026.98 636,243.99 4,782.99 0.75%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 22,531.39 19,278.00 3,253.39 14.44%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 212,733.75 0.00 212,733.75 100.00%
77,110.14 68,687.63 8,422.51 10.92% 876,292.12 655,521.99 220,770.13 25.19%
11,208.93 8,027.58 3,181.35 28.38% 66,192.34 67,747.11 -1,554.77 -2.35%
3,112.98 4,068.21 -955.23 -30.69% 55,429.72 54,695.81 733.91 1.32%
6,570.80 8,210.63 -1,639.83 -24.96% 44,345.65 73,684.02 -29,338.37 -66.16%
671.25 265.00 406.25 60.52% 22,198.63 23,528.49 -1,329.86 -5.99%
21,563.96 20,571.42 992.54 4.60% 188,166.34 219,655.43 -31,489.09 -16.73%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 2.40 -2.40 0.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 1,298,870.50 1,300,883.00 -2,012.50 -0.15%
28,624.53 0.00 28,624.53 100.00% 260,024.70 744,980.57 -484,955.87 -186.50%
28,624.53 0.00 28,624.53 100.00% 1,558,895.20 2,045,865.97 -486,970.77 -31.24%
675,652.30 378,596.74 297,055.56 43.97% 9,137,064.39 5,209,396.45 3,927,667.94 42.99%
634,098.30 741,394.02 107,295.72 16.92% 5,586,735.37 5,705,582.47 118,847.10 2.13%
-41,554.00 362,797.28 404,351.28 973.07% -3,550,329.02 496,186.02 4,046,515.04 113.98%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 03 - SANITARY LANDFILL FUND
Revenue
44 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES
45 - OTHER REVENUE
Revenue Total:

Expense
Department: 030 - LANDFILL
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY
59 - TRANSFER
Department 030 - LANDFILL Total:

Expense Total:
Total Revenues

Fund 03 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
100,938.10 88,049.40 -12,888.70 -12.77% 685,869.76 627,070.85 -58,798.91 -8.57%
1,031.67 9.68 -1,021.99 -99.06% 12,383.04 887.32 -11,495.72 -92.83%
101,969.77 88,059.08 -13,910.69 -13.64% 698,252.80 627,958.17 -70,294.63 -10.07%
21,303.11 16,292.62 5,010.49 23.52% 135,240.44 146,706.42 -11,465.98 -8.48%
219.42 920.35 -700.93 -319.45% 29,348.95 27,322.08 2,026.87 6.91%
4,365.29 5,084.25 -718.96 -16.47% 37,827.09 36,346.01 1,481.08 3.92%
2,616.13 4,946.63 -2,330.50 -89.08% 75,269.02 75,916.72 -647.70 -0.86%
130,323.88 0.00 130,323.88 100.00% 355,049.89 0.00 355,049.89 100.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 28,763.00 -28,763.00 0.00%
158,827.83 27,243.85 131,583.98 82.85% 632,735.39 315,054.23 317,681.16 50.21%
158,827.83 27,243.85 131,583.98 82.85% 632,735.39 315,054.23 317,681.16 50.21%
101,969.77 88,059.08 -13,910.69 -13.64% 698,252.80 627,958.17 -70,294.63 -10.07%
-56,858.06 60,815.23 117,673.29 206.96% 65,517.41 312,903.94 247,386.53 377.59%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 04 - AIRPORT FUND
Revenue
44 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES
49 - TRANSFER

Expense
Department: 040 - AIRPORT
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY

Revenue Total:

Department 040 - AIRPORT Total:

Expense Total:

Total Revenues

Fund 04 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
9,021.52 9,281.36 259.84 2.88% 73,425.05 75,018.37 1,593.32 2.17%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 160,000.00 160,000.00 0.00%
9,021.52 9,281.36 259.84 2.88% 73,425.05 235,018.37 161,593.32 220.08%
1,474.92 531.38 943.54 63.97% 4,166.25 4,031.10 135.15 3.24%
2,723.53 1,933.58 789.95 29.00% 27,639.87 30,078.69 -2,438.82 -8.82%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 227.25 71.00 156.25 68.76%
75.58 192.07 -116.49 -154.13% 9,421.14 8,919.68 501.46 5.32%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 556.98 0.00 556.98 100.00%
4,274.03 2,657.03 1,617.00 37.83% 42,011.49 43,100.47 -1,088.98 -2.59%
4,274.03 2,657.03 1,617.00 37.83% 42,011.49 43,100.47 -1,088.98 -2.59%
9,021.52 9,281.36 259.84 2.88% 73,425.05 235,018.37 161,593.32 220.08%
4,747.49 6,624.33 1,876.84 39.53% 31,413.56 191,917.90 160,504.34 510.94%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 05 - STORM WATER DRAINAGE FUND
Revenue
41 - LICENSES AND PERMITS
43 - INTERGOVERNMENTAL
44 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES
45 - OTHER REVENUE
Revenue Total:

Expense
Department: 050 - STORM WATER DRAINAGE
52 - CONTRACTUAL
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY
56 - BANK CHARGES
57 - DEBT SERVICE
59 - TRANSFER
Department 050 - STORM WATER DRAINAGE Total:

Expense Total:
Total Revenues

Fund 05 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
0.00 90.17 90.17 0.00% 0.00 1,450.18 1,450.18 0.00%
0.00 372,443.65 372,443.65 0.00% 27,200.00 420,043.65 392,843.65 1,444.28%
53,792.81 54,586.29 793.48 1.48% 431,845.86 434,576.82 2,730.96 0.63%
191.63 3.44 -188.19 -98.20% 8,043.75 378.31 -7,665.44 -95.30%
53,984.44 427,123.55 373,139.11 691.20% 467,089.61 856,448.96 389,359.35 83.36%
8,801.93 4.29 8,797.64 99.95% 41,773.91 19,516.64 22,257.27 53.28%
0.00 169,002.94 -169,002.94 0.00% 38,147.45 957,774.07 -919,626.62 -2,410.72%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 147.50 447.50 -300.00 -203.39%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 405,248.00 409,990.00 -4,742.00 -1.17%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 199,008.00 -199,008.00 0.00%
8,801.93 169,007.23 -160,205.30 -1,820.12% 485,316.86 1,586,736.21 -1,101,419.35 -226.95%
8,801.93 169,007.23 -160,205.30 -1,820.12% 485,316.86 1,586,736.21 -1,101,419.35 -226.95%
53,984.44 427,123.55 373,139.11 691.20% 467,089.61 856,448.96 389,359.35 83.36%
45,182.51 258,116.32 212,933.81 471.27% -18,227.25 -730,287.25 -712,060.00 -3,906.57%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 07 - HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX FUND
Revenue
40 - TAXES
44 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES
45 - OTHER REVENUE

Expense
Department: 070 - TOURISM
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
58 - GRANT DISBURSEMENTS

Revenue Total:

Department 070 - TOURISM Total:

Expense Total:

Total Revenues

Fund 07 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
2,305.75 83,560.22 81,254.47  3,523.99% 206,917.78 272,505.34 65,587.56 31.70%
0.00 7,600.00 7,600.00 0.00% 6,800.00 15,600.00 8,800.00 129.41%
78.95 2.81 -76.14 -96.44% 1,919.99 124.90 -1,795.09 -93.49%
2,384.70 91,163.03 88,778.33  3,722.83% 215,637.77 288,230.24 72,592.47 33.66%
8,702.96 6,294.72 2,408.24 27.67% 51,299.26 51,733.42 -434.16 -0.85%
200.50 14,789.57 -14,589.07 -7,276.34% 12,229.45 156,637.30 -144,407.85 -1,180.82%
324.08 736.46 -412.38 -127.25% 4,414.76 2,246.62 2,168.14 49.11%
1,575.06 69,302.78 -67,727.72  -4,300.01% 51,522.34 118,786.45 -67,264.11 -130.55%
10,802.60 91,123.53 -80,320.93 -743.53% 119,465.81 329,403.79 -209,937.98 -175.73%
10,802.60 91,123.53 -80,320.93 -743.53% 119,465.81 329,403.79 -209,937.98 -175.73%
2,384.70 91,163.03 88,778.33  3,722.83% 215,637.77 288,230.24 72,592.47 33.66%
-8,417.90 39.50 8,457.40 100.47% 96,171.96 -41,173.55 -137,345.51 -142.81%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 08 - DEBT SERVICE FUND
Revenue
40 - TAXES
45 - OTHER REVENUE
Revenue Total:

Expense
Department: 080 - DEBT SERVICE
56 - BANK CHARGES
57 - DEBT SERVICE
Department 080 - DEBT SERVICE Total:

Expense Total:
Total Revenues

Fund 08 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
5,335.12 4,371.62 -963.50 -18.06% 258,877.62 265,143.14 6,265.52 2.42%
16.19 1.62 -14.57 -89.99% 1,419.14 79.88 -1,339.26 -94.37%
5,351.31 4,373.24 -978.07 -18.28% 260,296.76 265,223.02 4,926.26 1.89%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 300.00 -300.00 0.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 221,775.00 400,900.00 -179,125.00 -80.77%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 221,775.00 401,200.00 -179,425.00 -80.90%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 221,775.00 401,200.00 -179,425.00 -80.90%
5,351.31 4,373.24 -978.07 -18.28% 260,296.76 265,223.02 4,926.26 1.89%
5,351.31 4,373.24 -978.07 -18.28% 38,521.76 -135,976.98 -174,498.74 -452.99%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 10 - CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND
Revenue
41 - LICENSES AND PERMITS
44 - CHARGES FOR SERVICES
45 - OTHER REVENUE
49 - TRANSFER
Revenue Total:

Expense
Department: 402 - STREET MAINTENANCE
55 - CAPITAL OUTLAY
56 - BANK CHARGES
Department 402 - STREET MAINTENANCE Total:

Expense Total:
Total Revenues

Fund 10 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 2,506.25 2,506.25 0.00%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 4,167.00 0.00 -4,167.00 -100.00%
3,001.19 96.10 -2,905.09 -96.80% 12,893,219.12 5,654.00 -12,887,565.12 -99.96%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 967,565.00 967,565.00 0.00%
3,001.19 96.10 -2,905.09 -96.80%  12,897,386.12 975,725.25 -11,921,660.87 -92.43%
57,310.56 291,288.89 -233,978.33 -408.26% 294,893.23 3,216,717.32 -2,921,824.09 -990.81%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 262,594.83 0.00 262,594.83 100.00%
57,310.56 291,288.89 -233,978.33 -408.26% 557,488.06 3,216,717.32 -2,659,229.26 -477.00%
57,310.56 291,288.89 -233,978.33 -408.26% 557,488.06 3,216,717.32 -2,659,229.26 -477.00%
3,001.19 96.10 -2,905.09 -96.80%  12,897,386.12 975,725.25 -11,921,660.87 -92.43%
-54,309.37 -291,192.79 -236,883.42 -436.17%  12,339,898.06 -2,240,992.07 -14,580,890.13 -118.16%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 11 - CHILD SAFETY FUND
Revenue
42 - FINES AND FORFEITURES
45 - OTHER REVENUE

Revenue Total:
Total Revenues

Fund 11 Total:

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
183.94 85.04 -98.90 -53.77% 1,133.94 1,623.31 489.37 43.16%

0.51 0.00 -0.51 -100.00% 13.27 1.39 -11.88 -89.53%

184.45 85.04 -99.41 -53.90% 1,147.21 1,624.70 477.49 41.62%

184.45 85.04 -99.41 -53.90% 1,147.21 1,624.70 477.49 41.62%

184.45 85.04 -99.41 -53.90% 1,147.21 1,624.70 477.49 41.62%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 12 - COURT TECHNOLOGY FUND
Revenue
42 - FINES AND FORFEITURES
45 - OTHER REVENUE

Expense
Department: 120 - COURT TECHNOLOGY
52 - CONTRACTUAL
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI

Revenue Total:

Department 120 - COURT TECHNOLOGY Total:

Expense Total:

Total Revenues

Fund 12 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
316.00 239.63 -76.37 -24.17% 993.25 2,942.09 1,948.84 196.21%

1.00 0.00 -1.00 -100.00% 33.58 2.62 -30.96 -92.20%

317.00 239.63 -77.37 -24.41% 1,026.83 2,944.71 1,917.88 186.78%

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 186.00 0.00 186.00 100.00%

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 8,222.11 0.00 8,222.11 100.00%

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 8,408.11 0.00 8,408.11 100.00%

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 8,408.11 0.00 8,408.11 100.00%

317.00 239.63 -77.37 -24.41% 1,026.83 2,944.71 1,917.88 186.78%
317.00 239.63 -77.37 -24.41% -7,381.28 2,944.71 10,325.99 139.89%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 13 - PUBLIC SAFETY FUND
Revenue
43 - INTERGOVERNMENTAL
45 - OTHER REVENUE

Expense
Department: 130 - PUBLIC SAFETY
53 - GENERAL SERVICES

Revenue Total:

Department 130 - PUBLIC SAFETY Total:

Expense Total:

Total Revenues

Fund 13 Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 3,537.55 3,206.87 -330.68 -9.35%

17.56 0.62 -16.94 -96.47% 848.51 30.67 -817.84 -96.39%

17.56 0.62 -16.94 -96.47% 4,386.06 3,237.54 -1,148.52 -26.19%

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 526.89 0.00 526.89 100.00%

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 526.89 0.00 526.89 100.00%

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 526.89 0.00 526.89 100.00%

17.56 0.62 -16.94 -96.47% 4,386.06 3,237.54 -1,148.52 -26.19%

17.56 0.62 -16.94 -96.47% 3,859.17 3,237.54 -621.63 -16.11%
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Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Categor...
Fund: 79 - SEDA
Revenue
40 - TAXES
43 - INTERGOVERNMENTAL
45 - OTHER REVENUE
Revenue Total:

Expense
Department: 790 - SEDA
51 - PERSONNEL
52 - CONTRACTUAL
53 - GENERAL SERVICES
54 - MACHINE & EQUIPMENT MAI
56 - BANK CHARGES
58 - GRANT DISBURSEMENTS
Department 790 - SEDA Total:

Expense Total:
Total Revenues
Fund 79 Surplus (Deficit):

Total Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
43,358.52 58,942.87 15,584.35 35.94% 355,953.81 420,231.50 64,277.69 18.06%
0.00 34,000.00 34,000.00 0.00% 0.00 34,000.00 34,000.00 0.00%
200.96 8.74 -192.22 -95.65% 6,851.94 394.89 -6,457.05 -94.24%
43,559.48 92,951.61 49,392.13 113.39% 362,805.75 454,626.39 91,820.64 25.31%
24,077.13 17,833.01 6,244.12 25.93% 142,225.23 146,709.74 -4,484.51 -3.15%
5,763.87 11,949.16 -6,185.29 -107.31% 112,340.40 123,302.51 -10,962.11 -9.76%
159.87 367.82 -207.95 -130.07% 1,675.28 2,474.83 -799.55 -47.73%
0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00% 0.00 649.00 -649.00 0.00%
46.66 16.65 30.01 64.32% 198.86 16.65 182.21 91.63%
24,975.00 34,000.00 -9,025.00 -36.14% 26,691.96 47,924.79 -21,232.83 -79.55%
55,022.53 64,166.64 -9,144.11 -16.62% 283,131.73 321,077.52 -37,945.79 -13.40%
55,022.53 64,166.64 -9,144.11 -16.62% 283,131.73 321,077.52 -37,945.79 -13.40%
43,559.48 92,951.61 49,392.13 113.39% 362,805.75 454,626.39 91,820.64 25.31%
-11,463.05 28,784.97 40,248.02 351.11% 79,674.02 133,548.87 53,874.85 67.62%
-288,440.77 205,395.29 493,836.06 171.21%  11,780,853.60 1,096,954.33  -10,683,899.27 -90.69%

Item 21.

7/6/2021 9:40:24 AM

Page 17

298




Prior-Year Comparative Income Statement

Fund
01 - GENERAL FUND

02 - WATER AND WASTEWATE...

03 - SANITARY LANDFILL FUND
04 - AIRPORT FUND

05 - STORM WATER DRAINAGE..
07 - HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAXF...

08 - DEBT SERVICE FUND
10 - CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND
11 - CHILD SAFETY FUND
12 - COURT TECHNOLOGY FU...
13 - PUBLIC SAFETY FUND
79 - SEDA

Total Surplus (Deficit):

For the Period Ending 05

Item 21.

Fund Summary

May Variance YTD Variance
2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable / 2019-2020 2020-2021 Favorable /

May Activity May Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %  YTD Activity YTD Activity (Unfavorable) Variance %
-171,638.71 -225,288.08 -53,649.37 -31.26% 2,700,588.00 3,103,020.50 402,432.50 14.90%
-41,554.00 362,797.28 404,351.28 973.07% -3,550,329.02 496,186.02 4,046,515.04 113.98%
-56,858.06 60,815.23 117,673.29 206.96% 65,517.41 312,903.94 247,386.53 377.59%
4,747.49 6,624.33 1,876.84 39.53% 31,413.56 191,917.90 160,504.34 510.94%
45,182.51 258,116.32 212,933.81 471.27% -18,227.25 -730,287.25 -712,060.00 -3,906.57%
-8,417.90 39.50 8,457.40 100.47% 96,171.96 -41,173.55 -137,345.51 -142.81%
5,351.31 4,373.24 -978.07 -18.28% 38,521.76 -135,976.98 -174,498.74 -452.99%
-54,309.37 -291,192.79 -236,883.42 -436.17% 12,339,898.06 -2,240,992.07 -14,580,890.13 -118.16%
184.45 85.04 -99.41 -53.90% 1,147.21 1,624.70 477.49 41.62%
317.00 239.63 -77.37 -24.41% -7,381.28 2,944.71 10,325.99 139.89%
17.56 0.62 -16.94 -96.47% 3,859.17 3,237.54 -621.63 -16.11%
-11,463.05 28,784.97 40,248.02 351.11% 79,674.02 133,548.87 53,874.85 67.62%
-288,440.77 205,395.29 493,836.06 171.21%  11,780,853.60 1,096,954.33  -10,683,899.27 -90.69%
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Y lephensitte

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING

Item 22.

City Hall Council Chambers, 298 West Washington Street

Tuesday, June 01, 2021 at 5:30 PM

The City Council of the City of Stephenville, Texas, convened on June 1, 2021, in the City Hall Council Chambers,
for the purpose of a insert Meeting Type, with the meeting being open to the public and notice of said meeting,
giving the date, time, place and subject thereof, having been posted as prescribed by Chapter 551, Government

MINUTES

Code, Vernon's Texas Codes Annotated, with the following members present, to wit:

COUNCIL PRESENT: Mayor Pro Tem Brandon Huckabee
Council Member LeAnn Durfey
Council Member Daron Trussell
Council Member Brady Pendleton
Council Member Ricky Thurman
Council Member Gerald Cook

COUNCIL ABSENT: Mayor Doug Svien
Council Member Justin Haschke
Council Member Alan Nix

OTHERS ATTENDING: Allen Barnes, City Manager
Randy Thomas, City Attorney
Staci King, City Secretary

CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Pro Tem Brandon Huckabee called the meeting to order.

PLEDGES OF ALLEGIENCE

Council member Ricky Thurman led the Pledge of Allegiance to the United States and Texas flags.

INVOCATION
Jarrod Brown, Grace Fellowship Church, gave the invocation.
CITIZENS GENERAL DISCUSSION
No one came forward to address the council.
REGULAR AGENDA
1. Citizens Budget Requests

Bob Self, City of Stephenville retiree, speaking on behalf of other retirees and himself, asked the council
to consider reinstating the cost of living adjustment for the Texas Municipal Retirement System retiree

benefits.

Regular City Council Meeting Minutes — June 01, 2021
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2.

Item 22.

Consider Approval of L-3Harris Technologies New Radio System Cost Estimates
This item was removed from the agenda.

PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION
Steve Killen, Director of Development Services

3.

Consider Approval of an Ordinance Amending Permitted Uses in the City of Stephenville Zoning
Ordinance
MOTION by Brandon Huckabee, second by Ricky Thurman, to approve Ordinance No. 2021-0-17 making
the following amendments to the City of Stephenville Zoning Ordinance:
1. Tattoo Parlor/Body Piercing Studios — to allow as a permitted use in B-2, B-3, DT, and Industrial
districts
2. Bed and Breakfast and Bed and Breakfast/Boarding House — to combine as one permitted use
as Bed and Breakfast/Boarding House in zoning districts B-1, B-3, and DT.
3. Bicycle Sales and Rentals — to allow as a permitted use in zoning districts B-2, B-3, and DT.
4. Bakery and Confectionary Shops — to combine all bakery-related permitted uses, with exception
of wholesale and distribution, into Bakery Retail for zoning districts B-1, B-2, B-3, and DT.
5. Bakery Wholesale/Distribution — to allow as a permitted use for the Industrial zoning district.

MOTION CARRIED by unanimous vote.

PUBLIC HEARING
Case No.: RP2021-001

Applicant is Requesting Approval of a Preliminary Replat of Properties Located at 2798 W.
Washington, Being Parcel Nos. R22338 and R22351 of the Motley Abstract; Parcel No. R76366, Block
157, Lot 12 (pt of) of City Addition; and Parcel No. R22391, Block 157, Lot 10 of the City Addition of
the City of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas.

Steve Killen, Director of Development Services, briefed the council on the case. On May 19, 2021,
the Planning and Zoning Commission voted unanimously to make a positive recommendation to council.

Mayor Pro Tem Huckabee opened the public hearing.

James McKnight, property owner, spoke in favor of the replat. No others came forward to speak in favor
of or opposition to the replat.

Mayor Pro Tem Huckabee closed the public hearing.

Consider Approval of a Preliminary Replat of Properties Located at 2798 W. Washington, Being Parcel
Nos. R22338 and R22351 of the Motley Abstract; Parcel No. R76366, Block 157, Lot 12 (pt of) of City
Addition; and Parcel No. R22391, Block 157, Lot 10 of the City Addition of the City of Stephenville,
Erath County, Texas.

MOTION by Ricky Thurman, second by Gerald Cook, to approve Case No. RP2021-001. MOTION CARRIED
by unanimous vote.

PUBLIC HEARING
Case No.: RZ2021-010

Applicant is Requesting a Rezone of the Property Located At 2675 W. Overhill Drive, Being Parcel No.
R22423 of A0515 Motley Survey of the City Of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas, from Single-Family
Residential District (R-1) to Neighborhood Business District (B-1).

Steve Killen, Director of Development Services, briefed the council on the case. On May 19, 2021,
the Planning and Zoning Commission voted unanimously to make a positive recommendation to council.
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Item 22.

Mayor Pro Tem Huckabee opened the public hearing.
No one came forward to speak in favor of or opposition to the rezone.
Mayor Pro Tem Huckabee closed the public hearing.

Consider Approval of an Ordinance Rezoning the Property Located At 2675 W. Overhill Drive, Being
Parcel No. R22423 of A0515 Motley Survey of the City Of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas, from
Single-Family Residential District (R-1) to Neighborhood Business District (B-1).

MOTION by Brady Pendleton, second by Gerald Cook, to approve Ordinance No. 2021-0-18 rezoning the
property located at 2675 W. Overhill Drive. MOTION CARRIED by unanimous vote.

PUBLIC HEARING
Case No.: PD2021-001

Applicant is Requesting a Rezone of the Property Located at 0 S. Harbin Drive, Being Parcel No. R73763,
Block 19, Lot 15, of the South Side Addition of the City Of Stephenville, Erath County, Texas, From
Retail And Commercial Business District (B-2) to Planned Development District (PD).

Steve Killen, Director of Development Services, briefed the council on the case. On May 19, 2021, the
Planning and Zoning Commission voted 5-1 to make a positive recommendation to council.

Mayor Pro Tem Huckabee opened the public hearing.

Taylor Kanute, property owner, spoke in favor of the rezone. No others came forward to speak in favor
of or opposition to the rezone.

Mayor Pro Tem Huckabee closed the public hearing.

Consider Approval of an Ordinance Rezoning the Property Located at 0 S. Harbin Drive, Being Parcel
No. R73763, Block 19, Lot 15, of the South Side Addition of the City Of Stephenville, Erath County,
Texas, from Retail and Commercial Business District (B-2) to Planned Development District (PD).

MOTION by Ricky Thurman, second by Daron Trussell, to approve Ordinance No. 2021-0-19 rezoning
the property located on Harbin Drive, contingent upon the replat. MOTION CARRIED by unanimous
vote.

FINANCE COMMITTEE
Justin Haschke, Chair

10.

11.

Committee Report
Jason King, Assistant City Manager, gave the committee report in Council Member Haschke’s absence.
Consider Approval of a Waiver of Landfill Fees for Habitat for Humanity

MOTION by Ricky Thurman, second by Gerald Cook, to approve the waiver of landfill fees in the amount
of $3003.63. MOTION CARRIED by unanimous vote.

PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE
Alan Nix, Chair

12.

Committee Report

Nick Williams, Director of Public Works, gave the committee report in Council Member Nix’s absence.

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES COMMITTEE
Brandon Huckabee, Chair

13. Committee Report
Brandon Huckabee, chair, gave the committee report.
Regular City Council Meeting Minutes — June 01, 2021 Page | 3
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Item 22.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
Gerald Cook, Chair

14.

15.

Committee Report
Gerald Cook, chair, gave the committee report.
Consider Approval of Appointments to Citizen Boards and Commissions.

MOTION by Gerald Cook, second by Brady Pendleton, to appoint the following to the Main Street
Advisory Board: Tyree Slappy, Lisa Pendleton, Julie Lowrance, Rita Cook, Stephanie Beach, and Jeffrey
Hamilton. MOTION CARRIED by unanimous vote.

MOTION by Gerald Cook, second by Ricky Thurman, to recommend appointing Nick Robinson to Place 5
and Mary Beach-McGuire to Alternate 1 on the Planning and Zoning Commission. MOTION CARRIED by
unanimous vote.

MOTION by Gerald Cook, second by LeAnn Durfey, to recommend appointing Kendall Hurley to the Parks
and Recreation Advisory Board. MOTION CARRIED by unanimous vote.

MOTION by Gerald Cook, second by Brady Pendleton, to recommend appointing Elizabeth Johnson to
the Senior Citizen Advisory Board. MOTION CARRIED by unanimous vote.

FINANCIAL REPORTS

16.

Monthly Budget Report for the Period Ending April 30, 2021
Monica Harris, Director of Finance, gave the following report:

In reviewing the financial statements ending April 30, 2021, the financial indicators vary with an overall
positive outcome.

Property Tax We received $26K in property taxes in the month of April, resulting in $238K or 3.82%
increase over funds collected through last April. The $6.47 million collected fiscal year to date is 97.41%
of budget, which is slightly less than the 98.04% anticipated.

Sales Tax We received $441K in sales tax in April, resulting in $584K or 15.58% more than the funds
collected through last April. The $4.3 million collected fiscal year to date is 69.46% of the $6.24 million
budgeted, which is higher than the 57.54% anticipated.

HOT Funds Lodging establishments have reported $235,300 in Hotel Occupancy Taxes through April, as
compared to the $234,600 through last April. We have received $42K of sports venue tax through April.
We spent $238K in Hotel Occupancy Tax funds through fiscal year to date as compared to $109K last
year due to the Day Tripper contract and gateway planning.

Revenue (Budgetary comparison) The target budget for operating revenue is $18.8 million. We received
$19.2 million in revenue fiscal year to date, resulting in $409K over the target budget due to sales taxes
and service charges. e Expenditures (Budgetary comparison) The target budget for operating
expenditures is $12.1 million. We expended $11.7 million fiscal year to date, resulting in $423K under
the target budget.

Revenue (Prior year comparison) Operating revenue received last year was $18.5 million as compared
to the current year's $19.2 million, resulting in a $776K increase due to property tax, sales taxes, and
service charges.

Expenditures (Prior year comparison) Operating expenditures last year were $10.9 million as compared
to the current year's $11.7 million, resulting in a $835K increase due to costs associated with COVID-19
prevention, stimulus grant to reduce the impact of COVID-19, damage claims, wages, advertising and
gateway planning.
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Item 22.

STEPHENVILLE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY REPORT
Jeff Sandford, Executive Director

This item was removed from the agenda.

CONSENT

17.
18.
19.
20.

Approval of Minutes - May 4, 2021 Regular City Council Meeting
Approval of Minutes - May 11, 2021 Special City Council Meeting
Approval of Minutes - May 18, 2021 Special City Council Meeting

Approval of a Grant Acceptance Agreement with the Texas Water Development Board for an Analysis
to Map Flooding around Stephenville from the North Bosque River

MOTION by Brady Pendleton, second by Ricky Thurman, to approve the consent agenda as presented. MOTION
CARRIED by unanimous vote.

COMMENTS BY CITY MANAGER

Council Committee Meetings - June 15, 2021
Regular City Council Meeting - July 6, 2021

Moo-La Fest begins Thursday, June 3
July 4th Activities - Saturday, July 3

City Offices closed July 5
COMMENTS BY COUNCIL MEMBERS

The council wished Mayor Svien a happy birthday.

Brandon Huckabee thanked everyone that applied for a citizen board or commission. He also thanked those
that attended the meeting and encouraged others to attend as well.

ADJOURN

The meeting was adjourned at 6:10 p.m.

ATTEST:

Doug Svien, Mayor

Staci L. King, City Secretary
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Item 23.

STAFF REPORT CS. lephenville
TEKAS

SUBIJECT: Approval of an Audit Contract with BrooksWatson & Co., PLLC for FY 2021-2022

DEPARTMENT: Finance
STAFF CONTACT: Monica Harris
RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends approval of a contract with BrooksWatson & Co., PLLC for annual financial audit services in the
amount of $40,425.

BACKGROUND:

On September 4, 2018, City Council awarded RFP 3028 for annual financial audit services to BrooksWatson & Co.,
PLLC. The award was for a one-year contract with three subsequent renewals. This would be the third and final

renewal.

FISCAL IMPACT SUMMARY:

The budget request for FY 2021-2022 includes $40,425 for annual financial audit services.

ALTERNATIVES
Not approve the expenditure, which would not allow for the audit.

Request staff to request proposals for the services, which would delay the audit.
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